BLACKFOOT TEXTS

FROM THE SOUTHERN PEIGANS BLACKFOOT RESERVATION TETON COUNTY MONTANA

WITH THE HELP OF BLACK-HORSE-RIDER

COLLECTED AND PUBLISHED WITH AN ENGLISH TRANSLATION

BY

J. P. B. DE JOSSELIN DE JONG.

Verhandelingen der Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen te Amsterdam.

AFDEELING LETTERKUNDE.

NIEUWE REEKS.

DEEL XIV. No. 4.

AMSTERDAM,
JOHANNES MÜLLER.
1914.

CONTENTS.

	D
Introduction	P. 1
The Old Man and the bullberries	5
The Old Man and the elk-head	6
The Old Man and his brother-in-law's leggings	7
The Old Man, the gophers, the bob-cat and the birches	10
The Old Man, the elks and the coyote	12
The Old Man, the rock and the night-hawks	15
An adventure of the Old Man with some women	18
The Old Man, the musk-rat and the sleeping beaver	19
The Old Man and his mother-in-law	20
The Old Man and the spring-birds	21
The Old Man and the girls who were picking strawberries.	23
Some more mean tricks of the Old Man	23
The origin of death	29
The Old Man and the wolves on the ice	29
The men and the women	31
The Seven Stars	32
The Bunched Stars	37
Belly-fat	38
Buffalo-cow woman	52
Wolverine woman	59
The boy who was left in an eagle-nest	60
Cannibal woman	64
The man who was left on an island	66
The man who was pitied by rattle-snakes	69
and man was proceed by record because of	
Appendix I: Stories recorded in English only.	
The Old Man and the children on the ice	71
The Old Man and the person who was dressed in fat	72
The Old Man and the geese	72
The Old Man and the pine-tree as an arrow	73
The Old Man and the buffalo-charm	74
Dresses of old women burned	75

CONTENTS.

	Clot-of-blood	P. 76	
	Scar-face.	80	
	The deserted children	83	
	The young man and the beavers	86	
	The leader-buffalo	92	
	The girl who married a star	95	
		97	
	Red-head	101	
	Weird adventures of some young men		
	The sun trapped	104	
	The man who was pitied by a snake	105	
	The young man and the turtle	108	
	Origin of the grass-dance	108	
1 51	TT TO A CONTROL OF		
Appendix	II: Ethnological communications.	277	
	Naming	111	
	Communications about clans, family relations and		
	individuals.	110	
	The Fat-melters	116	
	The Bloods	120	
	The Lone-eaters (or Lone-fighters)	121	
	The Black-patch-people	122	
	The Buffalo-chips	123	
	The Skunks	123	
	The Camp-in-a-bunch-people	124	
	The Not-laughers	124	
	The Small-robes	125	
	The All-chiefs	126	
	Some clans of the Bloods, Canada.		
	The Fish-eaters (Mamyáuyeks)	127	
	The Lone-fighters	127	
	The Bite-throats-people (Putstakéks)	128	
	The Scabby-coats (Esóisokasimeks)		
	Some English names in Peigan	129	
	Some nicknames	130	
Alphabetica	al index	131	
Addenda et corrigenda			

BLACKFOOT TEXTS

FROM THE SOUTHERN PEIGANS BLACKFOOT RESERVATION TETON COUNTY

MONTANA WITH THE HELP OF BLACK-HORSE-RIDER

COLLECTED AND PUBLISHED WITH AN ENGLISH TRANSLATION

BY

J. P. B. DE JOSSELIN DE JONG.

INTRODUCTION.

The texts and other linguistic and ethnological materials laid down in this book were recorded by me during the summer of 1910, while accompanying Prof. Uhlenbeck on his first visit to Montana. All the texts, names and other ethnological communications and most of the stories in English I received from Síkimiå zkitopi (Black-horse-rider), commonly known as Walter Mountainchief, son of Nínaistæku (Chief-mountain), called Mountain-chief. Only two of the last-mentioned, viz. the story about "Clot-of-blood" and the one entitled "The deserted children" were told to me by Louis Pembrance, a half-breed Peigan, who died some months after we left. But these too I afterwards read to Black-horse-rider, who corrected and completed them.

Those who have read my article on Prof. C. C. Uhlenbeck's latest contribution to Blackfoot ethnology (Internationales Archiv für Ethnographie XXI 105 sqq.) and who remember how, in that article, I insisted on the desirability of recording myths and stories, if possible, in the vernacular, will perhaps be rather astonished to find me guilty of the very proceeding disapproved by me in that paper. For excuse may serve the fact that I recorded those stories as a pastime during moments of rest. For one reason I do not regret it — though, if I had been able to work harder than I did, I should certainly have confined myself to the recording

of Peigan texts —: I have learned much from experiencing all the drawbacks connected with this way of working. No Indian, at least no old-fashioned Indian, is sufficiently conversant with English to render his ancient lore in it, nor does he possess any objective insight into his own inner life, enabling him to express his emotions, his beliefs, his very soul in the matter-of-fact idiom of the white man of his immediate environment. Only think of terms like "spirit", "ghost", "powerful being" and such like, which occur every now and then and often seem to be used indiscriminately! So long as we do not know their Peigan aequivalents, which, in their turn, have to be studied together with the original context, these expressions do not teach us anything about the conceptions to which they - clumsily - refer. And who can render in English the spirit of this native lore, the deeply-felt solemnity pervading so many an Indian story, lending a wonderful charm to its short, childlike phrases without any literary artificiality?

As regards the texts it should in the first place be noted that they are to be considered as forming one continuous series with those recorded by Prof. Uhlenbeck. And since in both his collections references have been given to variants occurring in the works of other ethnologists, I have deemed it sufficient to confine my own references to these two collections. It is true I recorded a few stories of which no variants are to be found either in the "Original Blackfoot texts" or in the "New series", but in these few cases too I have refrained from referring to other authorities, because it is extremely easy to find one's way in the recent literature on the Plains tribes.

As to the spelling-system it will be sufficient to refer the reader to the "Explanation of the graphical system" given in Prof. Uhlenbeck's "Original Blackfoot texts". In two respects only my system differs from the one used there. The sound of German ch in ich I indicate — as Prof. Uhlenbeck does in his grammatical writings — with the character x instead of χ and for the e of German Messer I use \ddot{a} instead of ε . Consequently the character \ddot{a} in my texts has the value of both the long and the short open e. Moreover, in a few cases, I have made use of the character a to indicate the perfectly colourless vowel. In three cases I even recorded a, which seems strange, considering that this a in Peigan is nothing but a fully-coloured vowel negligently pronounced. However, in these three instances even an accentuated vowel seems to have lost its colour in fast or negligent speech. That, nevertheless, many words will be found to be spelled differently by

Prof. Uhlenbeck and by me, will not surprise anybody who is familiar with the sounds of Peigan as it is actually spoken. Vacillations between a and α , α and \dot{a} , o and u, e and i, \ddot{a} and ai as well as many others are very common so far as one can judge by hearing. And I do not think that, even if the sounds were experimentally registered, these vacillations would disappear altogether. In recording my texts I made a point of writing down every word exactly as I heard it. In this respect I even went so far as, in most cases, to attach the conjunction ki to the following word, although this conjunction is by no means to be considered as a prefix. Since it, however, often sounded as one to my hearing, which impression was still strengthened by cases in which ki became ky before the initial vowel of the next word, I have not changed my original spelling.

In many other cases in which my way of spelling considerably deviates from Prof. Uhlenbeck's, my friend Black-horse-rider is responsible for it. It is a curious fact that his speech unquestionably differs from that of all the other informants Prof. Uhlenbeck has been working with. The truth of this statement can quite easily be ascertained by comparing the stories told by Black-horse-rider to Prof. Uhlenbeck (published in his "New series") with those the author got from other informants. One of the most striking peculiarities of his pronunciation is his liberality with apparently superfluous a's and i's, which come limping behind, separated from the word proper by a glottal stop. And there are many other points on which his speech is rather peculiar, which, however, need not be enumerated here.

Nor is this the place to discuss morphological questions. To two interesting facts only I beg to draw the reader's attention. In the "Preface" of Prof. Uhlenbeck's "New series" we read (p. VII): "... I have now preferred to write the ending of the inclusive first person plural of -a- stems without an o, because in most cases it is nearly inaudible. So I would rather write áksipæskàup, áxkunoxtàpauàuaxkaup, ákotoistòksiskìmaup, áxkipitoxpòksotsikaup instead of áksipæskàuop (obt pp. 20 and 46), áxkunoxtàpauàuaxkauop (obt p. 26), ákotoistòksiskìmauop (obt pp. 34 sqq.), áxkipitoxpòksotsikauop (obt p. 47)... But in the corresponding forms of -o- stems and -u- stems I continue to write -auop.... because there the -o- is nearly always clearly pronounced." It will be noticed that many forms in my texts confirm this observation, a fact that neither Prof. Uhlenbeck nor myself were aware of when he published his "New series". The second point regards the ending

of forms of the type kitanist(o) (I tell thee). Setting aside the special groups of verbs in which the -o of these forms is constant (kitsikstakiatso, kitákitapipio, kitsíno), the form ending in a consonant is doubtless the most common but still the form in -o occurs in my texts three times. Now in Prof. Uhlenbeck's texts likewise a few of such forms in -o occur. At first hearing he in two or three of these cases recorded forms without an -o, but when asking whether these forms should not properly end in -o he received an affirmative answer from his interpreter. So, judging by our joint results, we may be pretty sure that in most cases the forms in -o, though still lingering on in actual Peigan, are about to disappear.

Before finishing this Introduction I wish to express my gratitude to those who have in any way assisted me during my stay in Montana. To my friend Black-horse-rider I owe a great debt of gratitude for the zeal and willingness with which he acquitted himself of his twofold task as a narrator-interpreter. We were working together for many weeks, day after day, often from morning till night, I writing and asking, he narrating and explaining — surely not an easy thing for a healthy, strong, young Indian whose abhorrence of a chair is only equalled by his innate fondness of a running horse.

In the second place I gratefully remember many pleasant and instructive hours spent with Joseph Tatsey, while verifying certain grammatical communications received by Prof. UHLENBECK from the Mission boys.

When I think of this, more images and figures come thronging my mind with vivid clearness. Holy Family Mission with its various inhabitants: pious priests, devoted young teachers, an attractive lot of boisterous Indian boys — and those other Indians, young and old, too many to be enumerated here, who often cheered us with their company.

Finally, will it be necessary to mention the name of him to whom I owe more than to any one of these — a white man? If these texts, if any work I undertake be found to be of any value, it will be chiefly owing to his constant help and guidance.

The Old Man and the bullberries.

Stámatoxto Nápiuaa ketsená'yeua améksema meksinítsemea neétaxtai etsúyenoyeuäks. Etásomenèeua ketsístαiskoχtùyeuäks. Mátoχkonuyéuatsiksäks. Otaisauoχkotótoåχsäks ketsksínnemα otúmåχtàkχkototoαχpäks. Etótαkeua óχkotoki. Ixtatsépsseua ki mátχtχpùnneua όχkotoki. Ki mátχtχkìnneua óχkotoki. Oχkátsists mætsitsípsksipistæki óχkotoki. Mάtsistsistaie ketsetápoχkotàkeua stáxtsima axkéea améma otsítsinauαχpia améksema meksinítsèmiks. Otáisaitåχkònoαχsäks keetmάχkχkotsåχpàuαnisèa. Mátåχkotsåχpauαnéuatsiks:améstse όχkotokistsea ístsokάχkyaua. Ki atαmáksinätseua. Ketsitsúyäkχkapiksimästs. Ketsáuatsstamopitsõo. Nétsaukaixtseua ketsíkamispsapiua ketsina yeua amékse meksenítsemiks otsitótaixtsissäks. Ketanéua: Amoksaukyaua tsématâχtsinätsaua. Kitákapayaksistataχpuàua. Ketsepúaua ketomátapssinketom á taps aitsi pékeu aks neuäks ketanístseuäks: Kínnä nistáinak!

Then the Old Man went on again and he saw some bullberries, he saw them in the river. Then he undressed and dived after them. He could not find them. [But] when he could not get them, he found out by what means he would be able to seize them. He took some stones. He put some stones round his waist and round his wrists. And some (stones) he put round his neck. And some (stones) he tied round his legs. Then he dived again and felt around under the water where he saw the bullberries. When he could not find them, he tried to get out of the water. [But] he could not get out of the water: those stones made him heavy. And he was almost drowned. Then he broke the rope with which they were fastened in the water. Then he got out of the water again. He lay down flat on his back and he happened to look up and [then] he saw that he was lying under those bullberries. And he said: These are the ones because of whom I was almost drowned. I shall thoroughly punish you[?]. And he got up and began to break them and (he

began) to thrash them and then he told them: Look like this from now!

[Cf. Uhlenbeck obt 64 sq.]

The Old Man and the elk-head.

Hautóa Napi etsitóto kániskina áipaska, ponoká toka etsípaipaskàyäks. Etanístseuäks: Anní nákoχkauanists. Otsítanikäks: Óke, Napi, mátakakumapèoatsiks: kiné kakúxkoxtsipstáuauatoxkváuanit. Etsítsapoxkyákeauaiea znéma ponoká toka. Etomátanèäks: Kániskèna auapína xsi, ótseistsä, mastóksästsä. Skátamipistsíkkauáuatoxkyauanä. Ketsókaua. Kyotsítamatapepoxksistsksínäpokäks. Otokáni etsínäpozkstsímäks. Ketapínako. Ketsipókakeua. Ketsipúau. Mátsapiuatsiks: améa ánneauka ponoka tokani etsípoxkyakeua. Stámiksistáxtauáuaxkaua. tαχtayi etsítsoyåχpèua. Keetsínnapests keeta zkumiu. Améksi akéks otsítáztok otázkumise. Kéetanèuäks: Anákàye ponokástamik ixtsínapautsimma. Etséikåxkùmeua otáyoxtoaxsäks otoánisäks: anákayi ponokáistamik istsínapautsimma. Ketokátaua. Ketopítsiskapataua. Otáinoisäks ketanéäks: Napiuaa ánnauk, mátsikeuaχtautsiks, annéa máukatsitsapoxkyakeua ponoka tokani. Ketsáutomoauàyea. Nístsautsìsayea ketsístokipikssatàua. Ketúkskasitsèuäks. Ketauźnneua: Annak ánnaka nanána. Matséks áyitsepiksistsèuäks.

The Old Man was travelling and came to some dancing mice, in an elk-head they were dancing. He said to them: Let me do in that way. They told him: Well, Old Man, it is not hard to do: just put your head into the elkhead and shake it. He put his head there into the elk-head. They began to sing: Mice, swing the eyes, penis-hairs, very many penishairs [?]. Then he was shaking his head very slowly. And then he slept. And then they began to gnaw off his hair. They gnawed off all the hair from his head. By that time it was morning. And he woke up. And he got up. He did not see anything [lit. he did not look]: he wore that elk-head still on his head. Then he wandered about at random. Then he fell into the river. And he floated down and bellowed like an elk. There were some women who heard his bellowing. And they said: There comes an elk-bull swimming down the river. When he heard them say: there comes an elk-bull swimming down the river, he bellowed again. Then he was roped. Then he was pulled ashore. When they saw him, they said: That is the Old Man,

[I wonder] whether there is something the matter with him, why he put that elk-head on his head. And they took it from his head. When it was taken off, the people ran away from him. And he chased after them. And he said: Here goes the terrible-looking man. He was having his leggings down.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 192 sq.]

The Old Man and his brother-in-law's leggings.

Kännauk Nápiuaa ostæmói ispukúkatsème. Etanístseua: Νâχkåχkókit ómiks katséks. Otsítanikaie: Mátakapixkàuäks tséksikimimayaua. Kákanistsiksimistàua: Nitáksikamositayaua aikókosea. Stámikoko. Ayokainia ostamói. Napiuaa ketsikinapoaua ketsitápoa ostamói otozkískaneaie. Etstséeaie matséksaie. Stámikinnautuyeuäks kixpítsaksoäks ketápayakomopistsèuäks ketáksistamèuäks ketom ztapùoa. Oma zkakokûixk etákauæto. Käyiksìpioo. Ketástseua mákapinakuyea. Ketoχkískatseuäks. Stámeoka. Otápinakuχsèa otsipókαksea etámisoketsipstsipokakeua ostæmói. Okánistá zkisk ato zpia amékse atsékse. Ostamóyi otsítanik: Kimokátoxkiskataisks matséks? Etanístseua: Nátoxkoxkiskataya. Otsítanikaie: Mátsitstsèsaua. Mátsitskitstsèuäks. Matsíkokuyi stάmatsikòmositsèuäks. Känneaie Stámistàua: Kánayiksipiooa. nåχkaie nimátakαtoχkusksinòkat-

There the Old Man was camping with his brother-in-law. He said to him: Give me those leggings of yours. [But] he was told: I shall not give them away, I am fond of them. He [the Old Man] thought: I shall steal them tonight. Then it was night. His brother-in-law was asleep. Then Old Man got up slowly and went to his brother-in-law's pillow. [There] were his [brother-in-law's] leggings. Then he took them slowly and went out with them and rolled them up and carried them on his back and began to walk. He travelled all night. He went very far. Then it was towards morning. He had them [the leggings] for a pillow. Then he slept. When he woke up in the morning, he woke up in his brother-in-law's lodge. He still had those leggings for a pillow. His brother-in-law said to him: Why do you have my leggings for a pillow? He [Old Man] said to

siks. Ki mátsitsók. Kännikseaukeäks amékse atséks, mátoχkiskαtsèuäks. Otátapìnakuχs itámsaukαtsitsipstauχkònåχseua ostamóyi okóayi. Otsítanikayi: Kitátoχkiskatàya, matsítskixtsèsaua.

Matsépuyeuàtsiks. Stámatsitskixtsèuäks améma otsékatotòαχpäks. Kyotátsikokoχsi mátsitsikαmòsitsèuäks. Känneayi áuautsitsksipioòa. Mátsitsòkaua. Otátapinaku zsèa etámsokatsitsipstoχkònå 🛽 sèua ostamóyi okóayea. Otsítanikaie: Matsitsípotos aníxk kitsékaitotóaxpyaua. Stámatsitsksipotùyeuäks. Känneayi otátsikomátsitsikàmositsèuäks. ko z sèa Känneayi áuautsitsksipiooa. Apinå kuyea et έmsok εtsitsipsto χkonåyseua ostamóyi okóai. Känneayi otsítanik ostamóyi: Nápi, kitáksistoχkotàua kitómaukoæskχsakàmosatàyaua. Otsítanikaie: Annå′χk, Nápi, kitákænistu nitúmåxtauanistsixpiàua. Ayótsapesèa nitsitayakoauatàyaua. Nitsitàpasapi źnnema komáketua. Nitsítaut kokskásatá pa ketístokinätseua. Käitsinitsisea astámsoketäxtseea áuakasiks. Nitsítasautoayaua. Tástamàkixtsayaua. Okyápests nimátsitàuauatàuäksàua. Stámotuveuäks Napiuaa. Ostamóvi otáiksistaistamatsesäks ketsestapu. him: I just had them for a pillow. Put them back! [his brother-in-law said]. He put them back. The following night he stole them again. Now he went very far. Then he thought: Now he will not find me out again. Then he slept again. And he again had those leggings for a pillow. When it was morning again, he again found himself in his brother-in-law's lodge. [His brother-in-law] told him: You have them for a pillow again, put them back.

This time he did not say anything. He put them back again [in the place] whence he had taken them before. And when it was night again, he stole them again. This time he went still farther. Then he slept again. When it was morning he again found himself in his brother-inlaw's lodge. [His brother-in-law] said to him: Put them back [in the place] whence you took them. Then he [Old Man] put them back again. [But] then, when it was night again, he stole them again. This time he went still farther. [But] in the morning he again found himself in his brotherin-law's lodge. Now he was told by his brother-in-law: Old Man, I shall give them to you because you always steal them from me. [And] he told him: Now, Old Man, I shall tell you how I use them. Whenever there is a famine 1 put them on. [Then] I look where there is a round bunch of trees. I run around it and

Stαmápssαpeua moyéa. Käipioòa ketoχkùnima améstsema moyéstsim.

Ketstáua: Tákoxtàksinàusàua amókse natséksea. Ketápayakoauàyeua; nitáko z tsito z kuixtsèemok ùyeaua Käiksitákoayeaua känneauk otsístsitsáyistapiksikáisea kétstsitseua améma otsítsiksikaixpima. Ketskétsaua. Ketúmatapùkska-Mánistàpokskasspia netαpáipuvinitseua. Kimáma matápiuama manistssäps ánnak matápeua manistápokskasspists netapástsoyenä ksáykum etoykánistokixpiksènä. Ketsítsipaipèniutùyeuäks amékse matséksea. Kétαχ-Ketoχkánaskùyinea amóya ótapesinnea. Otsítanikäks Nápiuaa: Mátsikeuaytàutsiks. Ketanístseuäks: Natséks ánniksimàuki ístsùveeaua. Nistamóa nítoχkokäks. Nitánik nάχκυχtanistsixpäks kenomátanistsetauauatsiks. Kännixkaie ixtstsuyeaua. then it burns. When it is all burned up, then there will lie some deer. Then I take them [the leggings] off again. Then I put them away. At other times I never wear them. Then the Old Man took them. When his brother-in-law had given his advice about them, he walked off. Then he [Old Man] looked for lodges. He went far and then he found (there were some) lodges.

He thought: I shall dress up with these leggings of mine. Then he began to put them on; so everybody will be gone on me [he thought]. After he had put them on, then, at the first step he made, it began to burn where he walked. He got scared. Then he began to run away. Wherever he ran it began to burn. When the people saw that there was a person who caused the ground to burn wherever he ran, they all ran away. Then he tore those leggings off. And then the fire went out. Then those people all went back [to him]. They asked [lit. told] Old Man what was the matter with him. Then he told them: My leggings, those are the ones [that] burn. My brother-in-law gave them to me. He told me how to use them and I did not mind him. That's why they burn.

The Old Man, the gophers, the bob-cat and the birches.

Stámatoxto Nápiuaa. Etsetóto améksèma ómaxkokataie, ästsítsautseeea. Ketanistseuäks: Anni nάkoχkauanists. Otsítanikäks: Auke, Nápi, mátakakumapeu. Otsítanikäks: A'xkumiskaup, etáupitsaptapiksistsèeopa. Ketanístseuäks: Matómistsitsaukika. Otsítsistsitsaukäks. Mátomasopoksèkyauàtsiks ketoxkúmisoyeua. Ketopítsatapiksistàua. Ketanístseuäks: Niskóαki, kitúmanå 2katsimåxpuaua, kitákstamåxka-Kimátukskæm nistsitså`xpuaua. ómαχkokataua ekós. Etanístseua: Nápi, nisá, nistóa nimátaksistsnάγkitsitsipαksènisåvi. itsokòa, Ketanistseua: Tsistapaupaumaxkokatiskå xsi, stámestaput. Kämekse istsékeks ómazkokataks etoχkánästsitseuäks. Stómasekαχkeuäks. Etséstapu. Ketákoxkumisoyeäks; miskskàpasoixtàtskaua. Skátamåxkanàisoyeuäks. Mekapíkssoyi isóixtatskàua. Káitskoto ketáupitsotuyeuäks. Ketomátapepoχksistokìnnäuäks. Ketomátapyoina. Otánkois ketsístáxkitsena. Ketápatakeua óos, etanistseua: Paχkapúyapini, nitaksok, å'χkumit ketsinóaa áistuyea. Ketsok. Mátsisαmòa ketâχkúminaie. Ketαnéua: A, ómayaxks peksé ixtauàneua. Ki mátsitsòkaua. Mátsisamòa matsítåxkùminaie óos ki mátsitànneua: Oómayaie apési. Kí matsatsòkaua. Kí matsatâχkúmenaie óos. Mátsipokakèuatsiks. Ketákå kuminaie, mátiskaksipo-

Then the Old Man set out again. He came to some gophers, they were burying each other [in hot ashes]. He said to them: Let me do in that way. They told him: Come on, Old Man, it is not difficult to do. They told him: We squeal, then we throw each other out of the ashes]. He said to them: Bury me first. They buried him. He was not yet covered and then he squealed [already]. Then he was thrown out. He said to them: My brothers, it is too much trouble [to bury] every one of you [separately], I shall bury you all at once. One of the gophers was pregnant. She said to him: Old Man, my elder brother, I myself will [lit. shall] not be buried, my belly might burst from the fire. And he said to her: You may spread gophers in the future, now go away. And those other gophers he buried all at the same time. He covered them. Then he went away. Then they squealed; [but] he was breaking willows to make a plate. So they were all cooked. He had a plate from the red willows. Then he came back and pulled them from [the fire]. And he began to scrape the hair off them. Then he began to eat. When he had his fill, he lay down. Then he hit his anus, he told him: You, bright eye, I am

kakèuatsiks. Skatomáitispå piua manistáiekå kumixpyàvi. Matsinuaipokakeuatsiks. Kimák natáyo Ketomátæpiuatsènaie. itsitótoa. Stámozkanixtsistamènääks. Ketsístapùyinä. Mátsepioòatsiksini. Kaitsístokixtsènä.

Nápiuaa etsepókakèua. Manistsaps ákaisauainakûyimya otoxtónimániks. Ketanístseua óos: Näksaua? Ketanistseua óos: Patséiksipαχkuχsinixkàχpayi, kitánist kάγkasamàγsaua. Ekskauketàkeua Nápiua otsítsitokssèua otsístsitàniks. Etótsim amék atotánek ki ixtsitsímsisauayea. Stámoγkanaisoyènea óos. Ketápssameua amésk natávoyisk. Ketozkúnoyeuaie. Ketsínneuaie. Etanístseuaie: Aiyi, kάχksitapakamotαχpia! Ketsetáuapætskimiuaie améma óχkotokìnea. Ki mátsitsäpskαpαtsèuaie. Kixpítsskouaie améma potáni. Etsítsoyapiksistsèuaie. Ki mátsitsinneuaie. omístaists Ki ixtsitsistuvenäuasts. Oxsuvisä átgoing to sleep, make noise when you see anybody come. Then he slept. After a short while [his anus made noise. He said: A, that is the one [he is making noise for], a bird is flying by. And he slept again. After a short while his anus made noise again and again he said: It is a covote. Then he slept again. And again his anus made noise. He never woke up. And [his anus] kept making noise [but] he could not wake up. That [the anus] was making such a violent noise, that's why he [the Old Man] bounced up from the ground. [But still] he could not wake up. Then there came a bob-cat. He began to eat [the gophers]. Then he ate them all up. Then he went away. He did not go far. Then he lav down.

Then the Old Man woke up. When he looked, his food was gone. Then he said to his anus: Where are they? And he told his anus: You son of a bitch! [?] I told you to watch them. He was very angry, the Old Man, because he was done out of his roasts. Then he took (there) a fire-stick and wiped his anus with it. Then his anus was all burned. Then he looked for that bob-cat. And he found him. And he got hold of him. Then he said to him: Ha, ha, [I do not see] how you can save your life! Then he began to knock [the bob-cat's] face against a rock there. Then he stretched him. Then he went back

sitsàutomuyeuä. Ketsepótùyeuaie. Ketanístseuaie: Kánnaie nistáinak. Ketsístapukskásenä. Kyamé otúmoχtotsopopi etsetápesaki. Ketauźnni: Eéksa puxs. Ketómatapeiksopo. Ki áuænnèua: Eiksópuχses. Ketsétapeiksòpu. Ketámoχpapok. Kiméstsisk otúmoχtopapukàyispistsk áitapoxkitsiksòtsimasts. Kánnimaie etsetótoxpapokàyeua améstsema sekokénäsea. Ki mátsitsinimasts. Ketsetákotapoχpapokàyeuästs. Káisiksõpu. Ketαnéua, ketanístomästs: Etsepápokapozpupokaiyopa, etskáyextseiyaua. Ketsáutuyeua otoánni. Etáksiksèmasts. Ketanístomästs: Kännaie nistáinæk.

with him to the fire. He threw him in (the fire). Then he took hold of him again. And his [the bob-cat's] penis-hairs he put on for whiskers. His tail he pulled out. Then he let him go. And he told him: Look like this in the future. Then [the bob-cat] ran away. Then he [the Old Man] held his hind-part to the side whence the wind blew. And he was saying: Blow hard. Then it began to blow hard. And he kept saying: Let it blow hard. Then it began to blow very hard. And he was carried away by the wind. He would tear out the roots of anything that came in his way [lit. towards which he was blown]. Then he came (blown) to some birches [that were standing] there. And he got hold of them. Then he was blown around them. Then the wind stopped blowing. Then he said, he told them [the birches]: I was having a good time, being blown about, then you were solid [that means: by your standing firm my flight was ended]. Then he drew his knife. He cut notches in them. And he said to them: Look like this henceforth. [Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 174 sqq.]

The Old Man, the elks and the coyote.

Kännauk Nápiuaa etsetóto amékse ponokáyea áipekanipeotseeea. Etanístseuäks: Anni nákoχkauanists. Otsítanikäks: Óke, Nápi, mátαkαkumapìua. Etaníst-

Then the Old Man came to [a place where] there were elks who were running in a long row. He said to them: Let me do in that way. He was told by them:

seuäks: Tákotòmo. Käméa istséua, expotómo. Ketomátapepekanèpiotseeaua. Ketsetóto amé spækéksàχkoa. Ixtsitsínnapiksim améa istséea. Kämé otsítsikækixpi ixtsitsínnåχpaipèina. Ketótsimmα améea istséea. Ketanistseua amé etómipuyei: Mátspèuatsiks, stámåχtåχpàipeit, eiksíkiniseua αnnóma nitsítåχpaipèixpìma. Ketåχpáipieua amá etómepuyèua. Stámoχsínnäseua. Kimékse stsíkiks etanístseua: Auke, stámåχpaipeik. Otsítanikäks: Mámasauχkoàuatstsei? Ketanístseuäks: Atαmàksinisseua ixtsáuauatstseua. Ketoχpaipeeni stsíki. Stómatoχsinäsenä. Kimátsitanistseua amékse stsíkiks: Átomàksinisseua. Amékse stsíkiks stαmáuχpaipieea. Stαma′χkanaitsiniåχpaipìeeaua. Kimátokskæm etanístseua: Nápi, nisá, nitsékos, matákoxtoxpaipeixpatsiks, nάχkitsitsipαksènis. Ketanístseuaie: Tséstapaupuauakàsiskuχs. Ketomátapìnnautàua. Kéksistsìnnautàua. Ketáuapèmaua. Ketomátapiksistàpaua. Ketsínnekìnaua.

Kämá apési oχkátsea ixkínnatòma. Etanístseua: Nisá, nåχ-

All-right, Old Man, it is not difficult to do. He told them: I shall be the leader. There was a fire-stick, he took it with him [lit. he went with it]. Then he began to play [the game the elks are playing consists in jumping down with a fire-stick from a cliff or a high bank]. Then he came to a hard cliff. He threw the fire-stick down. Then he jumped down from where the cliff was lowest. Then he took the firestick. Then he said to the leader: It is not hard, just jump down from it, here where I jumped it is a very soft place. Then the leader jumped down. Then he fell dead. And to the rest of them he said: Come on, jump down. They said to him: Why does not he move? He told them: The reason why he does not move is that he is almost dead with laughter. Then the next one jumped down. He too fell dead. Then he again told the rest of them: He is almost dead with laughter. Then the others jumped down. They all jumped down. One of them said to him: Old Man, my elder brother, I am with child, I shall not jump down, my belly might burst. He told her: You may spread elks in the future. Then he began to butcher. He had done butchering. Then he began to make a shelter. Then he began to chop the bones. Then he boiled them.

And there was a coyote [who] wore his leg near his neck [as

ksésàukit, tsekúnauts. Nápiuaa etanístseuaie: Annáyä koxkínna nάχkipuχtsìmisik. otsistséuaie Otsítanikaie: Nisá, nena \u03c4katoapoχkinna. Nápiuaa etanístseuaie: Kyάχsikaksikàyayiskatsèyopa. Sketsímokènik kitákitsèso. Otsítanikaie: Nisá, nå zkátsea eksístseua, nimátakoxkota`kskasspa. Ketanístseuaie: Kimátàksisu x p saékaiskætsèaukèa. Kyotsítanikaie: Á kyáksikàiskatsèiopa kenáuksikàumætstàkit. Stámestapuyaua. Nápiuaa áitapæspiksiku paipeeua. Sotámetaupipiuòyaua. Ketanistseua amé apése: Kánnaumaie Kyostóyi stámistapu. stápuvit. Képiuòa, kétsipùyeua. Ketanístseua: Κάnnamaie ákoχtakaipiopa. Ketomátapukskasèaua. Kimá apésèua stámayiksistsekayiua. Käipiokskasèaua, ketauápapiksimmi oχkátsea. Aseepitsèua otístsekaisèa. Ketsétapukskàseua. Nápiuaa otsináu z x saie nétsestapaiputanàmminä ketanístseuaie: Nísko, nåxkåxtå'xksistòkit netsenáuksests. Stámitautaipiini okoaiea. Ketátòyinaie nisóea. Kanáumyαnistsipèkseks stámitå xkanautòyia. Sautámistsistaxpia tsináuksests. Nåχkitsítoto. Mátsitstsixpa άχkåχstsixpia. Kiméstse matsiné spóχts etâχtóma. Etanéua: Kyómists tákoxksoatåxpia. Tokskáyi Páxtsakakatokinistámotsima. seuaie. Kániskenäks ixtsistamäks.

if it was broken. He said to him [the Old Man]: My elder brother, give me something to eat, I am very hungry. The Old Man told him: Let me use that necklace of yours to scoop out grease with [?]. He was told by [the coyote]: My elder brother, that is my medicine-necklace. The Old Man told him: We shall run a race. If you beat me I shall feed you. Then he was told by [the covote]: My elder brother, my leg hurts me very much, I shall not be able to run. He [the Old Man said to him: I shall not feed you if we do not run a race. Then [the coyote] said to him: Yes, we shall run a race, [only] let me start ahead [as an advantage]. Then they started. The Old Man was jumping up cheerily. Then they went very far. Then the covote said to him: Stand right here. And he himself went on. He went far, then he stopped. Then he told him [the Old Man]: From these points we shall start. Then they began to run. Then the coyote was pretending to be very lame. They had run very far, then [the covote] untied his leg. It was a lie [lit. he lied] that he was lame. Then he ran with all his might. When the Old Man saw that [the coyote] went running away as if he was flying he said to him: My younger brother, leave me some of my choice pieces. Then [the coyote] came to his [the Old Man's] lodge. Then he howled four times.

All different animals then came to his camp. Then all his [the Old Man's] choice pieces were eaten up. At last [the Old Man] came there. Nothing was left. There were [only] some tongues [that] were hung up. He said: Those there I shall eat. Then he took one of them. It was hollow. The mice had eaten them all up. [Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 171 sqq.]

The Old Man, the rock and the night-hawks.

Kännauk Nápiuaa háuto, améma όχkotoki etsetóto. Ixpokóme sinopáyin. Etanístseua améma oxkotoki: Oke, amistómi óχkotoki, ámoi nåχksátsis. Ixtsitókskopaauaie. Ketséstapu. Mátomaipioòatsiks. Etsenímma améa máksotaua. Etanístseua amé senopáyi : Nisko, mαtsitαpsskota amámα oχkotoki stanistsis: Nisaa maάye ákoχkαtoχtsotameixkaie. Stámatssko amá senopáua. Ketanístseua améma όχkotoki: Nésaa maáyi áχkipuχk∡toχtsautamèixkaie. Kaipánäs kitákotomatskoγkokixkaie. máma óχkotoki etanístseua amé senopáyi: Kskαsksínauαχpa ámomaye όχkotoki äipáuatomoàua. Anistsis αnnάχk Nápiuaa mátakαtåχkotàuatsiksi. Kimá senopáua stámitapu. Nápi ketanístseuaie: Anni áuaneua annaxk όχkotokχk. Ketanéua Nápiuaa: Kimætsitápsskota, nisko. Kämá stámatsitapssko améma senopá óχkotoki. Mátsitauanistseua: An-

(And) there the Old Man went, he came to a rock. [He travelled together with a kit-fox. Then he said to that rock: Well, poor rock, have this here for a robe. He spread [his robe] out over [the rock]. Then he went away. He had not yet got far. He saw there was a shower of rain coming. Then he said to the kitfox: My younger brother, go back again to the rock and tell him: My brother wants his robe just for the rain. Then the kit-fox went back. Then he said to the rock: I am to tell you] that my brother wants to use his robe just for the rain. And when it clears up he will bring it back to you. Then the rock told the kit-fox: We do not know yet that there is taken back anything from a rock. Tell the Old Man there that I shall not give it back to him. Then the kit-fox went back. Then he said to the Old

nάχk nésa maáyi mã χtsautamsèa. Kaip\(\varxeta\)nnesea kitákatsitskozkokàyi. Kämáma óxkotoki etznéua: Mátakαtsitskoχkotàuatsiksaie. Kimá senopá stαmitapú Nápi etanístseuaie: Auaneua: Mátakatsitsko kotauatsiksaie. Ketáneua Nápiuaa: Nitákatskototoaua kyaksikéuαχtautsiks. Λ'nnåχka etsetáitskauauatsoatsiks etástsimatseuaie. Stómatsitapsskoaie. Ketótomoyeuaie amé maźyi. Etanístseua: Auanistaua nάχkipuχkàtuχksòtami. Kännå xk ketsítsoaiskàko x-Kännå χk niták ztskotòa. Stámistapu. Kästanisooa etóxtsimeua amóχk iskáutαkoa. Etanístseua amé senopáyi: Iskótamissαpit, nísko, $\alpha \chi$ staua amó χ k áiståxtakùixk. Kämá senopá manistskotamissapssea etsinå yeua amé óχkotoki ótsitapànakaseua. Kétskokskàseua. Ketanistseua Nápi: Amokauk amáma óχkotoki áukskasakèua. Ketotsímotàyaua. Nápi ótskssàpsea etsenå′yeua otátæmakitsik amék óχkotokek. Otsítanikaie: Κάχkstsitapaikàmotαχkpia.

Man: This he says, that rock there of course after repeating the message the rock had given him. Then the Old Man said: Go back to him again, younger brother. Then the kitfox went back to the rock again. Again he said to him [the rock]: [Give me] my brother's robe, [he wants to use it] only as long as it rains. And when it clears up he will give it back to you. Then the rock said: I shall not give it back to him. And the kit-fox went to the Old Man and told him: He [the rock] says: I shall not give it back to him. Then the Old Man said: I shall go back and take it myself and [see] what he will do. He, who has always been staying out in the rain [he means: though he must be used to getting wet] he now does not want to give it back. Then he went back to him [the rock]. And then he took his robe away from him. Then he told him: I was telling him [i. e. you] that I want to use his robe just for the rain. Now you do not want me to use it. Now I shall take it back. Then he went away. And when he had got out of sight he heard, there was a roaring noise. Then he told the kit-fox: Go back and look over the hill, my younger brother, [I wonder] what that noise means that is coming this way. Then, as he looked over the hill, he saw that the rock came rolling fastly towards them. Then he ran back. He said

Nápiuaa etskétsaua. Kämá senopá etsístapekseua, ematóχsineaua. Nápiuaa eksékakima mαγksikámotanea. Ketsená vcua améksèa pistóvea ixtauźneea. Etanístseuäks: Aiyú, nå kspúmokik, ámok ózkotokak tatomákitsik. Kemékse pistáviks etápistávkitoyeeàuaie amék óxkotokek. Etáuminituyeeàuaie. Ketáksepistoxketuyeeàuaie. Stámetsinàuminituyeeyàuaie. Kännimaie Nápiuaa äikamotaua. Stámèstapu. Etsetóto amékse pistúviks ókosoauäks. Etanístseuäks: Kayéuaa keksístcauäks? Otsítanikäks: Tsétapyoyekokinnanàua. Etanistsenäks: Tsekúkimavàua anéksisk keksistóauäks. Ketáupæskuyìneuäks nétomåxkàuyakeäks. Etanístseuäks: Netsítsepapaupæskókinea annésk óχkotokesk. Etáminitùyeeyàuaie. Ketanístseuäks: A'nnaye nistáinak. Ketséstapu. Amékse pistúviks étskitotòyaua ókòsoauäks. Etanéeaua: Kókosìnnaunäks άχ kaukoχkuyesõayaua, netumå xkáuvakeàua. Etanístseàuäks: Tαχká αnnάχk kina yksisokoau xxk? Ketanéeaua: Nápiuaa táupæskùyinnaukìnnana. Ketápssameauaie. Ketoxkónauyèeauaie. Ketáksistapikssatseeauaie maáyayi. Nápiuaa nánauaitsimepènyautùyeua maáyi. Stámitsitáksèua maáyi.

to the Old Man: There comes that rock running after us. Then they fled before him. When the Old Man looked back he saw that he was almost overtaken by the rock. He was told by [the rock]: [I do not see] how you can save your life.

The Old Man got frightened. Then the kit-fox ran into [a hole], he was nearly killed. Then the Old Man tried his best to save his life. Then he saw, there were night-hawks flying past. He told them: Come, help me, this rock has nearly overtaken me. Then the night-hawks began to fart at the rock. They just broke it to pieces. And they kept on farting at it. So then they broke it all to pieces. And so the Old Man saved his life. Then he went away. He came to the young ones of the night-hawks. He told Whither [?][did] your mothers [go]? They told him: They went to get something to eat for us. Then he said to them: I am very angry with those mothers of yours. Then he stretched out their mouths [until] their mouths were bloody. Then he told them: I was happily chased by that rock. Then they [i. e. your mothers] broke it all to pieces. And he said to them: Look like this henceforth. Then he went away. The night-hawks came back to their children. They said: Our children must have been fed by somebody, their mouths are bloody. They [the old ones] told them: Who is it

who fed you? Then they [the young ones] said: The Old Man stretched out our mouths. Then they [the old night-hawks] looked for him [the Old Man]. Then they found him. Then they began to defecate on his robe. The Old Man finally tore his robe all up. Then he was done out of his robe. [Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 187 sqq.]

An adventure of the Old Man with some women.

Istámatoztoa. Etsitóto améksèma akéks áuseäks. Otsítsinokäks etαnéeäks: Nákáuk Nápiuaa, άχkuniksaskoχtoayi. Etsístoχkixtsèeäks. Etsekípayinixkasèäks. Ketsetótòäks. Ketsená'yeuäks. Ketanéua: Kayéuxtaua amistóksema akéksima, káikimatàpspaiksàua. Áχstaua otómoxtsenixpeaua. Nitákoχkosksìnoayaua otúmåχtsènixpiaua. Tókskàmi ketspínamoyeuaie osókasimiaie. Ketsótomoyeuaie ópestanani. Ketsímatsina okétsis. Ketαnéua: Nétoämo ámomαχks kaikimatapspäksaua. ixtséneua, Kiméma stsíkima netóyi matάnistotòyeuaie. Ketamistsimeuaie kixpitséstapòauaie. Otsísaie etsekípayayekauatoχpiuáyeakämóοχksisísea etapåχpeuàyea otsíseayi. Únetumokautsikinokaie. Káitapipeuaie améma stsíkαγkoa. Etsetsípotoyeuaie. Ketsskóa améma stsíkim akéima. A'nnimaie mátautotòyiuaie. Otáitotâxsaie et ámsauksáyinakoyiminä. Stámistáua: Kämistáma táikatsitapsskù, sákixt-

He went on again. He came to [a place where] there were some women picking berries. They saw . him, they said: There comes the Old Man, let us hide from him. Then they lay down. They played dead. Then he came to them. He saw them. Then he said: [I wonder] what is the matter with those women, they are to be pitied. [I wonder] what caused their death. I shall find out myself what caused their death. Then he lifted up the dress of one of them. Then he fingered her vulva. Then he smelled his finger. He said: It smells like having been shot, that is what she died from, they are to be pitied. To the next one he did the same thing again. He then put her on his back and walked away with her. Then she pretended her hand to be swinging hard and so she hit his nose with her hand. That made his nose bleed awfully. He took her somewhere to a secret

seua. Omátsitotå χ saie ákatsoanakoyìminä. Áyaketsestapepõkskaseäks. Stámitsistoyisìtokseuäks. Ketsiksístöis χ koàniaua: Amóksiskakéuaki, kanístsixpuauaie mataníststsik.

place. Then he laid her down. And then he went back to [the place] where the other woman was. He was going after that one too. When he came to her [i. e. to the place where he expected to find her], then she was gone. Then he thought: I shall go back to the other one, she is there yet. [But] when he came to her again, she was gone too. They had both run away. Then he was done out of both of them. Then he said, soliloquizing aloud: Those women [i. e. you women] lie down again in the same way as you were lying down before.

The Old Man, the musk-rat and the sleeping beaver.

Etsetóto Nápi neét a tai. Etsená'yeuaie amé ksiskstakén áyokàyin. Ketanístseua amé mésåχpskéinä: Niskó, amóma nópænni popamotsít óma ksiskstakéna áyankana. Otákaye stóto tot amóma nóp znni. Aiotsóxkoxtominiki stsíkstsi-Kinitáketapiks. Kimá nixtsit. mésoχpskeua ixpitópamotsimaie. ksískstake anistápo z tsi ksisiskuyi etsétoχtomaie. mésozpskèua ketsíkstsinixtsimaie. Ki Nápiua etápiks nétapozkitsiksèmaie améma ksisiskuyima. Ketsínni amé mésozpskèi ketanístseua: Spúmokit kαχkítsäksomòki. Ketumátapsäksimmoa. Ekűyäksistsäksimmäua.

The Old Man came to a river. He saw, there was a sleeping. Then he said to a musk-rat: My younger brother, take my penis here and swim across to [that place] over there where that beaver is sleeping. Then put my penis to her vulva. When you are putting it to her vulva, then bite it. And [then] I shall push. Then the musk-rat swam across with it. And then he put it to a thornbush on the opposite side, where the beaver [was lying]. Then the musk-rat bit it. And the Old Man pushed [and] broke down that thorn-bush there. He got hold of the musk-rat and said

to him: Help me pulling out the thorns. Then they began to pull out the thorns. They have had a hard time pulling out thorns.

The Old Man and his mother-in-law.

Kάnnauk Nápiuaa itáukunnaie. Otoχkéman ki maáχs ixpotókatsemeuaie. Ketsestapu. Ketomátapapòtakeua. Ketomátapå zsokù iskaua. Λ'nnea akáitapiiea netäχsókuiska. Ketsko. Otáipis matsinoaipuyoatsiks. Otsítanik otázkéman: Kitsikíxp kémauksauaipuisks? Etanístseua: Sá, tseksématayea ámoyayi ixtókeuoa[?] sauóa; maάχsiks ixkaná χροκοδmeua. Ama apámaχtsi etoχkánaukèkaua. Anistsis anná keksístaa n\(\alpha\)ko\(\chi\)keto\(\chi\)poks\(\delta\)ma. Tseksémataua amáya ixkaná zpoksomeuaie maάχsiks. Stámoχpoksòmeuaie. Ketsetótoyaua améstsèma akékànists. Mátsikikitapiskòaistsaua. Ketanístseua maάχsi: $A\chi$ káik $\hat{a}\chi$ k α naumato anná x k soóαχk. Annóma άχkuniskitsòkaupi. Kyotsítanikaie: $A'\chi$ kunitsòkaupi. Stámitsokayaua. Stamákixtseeaua. Mátomaisimiaukàuäksàua. Nápiuaa etomátapenepitoxkomeua. Otsítanik maάχsi : Nápi, ketsénepitsp? Etanístseuaie: A, tseksénepits. Etanístseuaie Nápiuaa ma $\dot{z}\chi si$: $A\chi k \dot{u} n o \chi p o k sa u$ kaupi. Tákoχtsitsikìnixts puksókaukea. Ketanénä: A. Ketåxpúksokameuaie. Ketαχksístseuaie. Apina kuyea etanistseuaie: Αχκú-

There the Old Man was camping. He was camping with his wife and his mother-in-law. He went away. He began to pitch camps. Then he began to make tracks. He made tracks as if lots of people [had been] there. Then he went back [to his own camp]. After coming in he did not say anything for a long time. He was told by his wife: Is there anything the matter with you that [lit. why] you do not speak? He said to her: No, I wish very much [to be with] those people, who went to the war; with their mothers-in-law they all went to the war. There, on the other side of the creek, they all camped. Tell your mother to go to the war with me. I wish very much [to be with] those people, who went to the war with their mothers-in-law. Then he went to the war with her. Then they came to those camps. There was not a single person. Then he said to his mother-in-law: They must have gone away all, those who went to the war. Let us sleep here. And she said to him: [Yes,] let us sleep here. Then they slept there. They went to

niskatskauaupi. Stámatska kayeaua.

bed. They did not sleep long. The Old Man began to cry as if he were cold. He was told by his mother-in-law: Old Man, are you cold? Then he said to her: Yes, I am very cold. Then the Old Man said to his mother-in-law: Let us sleep together. I shall sleep warm if you sleep with me. She said: Yes. Then he slept with her. He had sexual intercourse with her. In the morning he told her: Let us go back. Then they went back home.

The Old Man and the spring-birds.

Stámatoztò Nápiuaa. Etsetóto améksèma népumakèea. Etanístseuäks: Anné nákoxkôanists. Otsítanikäks: Auke, Nápi, mátokakâmapèuatsiks. Otsítanikäks: Netúyi mátaitixtauanisttsopa, áipiuiaua etoániopists. Otsitanatsikskozpists etauániopa. Stámestapùa. Mátsipiòatsiks. Ketsetóto améma séksikskûyi. Etomátapæni: Népumaki, matskszpozpiit. Oa'psspiks áitsistapispaixtsèeäks, mátsitiskitsapoxpéeäks. Kännimaie átαneua: Matsksápoχpèik. Etsekétsisåksisèäks. Ketákænena: Matsksápozpèik. Skátamitspikasúyeäks amé ókanikse. Käisistsikueäks. Etsítskitsèuäks oápsspiks. Etsiksístuitapastòa. Kimá akéua extsitóua. Atsítsinokáyi. Etsetápoyinayi. Stamistáyinä: Nazkápastok náχkitapuχs. Etsetótovinaie. Otsitanikàyi: Axsaa? Ketanistseu-

Then the Old Man went on again. He came to some springbirds. He said to them: Let me do in that way. He was told by them: Well, Old Man, it is not hard to do. He was told by them: Nor do we often do it, once in a while we say it. Where there are smooth willows we say it. Then he went away [after having been told what he is to say. He had not gone far. Then he came to some willows. He began to say: Spring-bird, fall back in [the same place]. His eyes would go up in the air, [then] they would fall back in [the same place]. Then he said again: Fall back in [the same place. Then they stuck fast on a branch of a willow. So he kept saying: Fall back in. His eyes dried up there on the branch. Then he got tired saying it. He

ayi: Kenátâxkanist. Ketanistseuaie: Αχκύnitapauopi atsáuaskuyi Stámitapùyaua. axkitápimaupi. Etomátapapèmaua. A'nnima kseistápimatosi ketsá zkůnimayi. Kyotsítanikaie: Kemaukstámitokyáuapiemαχs? Ketanístseua: Sá, nátâχtanists ketáχsetsixpia kännimaie áχkitsitsìpstaupaupa. Tókskayima stámitsipstàupeua. Amékseeaye οχκίnna οχsistsínni, etoχkínneuäks. Amé akéi otsítàutonokayi. Etsíkamenoyänä oå psspiks. Etskétseuaie. Ketsístapukskasènä. Ketúkskas∡tsèuaie. Améksèyi áiå toyeua oxsistséks otáisitsikå tasèa. Oxsistséks etauápapiksistsènäks. Kiméma otsítomaimixpìa néetαχtai etsitápsoyapiksistsènäks. Stámistaua: Λ'nnaχkauk. Etoχpókisâyâχpaipèeuäks. Etséstapukskaseni amí aké. Kemátsenätsi Nápiua. Ekyáiå xkotopetsesõo. Stámato tò. Kämé apésin sáyánayinä. Otsitäsimyátsokaie okétsis. Ketanéua: Há, nistamóa opískanni ámozkauk. Kämá apéseua ematáiniseua. etoxkúsksináyeuaie. Kännimaie Stámikamitsestápineuä. Oå psspiksä etsáutomoyeuaie. Etsítoxtsoauåpsspenausoäks. Kimápeseua stámaxtsauaisoauåpsspeua.

left his eyes behind. He made signs at a venture. There came a woman. And she saw him. She went over to him. Then she thought: [It seems] that he is making signs to me to come. She came to him. He was told by her: What [is the matter]? He said to her: O, nothing. Then he told her: Let us go over to the shrubs, let us make a shelter. Then they came there. They began to make a shelter. Where he had begun to make a shelter he [afterwards] missed it [i. e. when going away from the shelter he was making he could not find it back]. Then he was told by her: Why are you making one shelter after the other? He said to her: No, that is the reason I am doing it [that you may have the choice] which [of them] you like, that is the place we shall live in. Then he lived in one of them. There were some hoofs, his necklace, he put them round her neck. That woman was looking for lice on his head. Then she caught a glimpse of his eyes. He frightened her. Then she ran away. He ran after her. He heard those hoofs rattling. She began to untie the hoofs. And where the river was deepest she threw them in. Then [the Old Man] thought: That is her. Then he jumped in after them. The woman ran away. And the Old Man was nearly drowned. He had a hard time to get out of the water. Then he went on again. Then there was a coyote

[who] had a sore paw. He made him [the Old Man] smell his paw. Then [the Old Man] said: Yes, my brother-in-law's corralling-place, that's it. Then the coyote almost died with laughter. Then [the Old Man] found him out. Then he quickly grabbed him. He pulled out his eyes. Then he put those eyes in his own sockets. Then the coyote had to go without eyes.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 195 sqq.]

The Old Man and the girls who were picking strawberries.

Nápiuaa etsetóto améksim akékoæn áusseea otsistsénea. Opánnea ixtsetánistotsim otsistséni kiméma amékse akékoäks otsítàusspi ixtsítspesauχtoma opánni. Itsinímiauaie amékse akékoäks. Etanéaua: Amómæie ómæχkotsistsena, άχκοnasætotà`kstsixpa. Ketásætotākstsìmiaua. Τúkskæm etænéua: Αχκúnitæstàtsesopa. Etsetístætseseauaiea. Τúkskæm etspáχkeua. Ketsístapepiksèaua.

The Old Man came to some girls [who] were picking strawberries. He rubbed his penis with strawberries and where those girls were picking he stuck his penis out of the ground. Those girls saw it [viz. the penis]. They said: There is a great big strawberry, let us bite it. Then they bit it. One [of them] said: Let us sit down on it. Then they sat down on it with their vulvae. He pushed up one of them. Then they ran away.

Some more mean tricks of the Old Man.

Etsetóto Nápiua améma moyís. Etsitsipstsapeuaie. Etsená'yeua amém akékoanini ayokáyini, minépokàyini. Ketséstapu. Etótakeuä The Old Man came to a lodge. He looked in. Then he saw there was a girl sleeping, a girl of high birth. He went away. He

misisäa. Mátsitsko. Ketsitsípemaie. Ketsístseuaie améma akékoàninea. Ketanístseua: Ómoma akékoanaannávi mísisau etäxtseua maávi. Kimáma akékoanama etanístseua: Nápi, Nápiesαχkà, kepúzksit. Ketanéua Nápiuaa: Tséksikètsixp, mátakseixpàtsaks. Ketanístscua: Nåχksipúnixtakit, takitséixpa. Kimá akékoan ketanéua: Nääuaa ketáksipunixtato. etanéua: Nóaayomaa Napiuaa názksamaitsikitsimvõtsixpa. Etanéua omá akékoan: Kyómaxk enákstsimazk níksistazk kitáksipunixtat. Ketané Nápiua: Nóanáxksamaitsikitsimiòtavùmaa sixpa. Ketsítanikaie: Natsikests kitáksipunixtat. Nóaayòmaa náχksamaitsikitsimyòtsixpa. Omátsitanikaie: Natsíks. Kimatsítaneua: Názksamaitsikitsimyðtsixpa. Kinisókasimia. Nóaayòmaa náχksamaitsikitsimvõtsixpa. Kinästóaa. Ki Nápiua etássemaie amé misisái. Ketsitótsistoxkixtseuaie. Ketsítanikaie: Nápi, ináuksauχkonistaksomòkit, paxksistsisksipistomòkit. Ketsípaz ksistsisksipistomòveuaie. Ketaxksístseuaie. Kitáxsauanässea ketápapiksim. Amé ketupátsiseua. Ketsáukskaseua kimáma akékoanam aápani netsetsúvixtseua. Ketsístapu.

took some excrement. He went back again [to the lodge]. Then he went in. Then he put it on that girl. He told her: There is excrement on the robe of this girl here. And that girl said to him: Old Man, pity me, Old Man, wipe it off. Then the Old Man said: It is too dirty for me, I shall not wipe it off. And he said to her: Pay me first, [then] I shall wipe it off. Then the girl said to him: I shall pay you [with] my blanket. The Old Man said: [I tell you] that I nearly wipe it off with my hands. Then the girl said: [With] that youngest mother of mine here I shall pay you. Then the Old Man said: [I tell you] that I nearly wipe it off with my hands. Then he was told [by the girl]: [With] my moccasins I shall pay you. [I tell you] that I nearly wipe it off with my hands [he said]. Again he was told by her: [With] my leggings. And again he said to her: [I tell you] that I nearly wipe it off with my hands. [With] my dress [she said]. [And he again: I tell you that I nearly wipe it off with my hands. And [finally she said: With] myself. Then the Old Man wiped that excrement off. Then he lay down at her side. He was told by her: Old Man, do not put in the whole of it, tie [a string] across to shorten it for me. Then he tied [a string] across to shorten it for her. Then he had sexual intercourse with her. When he

Ketoχkúiksinaua omáma akéko-Nápiua anam. stámotuyimàua otanístotoa zsaie. Ketápssama. Nápiua amé népomaki etanístseua: Kitáko zkomaatá zko nopánni, kinnéma ksistóa kopánni nåχkaχkúmataxkòkit. Kyotsítoaxkumataxkòkaie ópanniàie kyostúvi nåχkítχkumataχkùyiuaie opánni. Ketoχkónoa Nápiuaa. Ketánistaua: Ksistoánnauk. Etanéua: Nemátamixpa. Ketanéua: A'xkunaupamoχpàipiopa, soià χpiua kännaie stautápixp. Etómatapopamoxpàipiuaua. Nápiuaa étomopomaxpaipiiu. Amá náipumaki etopámozpaipiiua. Etsóio piua. Ketsínnau. Ketanéua: Kéka, názkipitapaia-Nápiuaa amóya opźnni. Ketsepótoaua amá népumakèua. Nápiua etsínnau. Nápiua etanéua: Táksokinna potókinauànik. Ketanístaua: A, sokinís. Ketsetsípemiàua améma moyis. Stámâxtoyetsopa améma moyisima. Kétane Nápiua: Omima όχkoχtsima kipitákea nátsetapèesaua opáksatsooaks petsa xkopis paxtsaksistapuχtsistsemà näχkä'tsistsitapèeaua nápia osípapistatsoauäks nå xkát xpitsipsotopisàuäks. Potánia amiskápipotáxtsi ókoassea istsíkonákek apátxsåxts matsisíkonákek ókoassèa. Kyómima tókskayi aaxtápiksiminikèa kyámoksima kipitákeks istsipótoxsiniautsèis ki ta'kfelt agreeable, he untied the cross-string. Then he rent her by putting in the whole of it. Then he ran out. And there [inside] the girl was lying in her blood. Then he went away.

And the girl was found. Then the Old Man was accused of having done it to her. So they went to look for him. The Old Man said to a spring-bird: I am going to lend you my penis, and you lend that penis of yours to me. And then [the spring-bird] lent him his penis and he himself lent his [own] penis to him [the spring-bird]. Then the Old Man was found. And he was told: You are the one [who has done it]. He said: I am *not* the one [who has done it]. And he said: Just let us jump across the river, he who falls into the water that is the one who is to be blamed. Then they began to jump across. The Old Man jumped across first. Then the spring-bird tried to jump across [lit. jumped across]. [But] he fell into the water. He was grabbed. Then he said: Wait a moment, that I may just have time to confess. This is the Old Man's penis. Then they let the spring-bird go. Then the Old Man was caught. The Old Man said: I shall doctor her if you let me go. Then he was told: Yes, doctor her. Then they all went into the lodge. Then that lodge was quite crowded. The Old Man said: Let two old women with their clubs sit over there, near the doorway, face to skayia atχtápiksìminäkea kyómiksima nápeksima istsipótsapaukàyautseis.

Ketomátapsokinakiua. Ketomátanni: Axksekèeuatsiks, áxksekèeuatsiks. Täkskáyea et ztápiksiókoassestsima. améstsema ma Kiméksema kipitákeksima etsepótåχsìniautseeaua. Nitúkskai matsitxtàpiksimma. Kiméksema nápeksima etsipótsapaukayautseeaua. Nápiuaa stámiksistaukàsaukskàseua. Ketókvookstàsataua. Käméksema saxkúmapiia ástamaekxtsei ketanístaiäks: Totsínnåk! Kyotsítsinokaiks. Ketanístseuaiks: Poniskóaki , améstsemaie ápsseea tsítapotoisaietsikùyeaua, únepu**z**piaua kitákanistâχkotχpùaiaua. Kitsítsapótókäks. mátsitsestapókskaseua. Kiméksema akékoanea ástamak z tsèa etsetótaipiiea ketanístaiäks: Totsínnåk! Ki otsítsinokäks. Etanístseuäks: Potókik, ómistsemaie ponokazpekinia tsítaputoisaietsèkuyea, únäpåχpi kitákaniståχkotåχpùayaua. Kitsítsapótókäks. Kitsístapokskaseua. Kiméksema kipitákeei etsetoto. Etsetsípemäks. Etanístface, and let two other people, old men, sit at the other side with their spears, face to face. Toast one [piece of] belly-fat south-east of the fire-place [and] toast another [piece of] belly-fat at the north-side [of the fire place]. And when I throw one of them [i. e. of those pieces of belly-fat] around, then those two old women must hit each other with their clubs and when I throw the other [piece of belly-fat] around, then those two old men must stab each other in the neck.

Then he began to doctor. And he began to sing: She will not die, she will not die. Then he threw around one of those pieces of belly-fat. And those old women knocked each other down with their clubs. Then again he threw other [piece of belly-fat] around. And those old men stabbed each other in the neck. Then the Old Man ran out unhindered. And then everybody ran after him. There were some boys playing arrow-sticking-game and they were told: Catch him! So they caught him. Then he said to them: Let me go, my younger brothers, there are some arrows [which] I am going to reach first, I shall give you each thirty of them. Then they let him go. And again he ran away. And when he got to some girls who were playing arrow-sticking-game, they were told: Catch that one! And they caught him. Then he said to them: Let me go, there are

seuäks: Sékskayekòχtoχkoχs. Kítsatanikäks: Mátsikiuaχtàua Nápiuaa. Etanístseuäks: Tséeksìstsispi. Nétsayisksipìma otokáni. Etáyaminiu. Ketsetótoyia amíksi otápasàmmokiks. Etanístseeäks: Nápiuaa kekátainoàua? Ketanéea améksi kepetákeks: Ómamauk páχtsikatapèi. Kyotsítsipòtòkäks. Ketsétseua.

Etanístseua amékse kepetákeks: Netáksami. Mátsipiodatsiks. Ketsáutuyeua oóse. Kiméma kúnskuyi etsetapáumaxkauannimeuaie. Ki maáie etápoχksemiautòyeuaie. Kyoósi amée okaníksi etsítspsoksameuaie. Ketsskóa. Etanístseuäks amékse kipitákeks: Κάχκitotaχkospòaua. Ketotázkoseäks. Ekóseäks. Auapistàyäks. Tåkskam etsík xkokitsèua. Etsípinixtsèuaie améma enaksípokáyemma. Kák \(\chi_{\begin{subarray}{c} \chi \text{ Kak} \(\chi_{\begin{subarray}{c} \chi \text{ Mak} \\ \chi_{\begin{subarray} tsåxtòmaie otokámiaie améma aapístan. Tókskæm netúvi mátαnistotùyi. Kamékse kipitákeks etskotoyi. Otsítanikäks: Nimátxkapotspinàna, amóyα oós nikáket χpotåχpinàna. Etαnístseuäks: Apéseks άχksikaistsistameauaie. Otsítænikäks: Kémaukòχkχkopisàxks. Etanistseuäks: Ámåva nάχκαye koksképokàua ixtókskaseua, nitä χsìniaua. Kämékse kipitákeks améea oóse etséseeaua, some elk-teeth [which] I am going to reach first, I shall give you each thirty of them. Then they let him go. And he ran away [again]. He came to some old women. He went into their lodge. He told them: I am very ill. And they said to him: I wonder what is the matter with the Old Man. He told them: I have a terrible head-ache. He bound up his head. He groaned. Then the people [who] were looking for him came there. They said: Did the Old Man come here? Then the old women said: There he is, he is almost dying. So he was released by them [the people]. Then he got well [again].

He said to those old women: I am going out hunting. He had not got far. Then he pulled out his anus. [Through] the snow [that was lying] there he dragged it [the anus] about to show blood. And he began to pull the hair from his robe. And then he hung his anus up on a branch. Then he went back. He told those old women: Go and take the beef. Then they went to fetch the beef. They had children. They were in the swing. He cut off the head of one of them. Then he put that infant in a pot with boiling water. Only its head he made stick out of the swing. With the other he acted just the same. Those old women came back. Then they told him: We did not get any beef, we have got only this anus. Then he told them: Let coyotes eat it up. They said

etsóaseeàuaie. Aitapistànipeeauaie. Káiksistsoætseeauaie. Kimékokósoauäks mátsitomatàpiu∡tseauäks. Ketsáksaua Nápiuaa. Ketanistseuäks: Kókosòauäks auźtapàuztok. Kimékse kipitákeks etsetápaiaketasainäseana ókosoauäks. Kakitoχkonimiauäks otokάnauàuästs. Ketsístapukskaseua. Ketsetóto améma oátsemana, Etsesipemaie. Sesipúkaukskauaie. Stámoxsisapòksaksoàiea. Käméksi kipitákeks etsá zkapuyeàua améma oźtsemànema. Etsetótoäks. Etanístseuäks: Kitsikíxpuau kemáuketså x kapuix puàuaisks? óχketsinnauseua, omátonáukatsiksäksi. Otsítanikäks: Nápiuaa netsénoxtokinnana nókosinnànäks. Tápæskužnnana, ámomæ etsepéma oάtsimànima. Kepúχksenåχtokìnnana. Ketsetsípemaie Nápiuaa. Ketomάtαpsitsikskyòtâχsena. Aisäpskyåxsèua. Netómåxkæinæmma. Otáisaks. Etanístseuäks amékse kipitákeks: Nikáinitaua ánnαχk Nápiuaa, kaχkitsískapatàuaua, istsípek. Ketsetsípemäks. Otáitsipisäks etsípuzsenäks.

to him: What is the cause that you got meat? He told them: A young antelope ran by, right here, I killed it. Those old women cooked that anus, they ate it. They just made it fart when chewing it. They had done eating it. Then again they began to eat their children. Then the Old Man went out. He told them: Eat your children yourselves. Then the old women began to cry for their children. They found their heads only. Then [the Old Man] ran away. He came to some hole, he went in. The hole came out elsewhere. He passed through [and went] out. And those old women were standing before [the entrance of that hole. Then he came to them. He told them: What is the matter with you that you are standing before [this hole]? He was changing his appearance, [so] they did not know his appearance. They said to him: The Old Man killed our children. We are chasing him, he went into this hole here. Kill him for us. Then the Old Man went in. And he began to scratch his face. He was hitting himself in the face too. He was bloody all over [his face]. [Then] he was coming out. He said to those old women: I have already killed him, that Old Man, you may pull him out, go in there. Then they went in. When they were going in he smoked them to death.

[About the adventure with the old women cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 193 sqq.]

The origin of death.

Kännauk Nápiuaa. Kämá akéua ekós. Etanístseua: Nápi áχkunapàyakaniopa. Nápiuaa etanístseua: A. Kämá akéua etanéua: Amoya óχkotoki istátsisi ákainiopa. Nápiuaa etanéua: Sá, ámoya kamixtáye istátsisi ákainiopa, sayistatsisi mátakainiopa. Kimá akéua etáiikakima améa óχkotoki ánneayi mákoχtanistsisàua. Ketanéua Nápiuaa: A. Kimá akéua etsóyatapiksimmaie oxkéea. Stámistatsòayea. Nápiuaa etséstapu. Ketænéua: Akainiopa. Mátsipiooaa Nápiuaa. Kimá akéua etsénenea ókos. Ketúkskasatseua Nápii. Etanístseua: $A\chi$ kúnatset λ kaniopa, Nápi. Nápiuaa etanístseuaie: Sá, ákaiksistaniopa. Känâ∡kauk kátainiopa.

And there was the Old Man. And there was a woman [who] had a child. She told him: Old Man, let us deliberate. The Old Man said to her: Yes. Then the woman told him: If this stone here sinks we shall die from now. The Old Man answered her: No, if this buffalo-chip here sinks, we shall die, if it does not sink, we shall not die. But the woman was trying hard [to bring about] that it might be the stone with which they would do.it. Then the Old Man said: Yes. So that woman threw it [the stone] into the water. Then it sank. The Old Man went away. He said: [From now] we shall die. The Old Man had not got far. Then that woman's child died. Then she ran after the Old Man. She told him: Let us say it over again, Old Man. But the Old Man said: No, we have done saying. That is the cause why we die.

The Old Man and the wolves on the ice.

Kännauk Nápiua etsetótoa améksema makúyeea. Améma kokotóa etápæskayäks. Oksímistanoauästs ixtásåχpeea améma kokotóyema. Etanístseuäks: Anné nákåχkauanists. Kyotsítanikäks: Áuke, Nápi, mátækækomapeuaa.

There the Old Man came to some wolves. There was ice, they were dancing on it. Anything they wished for would come out of the ice. He told them: Let me do in that way. And he was told by them: Come on,

ketákå xkotå xpinana Kännå' xk ama'χk nepáskananea. A'nno neétαχtayi tókskaua ketákotamitauanistsi, naχkétsea neétαχtaya penetáuanistseta. Sótæmåykokäksayea. Kännimavi stámestapu. Mátomaipeuòatsiks. Kiméma kokotúyema etomátapitsipasskaua. Kiméstsis otsiksímistatå z pistsi átαχtaisåχpeea améma kokotúvema. Kännimayi etstáua Nápiuaa: Amoya matsétaxtayea netákitapo netákatsitsipassk. Stámetapoayea. Stámitotoayea. Käméma kokotúyema stámitoto. Ketomátapixpeeua. Kiméstsisk oksímistanistsi áisekonästaua máχkatsåχpesea. Káisamoa nánoäksoòa. Stámatsskoa améa neétax tayea otsékatapæskæχpea. Stámitotòayea. Kännimayi mátsitomatapepæskaua. Kiméstsisk oksímistanists mátiskaksax peuaa. Kännimayi amékse makúyeks etsetótovea. Otsítanikäks: Nápi, ánnå xk kimátanistseitsixpaa, kitánistå zpinanea. Kännå zk nitátskotsixpinana nipάskαnanea. Anna'χk αnnáu neétax tayi mátaikatsitstseuaa. Nitákåxpestapuxpinana, spóxnitáχkoχpitapuχpinana. tsim Manákitapeuaa ákitainimayea. Akanistå xp Makúyåxsokuyi. Otsakyauanikäks etámisauksaineeuäks käméa neétαχtayea mátatsinimmatsiks. Otáikokå zsea otspsápsea etámisauksinima Makúyåχsokuyea mokámixtatsikαχtsik otsítstsissea. Kyotsíxkauaye Pekánei etanístseua mánistaxkùyixpea amékse makúyiks pæskánea kimátskotsissäks kiméa

Old Man, it is not hard to do. Now we shall give you this dance of ours. This river here is the only one on which you should do it, do not do it on any other river. Then they gave it [the dance] to him. And then he went away. He had not yet got far. [Then] there was ice, [and] he began to dance. And anything he wished for would come out of the ice. And then the Old Man thought: I shall go to that other river there [and] I shall have another dance. So he went [thither]. Then he came to it. And he came to some ice. Then he began to dance again. And he would think that the things he wished for might come up [out of the ice]. After a long while he finally left off. Then he went back to that river where he was dancing before. Then he came to it. And then he began to dance again. But the things he wished for would not come up again. And then the wolves came to him. They told him: Old Man, now you did not mind what we told you. And now we take our dance back from you. Now this river here shall not remain here any longer. We shall go away with it, up to the sky we shall go with it. The people who are now growing up will see it. It will be called the Wolf-road. They were still saying [this] to him when, suddenly, he did not see them any more and he did not see the river any

neétαχtayea manistâχpamisâχpäks. Kinnâ′χk ámâyauk Akúyâχsokuyea, ákαskχsətaixtseua. longer. When it was night [and] he looked up, then he suddenly saw that the Wolf-road had been laid just in the middle [of the sky]. And he told his own tribe, the Peigans, how he got a dance from the wolves and how they went away to the sky with the river there. And now that is the Wolf-road [i.e. the Milky Way] [and] it will lie there forever.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 113 sq.,

[Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 113 sq., 170 sq.]

The men and the women.

A'nniksauki amékse aké etâχkánnoiea. Etanéaua: Α΄ χkonapa-Ómava yàkæniopi. Etanéea: únnasinaya, άχkunayómiskatai. Stámåxkənayaxsètakea. Amó ótakèsin ketâχkə́naitapo améea únnasìnea. Stámitaxkònautsipùyeua. Kämáya únnasinaya etoχkánaikstuipùyeua. Kännó ótakesìna stómastsitsáyomiskáini. otsínämi Nápi stámitapu, stámòtsineua. Nápiuaa etauáupatskapi, mátaskàkanèuatsiks. Kämá akéua nåxkétsimi stamápssápiua. Stamómiskàua. Kimáya stsíkai otákesini ketomátapômiskàua. Kimá nínakèua etanístseua amékse akéks: Nápiuaa pinómiskatuk, netúmaisoaskàkanika. Aunnata xsimma omáya otákesinaya, ki Nápiuaa améksisk etáikavisátseua akéks otsítapòkamå zpi. Kästamistàua Nápiuaa: Kännåxkayi ámåk takómiskak. Nåxkétssimi ästamó-

There were some women, they assembled. They said: Let us deliberate. They said: There are men over there, let us select them for husbands. Then they all liked it. All those women then went to those men. Then they all stood near them. And there the men were all standing in a row. And the leader of the women then first selected a husband. (Then) she went to the Old Man, she took his hand. But the Old Man held himself back, he did not accept her. So that woman then looked for somebody else. Then she selected a husband. And all the other women there began to select husbands. And that chiefwoman then told the [other] women: Do not select the Old Man for a husband, because he refused to accept me. [Finally] there were [but] few of the womiskàyinä. Stamáyomiskaua otákesina. Skátametsìtaipuyeua Nápiuaa, stamétsoå kuyòmiskata. Kämáya otákesina táukanayomiskaua. Etanéua: Kännayi ákauanistseua, manákaistoaseua ákå kematsèeua. Stámå kanàyistapu. Nápiuaa stamétsitäpuyeua. Ketomátapå kemiskema améa ákeksæ koa. Káiksistå kemiskèmaie ótstoyisìnea. Stomítsto ktokàseua.

men [left], and the Old Man would go in front of [any of] those women who were coming. And then the Old Man would think: This one here is going to select me for a husband. But then [that woman] would select another. The women kept selecting husbands [until they all had taken their choice]. There the Old Man was standing alone, (then) he was the only man who was not selected at all. And all the women had selected husbands. They [the women] said: And that is what shall always be done henceforth, [that] all the young people, when grown-up, will be married to each other. Then they all went away. Then the Old Man was left standing alone. Then he began to kick down the bank there. He was ashamed. Then he turned into a pine-tree.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 167 sqq.]

The Seven Stars.

Amá nínau otoχkéman äs-kæχsautåχkåχtänä. Ixkitsíkæmä ómåχpapèixpiksä otoχkænå′χsæsäks. Kænáiksistsìkoists áisameäks. Ostóyi amá akéua äkyayautopotå′χkοχtàua. Ómi otsítsipistsìmmåk etstänä. Τάκχκusksìnixp otómåχtakyáyautapotoχkotàχpea netoχkémana. Átotåχkåχtänä. Ketoχsókatàtseuaie. Etsenóyeua otsitótauåχsä améma ómæχkàyistsìsinä. Ketápæstokèinä. Etámis-

There was a man whose [lit. his] wife was always going out fetching wood. She had seven brothers, all younger than she was. Every day they went out hunting. That woman herself always came back with the wood very late. So her husband thought: She may be doing something wrong. I am going to find out why my wife is always late in coming back with the wood. She went out

oksinoyea amé ómazkastseksenänea otomåytsäskæpssea améma káukixkáyima. Stámitapskapèna amé otoxkéman. Omá akéua stámozpuksistákixtsèmeua. Kimá nínnau stámisksinima otozkéman otómå χtiskå χsauto χ ko χ tαχpia. Stámazkaieua. Káisamoa etótoyinea otoχkéman. Netsitséimìmminä otáipissea. Etsákseua amá nínnau. Stámitapu améma mestsísima. Ketótistákènaie. Otoźnni etsáutuyeua. Káisiskapènä. Etsíkαχkòkeuaie amé pekséksèna. Stámaykaieua. Matsiksístsikuyea mátsitota xkoxtaua amá akéua. Otsetótá zsea amé mestsis etsena'yeua amé otákomimotsèmi ákaikoχkòkyänä. Ketákαsàineua.

Ekyáuαγkaie. Otáipissea manínau etsenóyeua otoxkémani nétsikoχpoapinisènä. Ketsíkαχkòkitsèuaie. Stámèstapu amá nínnau. Káis∡moa etótòyia amá akéua Etámisauksksinayeua oxsísiks. únstuauayi otséns, kazkókitazsea. Kyáukanaipèmiaua. Saua'xtsi etúmisauko z tot z nènaie: St z matapauyik, kemátako zkotsesa zpuaua. Stamápauyeaua. Káisamoa etámisaukoxtùyeeaua únstoàua otístàyisi. Okéna nitsíkinàsæsæmeua. Ketsenóveua únstsi otástais. Káfetching wood again. Then he [her husband] walked around after her. Then he saw that she came to some big tree. Then she knocked at the tree. Then at once he saw there came a great big snake crawling out of the trunk. Then he [the snake] began to crawl to his wife. Then that woman and the snake lay down together. And then the man knew why his wife was always late in coming back with the wood. Then he went back to his lodge. And after a while his wife came back. She was smelling of perfume when she came in. The man went out. Then he went to that tree. And he knocked at it. He drew his knife. And he [the snake] was crawling out. Then [the man] cut the snake's throat. Then he went back to his lodge. The following day that woman again went out fetching wood. When she came to the tree she saw that her lover's throat had been cut. Then she began to cry.

Finally she went home. When she came in, the man saw that his wife's eyes were swollen with crying. Then he cut her throat. Then the man went out. After a long time that woman's brothers came [back]. Then they suddenly discovered that their elder sister had died, that her throat had been cut. And they all went in. Then she suddenly said from outside: Help yourselves to your meal, I cannot give you your meal. So they

kotokànenä. Aitapàspoxpèuaie otokányayi otístaisi. Etanístseua ósiks : Aisàmmåk, kínstænòna kakotokáneua. Ketássameauaie. Stámozkanistůnoveàuaie. Matsiksístsikuyi etsámea. Aipióyaua. Okénauaa ósiks otsítanik : Stápskot kinistánnona kάχkitssàmmaua aikéuαχtautsiks. Okénauaa stαmiskú. Otáitotå zsea etsksénauaseua. Etsitsípstomαχkaua. Améma ónists amée ponokáyin sákyaisìnänä. Etå ztuyèuaie otoánissaie: Omazk ómazksimazk otokáni ámo ákitstseua kyámo ómαχk nαχkátopokyomaxksimaxk ákoχkåtsitstsèua otokáni. Amo kínnekaie nαχκάτοχροκyòmαχκsìmαχκ ámo otokáni ákoχkαtsitstsèua. Kännikaie mànistάpanikoχksèpiaua otokánoauästs ákanistapaixtsèea. Kyámo Okénau nátsåχts otokáni ákoxkitstseua. Okénau nétomayåxtùyeuaie otánäsaie. Otáiksistsistsèisea Okénau únsts ketsáumazkáua. otáuanixpia Únstsi otsítsinauk, otsítanikàvi: Maukáyaksaumαχkàyi omáya isksénaua, nitáiksistsèpuyi. Áitsaumαχkàua. Mátoχkuisauamiua Okénau.

helped themselves to their meal. And after a long while they suddenly heard their sister scrape a hide. Breast-chief slowly looked out at her. And he saw his elder sister scrape. She was just head. Her head was bouncing up and down scraping. Then he [Breastchief | told his brothers: Look, our elder sister is nothing but head. And they looked at her. Then they were afraid of her. The following day they went out hunting. They got far. Breastchief was told by his brothers: Go back to look at our elder sister what she may be doing. Breast-chief went back. Then When he arrived he turned into a bug. He ran into the lodge. There his elder sister was drawing on some elk-skin. He heard her say: The scalp of him who is the eldest will be right here and the scalp of the second eldest will be right here. And here it is that the scalp of the next one will be. And here the scalps of the others will be put, one after the other, according to their ages. And here at the end Breastchief's scalp will be. Breast-chief plainly heard her say so. When Breast-chief had done listening to what his elder sister was saying, he ran out. His elder sister saw him, she told him: Why will not that bug run out, I have done talking. [Breast-chief] ran out. I bet it is Breast-chief she said].

[After] Breast-chief had run

-Káipiomαχkàua Okénau má-

tsitsitapiusiua. Stámitôtô ósiks. Ketsesínikuveuäks únstuauai otáuanixpia. Ketanéeaua: Kyå'χkunαχkayopa. Stámαχkayeaua. Apina kuyea etanistseeaua únstu-Akóχtsea páuαχkuyea auàie: áutskùinαtsèa αnnimaie nitsítoχto zpinanea nitápotsinnanists. Stotótsitàua, tsèksistsikoχpinàna. Stá-Otástanisoå zsàie mästapùyinaie. ketanéeaua: Ákotsìmotaupa. Ketótsimiauaie okávemistsàie. Mátotuyiàuaie mátsikàyayi kitsésànyayi. Ketotsímotàiaua. Kéiksìpepiksèaua kétskotòvinä. Stamisksinímminä ototsimotániaua. Kyotsítapsimokoàyauàie. Stamozkoníminä otómäxtäxpiaua. Kixtsítsapòyinä. Stámantsapinakaseuaiea otokániaie. Keiksípepiksèaua kyotsítastoχkokoayiauaie. Kyotsítanikoayauaie: Kemátaksikαmotαχρυανα. Ki Okénau etapátapiksimma améstse kayésts. Stámoχkanauànetaxpeeästs. Ketsenímineästs. Ketomátapsekotsiminästs. Kèiksípepikseaua mátoxtsitsapinakaseuaie otokáneaie. Otátaistoxkokoayauaie. Okénau mátsitapátapiksimma améa mætsikáyayi. Atsitotòyinaie. Ketsinóyina ómatsikàyai. Íkskauketakèna otótoaxsi. Ketótoyena. Mátoxtsitsapinakaseuaiea. Oxtátastoxkokoàiauaie. Omátsitanikoaiauàie: Κάχksitapakamotαχρυaiea. Ki Okénaua otsésànä etapátasúvinimaiea. Ketomátapsekotsiminaiea.

away far, he turned into a person again. Then he came to his brothers. He reported to them [about] what their elder sister was saying And they said: Let us go back home. Then they went back home. The following day they said to their elder sister: Yonder, where the ridge looks blue, that is the place where we put our butchered meat. Go yonder and get it, we are very tired. So she went out. After she went over the hill they said: We shall run away. And they took her quills. They also took her scraper and her paint. Then they ran away. When they had got far away she came back. Then she discovered that they had run away. And then she began to look for them. She then found them out, where they had gone. Then she followed [their trail]. Then her head began to roll after them. And when they had got far she came up close to them. And she said to them: You will not succeed in saving your lives. And Breast-chief began throwing back those quills of hers. Then they were all scattered about. And she saw them. So she began to pick them up. When [her brothers] had got far [again] her head rolled after them again. It came near them again. Breast-chief this time [lit. again] threw back her scraper. She came to it again. And she saw her scraper. She was very angry because he Breastchief] had taken it. She took it.

Kämé omαχkáitumòa, etsitámisòyaua. Túkskàmmaa etanéua: Å′χkånå`χketsopa. Ketanéaua: A. Tukskámmaa etanéua: Α΄ χkonå xkotokasòpa. Améksi stsíkiks etanéea: Akéks αχkitsitáipå∡pakistakèea. Tukskámmaa mátsitànni : $A\chi$ kúnistsisàsopa. Kämékse stsíkiks etanéea: Áikitautatsotsp mestsísasokeea. Takskάmmaa etanéua : Λ'χkstàmmâχkeuasopa. Kimékse stsíkiks etanéea : Akitaisimatsp å xkènasokea. Tã′kskæmmaa etanéua: A'γkstαmauàkaseuasopa. Kimékse stsíkiks etanéea: Ákainitsp auákaseuasòkea. Stsíka mátsitænneua: $A' \chi$ kst α misistseuasopa. Kimékse stsíkiks etanéea: Saxkúmapeks akitáinikeea. Stsíka etanéua: $A\chi$ kst α motuyixkoasop. Kimékse stsíkiks etanéea: Áikaipänsòtspa. Okénau etanéua: A'xkstamispumàuop αχkitänaukìua manákaitapìuaa. Ketoχkánauaneeaua: A, kännixkàie áisokàpi. Okénau etanéua: Kanáyapstsákik. Kyósiks stámiapistsakeea. Okénau etanístseuäks: Ketákotamanistopuaua kitsitáksapixpuaiea. Ketspúzpakuyisima améa sápopa. Kétspixtsèeaua. Kiméea únstuauayi otokánea átsitapamainakaseuaiea. Kyotsítsinaukuayauaie otspixtsísaua. Ketasáinena, etanéna: TáinoAgain it [her head] rolled after them. It came near them again. She again told them: [I do not see] how you can save your lives. And Breast-chief poured away her paint to her. Then she began to take it up again.

There was a big hill, they ascended it. One of them said: Let us transform ourselves. Then they all said: Yes. One of them said: Let us turn into stones. Those others said: Women might break us for scrapers. Again one of them said: Let us turn into wood. But the others said: We shall be burned if we turn into wood. One of them said: Then let us turn into water. But the others said: People will drink us if we turn into water. One of them said: Let us turn into deer. But the others said: We shall be killed if we turn into deer. The next one again said: Let us turn into birds. But the others said: Boys will kill us. The next one said: Then let us turn into grass. But the others said: We shall be burned. Breastchief said: Then let us go up to the sky that we may be seen by the people who are now growing up. And they all said: Yes, that will be good. Breast-chief said: Shut your eyes all of you. So his brothers then shut their eyes. Breast-chief told them: I shall tell you when the time has come for you to look. And then he blew up some plume. And they were all rising up in the air.

akamòtsàiaua. Okénau, nítstatàuaa, ná χ ksikakàikspya χ sea. Kánniksàukyàua aitotóyaua spó χ tsima. Okénau etanístseua ósiks: A'nissapìk. Kétssapiäks. Känná' χ k emánauayaua, Okénau nátsänòpiua. Känniksàukyaua ixkitsíkammiks kännå χ kauk emánauayàua.

And then their elder sister's head again came rolling up the hill towards them. And she saw them rise up in the air. Then she cried, she said: Now I cannot kill them [lit. I must let them be safe]. I just want to club Breast-chief's head only. [But] there they were, they were coming to the sky. Breast-chief said to his brothers: Now look. Then they looked. And now they are still seen. Breast-chief is at the lowest end. Those are the Seven Stars, which are still seen now. [Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt. 101 sqq.]

The Bunched Stars.

Kännauk Ákai-Pekàneuaa etáukunnayeua. Ketsámeua. Kimékse pokáyi únnoauäks etanístseeaua: Ksikunistaya nåxksékokinnana. Stámisameea únnoauäks. Káisamoa etótoyäks. nístseeauäks: Kekátayekokixpaa? Mátsekokoàuäksauäks. Matsiksístsikuyea matsitsameäks. Netúyi mátanistseeàuäks ksíkunistaa mάχksekùissauäks. Stámatsàmeäks. Káisamoa kimék etsenâyeúnnoauäks otástå zsea. vaua Ketsitάpåχkαniskumαχkayauäks. Stámotátsemiauäks. Ketanístseeauäks: Náneksisk kitávaksekokixpinaniksk? Otsítanikoayauäks: Kimátsekåχpinana, kitáskαχsayistsestotokixpinana kάχksekoχsinnanea. Kimékse pokáks stámoχkanàyestapùyaua ótayamètak-

There the ancient Peigans were camping. They went out hunting. And there were some boys [who] told their fathers: Give us skins of white calves for robes. Then their fathers went out hunting. And after a long while they came back. [The boys] told them: Did you get robes for us? They had not got any robes for them. Next day they went out hunting again. [The boys] just the same told them again to get skins of white calves for them for robes. Then [their fathers] went out hunting again. And after a long while there they saw their fathers come back. Then they all went running up to them. Then they met with them. And they told them: Where are those robes

sauχkúyekoαχsàua. Käipiuòyaua. Etanéaua: A'χkstαmispumàuaupi. Máikåxkestotòkeea kínnoniks. Manákaistoàseuaa άχkitànaukeua. Kämá naχkítåχkənaumαχksimma etanéua: Nápstsakik. Ketâχkánayapstsakeaua. Káisamoa otsitanikoayauaie: Anissa-Kétssapeaua. Spóxtsima pìk. stźmitàupeeaua. Känná zk kánniksaukyaua emétänauayaua spóχts Miä'χpokuyäks.

you were going to get for us? They were told by [their fathers]: We did not get robes for you, you are always bothering us [with your begging] to get robes for you. And [then] the children all went away for they were very angry because they did not get any robes. They had got far. Then they said: Just let us go up to the sky. Our fathers make us ashamed. We may be seen by the people who are now growing up. So the eldest of them all said: Shut your eyes all of you. And they all shut their eyes. After a long while they were told by him: Now look. Then they all looked. They were already up in the sky. Now there, up in the sky, the Bunched Stars are still seen.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt. 112 sq.]

Belly-fat.

Kännauk amá nínau netokí-Kanáiksistsikuyists áisameua. Otoxkéman ekósènea. meua. Etanistseua átakssameua: Mokákit, αnnάχkaie matápeua, mátâχkatsèuatsiks, kákokineua. Ekamótosea ákauaneua: "Nàxtskáie". Penisissammis; emákstatáinik kάχksisamaχsea metsíxtat kάχksisamaxsea. Stámestapu nínau. Stámiskoto háikokòa. Matsiksístsikûyeea stámatsàmeua. Káisamo amá akéua etámisokoztsimeua amóisk otóanissea: " $N\alpha \chi$ - There was a man, [who] was camping alone. Every day he went out hunting. His wife was pregnant. He told her [before] he went out hunting [lit. he was going to hunt]: Take care, there is a person, he has no legs, he has a breast only. When he comes here he will say: "Which way?" Do not look at him; even if you think that you [want to] look out at him, try hard to refrain from looking out at him. Then the man went away [hunting].

tskáie". Stámisksìnima ómi otáneixpea mákstàisammaxsàie. Aitautakatòminä okóaiea otoánissaie: "Naxtskáie". Stámetsixtáua mákstàisammaxsàie. Kännimaie nánoas∡mmeuaie. Kämé áukskaua. ixtsitsíkenasäsàmmeuaie. Otáinoαχsàie kyotsítanikài: A, nitákitsip. Stámitsipèminä. Ketanístseuaie: Omi stópet. Stámitòpenaie. Mátoxkatseuatsiksinä, kákokinä-Opstokèstsä kákotseänä. na, nánakuyàyä. Ketsésoyeuaie. Otáisoxsä otsítanikài: Nimátsitaisoixtàxpaa kósiks. Kimata'xketsea. Mátsitaså ztù yeu aie. Kyásaukanènä: Annistsk nimátsitaisoixtàχpaa. Matsikínnä stómatsitsisåχtuyeuaie. Stómatanènä: Nemátsitaisoixtàxpaa atsikésts. Kyosókasimmi mátsitsisäxtuyeuaie. Sótamatanikaie: Nemátsitaisoixtàxpaa asókasests. Ketanístseuaie: Kenistóa istsisúixtat. Ketanénä: Kännistskàvi nitsítasuixt. Stámitsisuixtänä ókoαnnea. Etótsiståγkixtsèuaie otáitsisoixtanä. Otoánnä etsáutuvi, etáskimatseuaie. Ketomátapyuyeua.

He came back at night. Next day he went out hunting again. And after a long while the woman suddenly heard somebody [lit. there was somebody, he said]: "Which way?" just knew [that means: she remembered instantly] what her husband told her, that she should not look out at him. He was walking around her lodge and she heard that he said: "Which way?" Then she tried hard not to look at him. But then finally she looked out at him. There was a hole [in the lodge], through this she slowly looked out at him. When she saw him, she was told by him: Yes, I shall come in. Then he came in. She said to him: Sit down yonder. So he sat down. He had no legs, he had a breast only, he had hands only. His bowels were visible. She gave him something to eat. When she was giving him something to eat, he told her: I never put my food on plates. So she gave him something else to eat from. She kept giving him something else. But he kept saying: I never use those to eat from. Then she gave him her moccasin to eat from. [But] again he said: I do not use moccasins to eat from. And she gave him her dress to eat from. He just said again: I do not use dresses to eat from. Then she said to him: Use me myself to eat from. And he said: Those [he means: human bodies are the things I use to

etsíto x kitsisə mainä Käisamo okoánni. Sákyasisimaua etsekíppaistsikinämä améma éksisakuyema otáyistsimixpima. Käméma akéima okoźnni etúmazkayistsì-Ketsáutuyea nima. Stámenèna. túkskam améksema pokáksima. Stámitsistanepiksistsèuaie améma mákskitsèima. Ketanistseuaie: Ámoyi ákanistàua Issókskitsènaie. Tùkskæm matsitsautuyeua. Käméea oχsóχtsei etsisístanaipiksistsèuaie. Etanístseuaie: Kámoya ákanistàua Oxsístakskxtànaie. Aikoko étskoto omá nínau ápotseua. Stámitoto ketsímea. Otozkéman etanístseua: Saksist kάχkitsìnäpiksistàmoki. Mátsitstsixpa máxksitsipsəkèa. Ketsínnisau. Stámissksənäma otoxkéman maniståxkuyepea. Otáiksistsinnaipiksissea otápotsests stámipeema. Etámisauksonoyeua otoxkéman otsitáixtsis, Stómapauyoseua. enénea. nå'kuyea stomátsàmeua. Áikokoa mátsiskoto. Stámipeema okóai. Etámisaukså zpistsixtseua. Matsiksistsikuyea stomátsameua. Aisəmestapu İsókskitsènaua etanistseua otákaye: Napé Oχsístakskχtäna, anistsisáuta, kínnona όχpsests åxtsətáikåxtsopia. Stámistsisàua Oxsistakskytänaua. Ketótsimiaua únnauauaie óxpsests. Omaxkaiksistsikuixk ixtsitáksikαχtseauästs. Autakoa ketanéeeat from. Then he used her belly to eat from. She was lying down on her back when he was using her for a plate. He took out his knife, he sharpened it. Then he began to eat.

And after a while he cut his meat on her belly. [While] he was still cutting his meat he acted as if he made a slip-cut [on] that meat he was cutting. And he cut that woman's belly open. Then she died. He took one of the children out [of her body]. Then he put him under the ashes there. And he said to him: This one will be called Ashes-chief. Again he took out [the other] one. And he put him there behind the lining of the lodge. He told him: And this one will be called Stuck-behind-chief. [When] it was night the man came back, he had got a carcase. He came to the doorway. He told his wife: Come out to help me to take off the carcase. There was nobody to answer him. And he dismounted. Then he knew what had happened to his wife. When he had done taking off the carcase, then he went in. Then he saw his wife lying down, dead. So he cooked for himself. [When] it was morning he went out hunting again. [When] it was night he came back again. Then he entered his lodge All things were scattered about. Next day he went out hunting again. A long while [after] he went away Ashes-chief said to his friend: aua: Κyάχkoniksoàuaupi áikχtsòsea, kínnonaa άχkatomàkoto. Stámiksoòyaua. Káikokòa áitskoto únnoàua. Otsipíssea stómat sinema okóai otsáuχpixtsissea.

Apina′kuyea etstáua: Nitákoχkosksìnauaua amóχk aisáuχpistsapiksistakioαχk. Staméstsisàseua. Stómatsestapu. Otáipiooxsea stámitàupeua. Stámistòkaua ostómea. Mátsisamòa etámisauksìnåyeua Isókskitsènaie otómåχtsepoå`χsea améstsèma mákskitsèima. Etanéna: Oxsístakskytäna, ánistsisaut, kínnona άkaipiòoa. Oχpsests åχtsitákaxtsaupia. Stámistsisauyinä. Stamótsimäks óxpsests. Ketomátapikχtseäks. Túkskαm amékse sαχkúmapeks etanistseea: Napé, ómamauk kinnonaa, avéstsisàseua. Ketanéna túkskæmaa: Kémaukaikòpåχks, mátamèuatseks, άχkstomàkαχtsopi. Sákyaikaztsèaua Isókskitsènauaa únni otsítsinnak. Ketápaxpauaneua. Oxsistaksk×tänaua stámå x so x pauàn-Sókskitsènaua neua. otsítanik únni: Tsíki, isatápokit, kitúnnimoki. Kétsatapèuaie. Stámisksìnima otúnnimαχsàie. Stámisoatstunnuyeuaie. Kyotsitanikaie: Kitákauaa, ánistsis áxketstsisaua. Ketanistseuaie: Anistsisaut, penátstonos, ámauk kínnonaa. StáPartner Stuck-behind-chief, come out from there, let us play with our father's arrows. Then Stuck-behind-chief came out. And they took their father's arrows. All day long they kept playing with them. Towards evening they said: Let us stop playing, our father may almost come back. Then they left off [playing]. At night their father came back. When he came in, he saw that everything was scattered about [in] his lodge.

In the morning he thought: I shall find out this [person] who is scattering things about [in my lodge. Then he turned into a stick. Then he went away. When he had got far, he stayed there. Then he turned into two bodies and one of them went back to the lodge. Not long [afterwards] he suddenly saw Ashes-chief get up from those ashes. He [Asheschief said: Stuck-behind-chief, come out, our father is very far away. Let us play with his arrows. Then [Stuck-behind-chief] came out. Then they took his [their father's arrows. And they began to play. One of the boys said to the other: Partner, over there is our father, he has turned into a stick. And the other [lit. one] said: Why are you afraid, it is not him, let us go on playing. They were still playing [when] Ashes-chief was caught by his father. He struggled to get away. Stuck-behind-chief then himself back to his place. Asheschief was told by his father:

mistsisaua. Stámisoatstunnoyeauúnnoauai. Ketanístseeauaie únnoauai: Tákapistotoannana niksístsinnana máχkαtsksìpoåχsea. Ketanístseuäks: A, kάχkapistotoαχsoaiea keksistoàua mάχκαtsipoauxsea. Isókskitsènauaa stámotsema únni onámayea nésoests óχpsestsaie. Túkskayea ixtsítspaχkùmeua. Otáisksinåχpesayea etanístsena oksísts: Nóaaki, naá, ánnik ápsseua ákitotatsåχpeua. Mátsikakauatstseuatsiksinea. Niáuksastsi netóyi stámataxtanistseua. Mátsikakunauauatstseuatsiksinäa. Kännimayi Oxsistaxkxtänaua etanístseua únni: Nestóa néetakoχksapistotoaua neksistaa mάχksipoåχsea. Ómim potánea stopisát. Stámitopisänä. Kyákotsèuaie átamaksakåχsuyenä Οχsístαχkχtänauaa etanistseua oksistsi: Nóaaki, naá, ánnama apisánima akitápsakotsèua. Mátoatstseuatsiksinäa. Otómåxtsistoxkàxpi stámatanistseua oksísts: Nóaaki, naá, ánnima apisánima ákitapsákotseua. Etámisaukauatsikàpiksena. Otómåxtsaukskaxpi stámatanistseua: Nóaaki, naá, ánnima apisánima ákitapsákotsena. Etámisaukàpoχpauanèna. Otómå ztsisòxpi stámatanistseua: Nóaaki, naá, znnima apisánima ákitaps-Etámisauksipù zpauaàkotseua. nèna. Stámatssiksipoå yinä. Kánnimaie stámatoxkoxkèmiaua amá nínaua.

Little boy, taste me, I am your father. So he tasted him. Then he knew that it was his father. So he was not afraid of him any more. And he was told by him: Tell your friend to come out. So he told him [his friend]: Come out, do not be afraid of him any more, this is our father. Then he [his friend] came out. Then they were not afraid of their father any more. They told their father: We shall make our mother alive, that she may come back to life. He told them: Yes, make your mother alive, that she may come back to life. Ashes-chief took his father's bow [and] four [of] his arrows. One of them he shot up in the air. When it was coming back down he said to his mother: Look out, mother, there is an arrow [that] will fall down [on you]. She did not move at all. [With] three [others] he did the same thing again. She did not move at all. And then Stuckbehind-chief said to his father: I shall try to make my mother alive, that she may come back to life. Cook some meat there [on] the fire. Then he [the father] cooked some meat. [When] it [the water] boiled, [when] it almost boiled over, Stuck-behindchief told his mother: Look out, mother, that pot there will boil over. She did not move at all. Then again he said to his mother for the second time: Look out, mother, that pot there will boil over. Then she moved her feet.

Aisamoa áitoχkòtseua okósiks itséuàninea. Etanístseuäks: Nókosaki, amóya etséuanayi, ámoxk pinápuztsk pénåztsinakatuk. Kisαγkúmapeks stámotu-Stámåxtaikoàniauaie. veeauaie. Isókskitsènaua etanístseua otákaie: A'χsstàua kínnona otómâχtanixpia άχkstainapìnakatχsàie? Kyotsítanik Oxsístakskytàinai: Sá, άχkstainapìnakàtaie, άχ kanistsetoàie kínnona otánixpia. Isókskitsènauaa misskítsinnapinakatsèuaie. Ketúkskasatsèeauaie. Ketáksinakasèna. Aisekonästatsèeauaie mάχkssikoχpisä. Kskatámitapotaminenakasènä. Amémaye moyís, stámitotsipstsìnakasènä. Amá kipitàkeua netsetápiua. Etanist-Kipitáki, seeàuaie: kúkinnàna nitséuananaa. Otsítanikoàyauàie: Auátstsipstotok. Stámitsipèmiauaie. Etsekímaixtsenea otséuanoàie. Otsítanikoàyauàie: Känni ákaitòpek kάχkitsikopixpuàua. Stámitòpiiaua. Ketsáksèna amé kepetákèi. Ketáutotänä. Kaiksistototänä. Ketsáksànä. Ketsókèminaie amék ketsími. Spóχtsim mátsokèmini. Kánnoma pistá zts etomátap zkits. Kyátamáksipuzsåyeaua. Isókskitsénaua etanístseua Oχsístakskχtainai: Napé, kekátauksəpapauFor the third time he then said to her again: Look out, mother, that pot there will boil over. She then moved her whole body. The fourth time he again told her: Look out, mother, that pot there will boil over. Then she sat up. Then she came back to life. So then that man had his wife again.

After a long while he gave his children a gambling-wheel. He told them: My children, here is a gambling-wheel, do not roll this eastward. And the boys took it. Then they played with it. Asheschief said to his friend: What is [the reason] why our father said that we should not roll it eastward? And he was told by Stuckbehind-chief: No, let us not roll it eastward, let us mind what our father said. Ashes-chief rolled it eastward though. They ran after it. It kept rolling on. They were expecting it to stop rolling. All at once it rolled towards a hill. There was a lodge, it just rolled in. There was an old woman all alone. They told her: Old woman, give us our gambling-wheel. She told them: Come in to take it yourselves. Then they went in. Their gambling-wheel was lying in the west-end of the lodge. She told them: Sit down there to take rest. So they sat down. And that old woman went out. And she built a big fire. She had done building the fire. And she went out [again]. And she shut the entrance. She also shut [the opening] at the top [of the lodge]. And

kàχpaa? Otsítanikaie: Nena'χksəpapàuk. Ketanístseuaie: Kákåχkàpistotsìssea άχkstautsipuχ-Oxsistakskxtänauaa soyaupea. etsáutsima améea sápopa. Etsítsitòkinnimàyea otsítaupixpiàua. Kämóya setséea stámozsstseua. Káisamoa otsítanikoayaua amé kipitáke: Nókosaki, kená zsakyatapeixpuàuaa? Etanístseeàuaie: Nítsakyatapèixpinana. Kétanèna: Ánisaksík. Stámisakséaua. Otsítanikoàyauaie: Autúyeks nitápuzsayea. Kännázk ksistóauaa kimátsipuxsxpuàuaua, penátsistautòk. Stámαχkayeaua. Ketanístseeaua únnoauaie manísto x-Otsítanikoàyauàie: kuyepiàua. Ketsékanistuχpuaua kάχkstänapinakatxsoauaiea.

Káisamoa mátsitoχkotseua ókosiks námaia käpssea. Etanístseuäks: Amétâχtsk pinâχtápskonākik. Stamótsimiàuästs. Kánnimaye extsitápaskunakiàuästs. Isókskitsènauaa etanístseua Οχsístαkskχtänä: Λχsstaua kínnona otómâχtànnixpia αχkstámetαχkumiosea? Kyoχsístαkskχtänaua etanéua: Sá, kyáχkanistsètoa kínnona otánixp. Ki Isókskitsènauaa misksítametαχkùmeua. Améa ápsseea

there inside it began to smoke. And they were almost smothered from the smoke. Ashes-chief said to Stuck-behind-chief: Partner, did you have any holy dreams? He was told by him: [Yes,] I had a dream. Then he [Asheschief] said to him: You should manage it [to chase away the smoke that we may not be smothered. Stuck-behind-chief out [of his dress or so] some plume. They held it between them where they were sitting. And there the smoke stayed away. And after a long while that old woman said to them: My children, are you still alive? They answered her: We are still alive. And she said: Now come out. Then they came out. She said to them: Any people who come here I smother. Now you both I could not smother too, do not come back again. Then they went home. They told their father what had happened to them. They were told by him: I emphatically told you that you should not roll it eastward.

And again after a long while he gave his children a bow and arrows. He told them: Do not shoot westward. Then they took them [bow and arrows]. There then they were shooting about with them. Ashes-chief said to Stuck-behind-chief: What is [the reason] why our father said that we should not shoot westward? But Stuck-behind-chief said: No, [let us not do so] but let us

matsinaunssikä piuatsiks. Ketákåzpokyaukskaseauaiea. Kiméma axkéea, stámitsåyoxpiuaiea. Stámoχpokesa yokskasiauaiea. misokitsipstxkonåxseaua améma moyís. Otsitsípstaupissaua ksískst∝keea améksema ekóyeksema. Stámitsipstàupiaua. Káisamoa únnoauaie otsítapssàmokoàyauaie. Matsínoå xkonokoà uaiksauaie. Káieksisàmo amékse saχkúmapeks otsítanikoayaua améksiskstækei: Amoyapitsisoåxtsea stáikožnnik. Stámitaukoanneauayea. Améma om źnaukoauayima. Kanáksistsìkoists etáikoànneaua. Autakusea etápemiaua. Stámikitayemeeaua améksema ksískstækeksima. Aisamoa ama nínau mátäxtsitòa améma okósiks otsítaikoanixpia. Etsenímma oxsokóauästs. Etstáua: Nókosiks άχkstàmameea, tákomatoχkosksìnauayaua. Ketápastotakèua ápsseua. Káiksistapistatsìmmastsi kixpitsítapòoästs améma ókosiks otsítaikoanixpia. Ketsitástautsimmästs. Peísaukapstautsimmästs. Etsitsiskixtseua. Aipsetámisauksinauyeua tsiksisàmoa Isáukskitsènaie otopitsisóoχsea. Ketsinímminä améstsisk ápssistska otótoixtsissea. Ki Sókskitsènaua etsχkáuaneua: Οχsístαkskχtäna, anétækit, apitsisoot, amóistsiskaie άpsseea, άχkitàutsixpia. Ki Οχsístαkskχtäna stámoχkαtopitsisõoa. Ketomátapotsimiaua amestsisk ápssestsk. Netapáutsimiàuästs netápstautsixpiästs. Nátsåxtsistsima áitotoyàua. Únnoauàie otsítokokskasikoàyauaie. Petsóχksinåyeauaie. Kétskokskasèaua.

mind what our father said. But Ashes-chief shot westward all the same. That arrow did not stop at all. And he [Ashes-chief] kept running after it. And there was water, so it fell into the water. Then they ran after it into the water. Suddenly they found themselves in some lodge. [They saw that] there were sitting beavers inside, those were the owners. Then they [the boys] sat in there [with the beavers]. And after a long while their father went to look for them. He never found them. And after a very long time those boys were told by a beaver: Over there, on the shore, you may play. Then they went playing there. That was their new home. Every day they would play there all day. At night they came in. They just got used to those beavers. After a long while that man [the father] came to [the place where his children [usually] were playing. He saw their tracks. He thought: Those must be my children ['s tracks], I shall try to find them out. He began to make arrows. After finishing them he went to his children's playingground with them. He stuck them [all over] a long distance [starting] from the shore. He then hid himself close by. Then, after a little while, he suddenly saw Ashes-chief come out of the water. And he [Ashes-chief] saw there were arrows sticking up all in a row. Then Ashes-chief said aloud: Stuck-behind-chief,

Isókskitsènaua otsétòminåk. Ki Oχsístzkskχtänaua omátsitsìnnåkaie. Kyotsítanikoàyauaie: Issatápokik, ketokósimåχpuaua. Stámisatápiiauaie. Stámisksinåyeauaie. Stámaχkayeeàua.

Káisamoa mátsitapistotomokoayauaie námaia kyápssea. Kyotsítanikoayauaie: Nókosàki αnnάχkaie sistséua, ékanatsinama, pínskònakαtok. Känneaie stámapainituk sistséks. Stámapoauαχkayaua sistséks etáinitseeaua. Etámisoksinåyeeaua amé sistséna. Ékananatsinàmminä. Oχsístαkskχtänaua etanístseua Isókskitsènaie: A'nniàukinea annésk kínnona otánikixpisk άχkstainetαχsea. Isókskitsènauaa etanéua: Táksenitaua amá sistséua. A'χsstaua kínnonaa otómåχtànixpia άχkstainetαχsaie? Ketskúnakatsèuaie. Stámoyeuaie ketsínniseinaie. Kiméea okaníkseua, etsítsoksaisènä. Ketanístseua Oχsístakskχtäna: Náχkipòtsixp na xpseea. Ketamisatseua améma mestsísema. Kyákotúyeua amé sistsévi. Etámisaukspixtsènaie. Stámato zpokyamisòoaie. Kátáko-

hurry up, come out of the water, here are some arrows, that we may take them. So Stuck-behindchief too then came out of the water. And they began to pick up those arrows. They were picking them up just where they [the arrows] were sticking up. They were coming to the end of the row of arrows. They were chased by their father. They saw him soon. And they ran back. Ashes-chief was first caught by him. And then again Stuckbehind-chief was caught by him. And he told them: Taste me, you are my children. So they tasted him. Then they knew him. Then they all went home.

And after a long while he again made a bow and arrows for them. And he told them: My children, there is a bird, it looks very pretty, do not shoot at it. Then just kill [other] birds. Then they were walking about to kill birds. Then they suddenly saw that bird. It looked very pretty. Stuck-behind-chief said to Ashes-chief: That is the one our father told us that we should not kill. Ashes-chief said: I shall kill that bird. What is the reason] why our father said that we should not kill it? And he shot at it. He just hit it and it And there was a fell down. branch [in its way], it suddenly hung on it. And he said to Stuck-behind-chief: Let me get my arrow. And then he climbed up that tree. And he was about

tuyeuaie. Etámisaukætspixtsènä. Stámato z pokyamisodaie. kotuyenaie. Etámisaukætspixtsènä. Kyotsítanik otákáye: Napé, kitátamepistsikatänau. Kétskanistseuaie: Kíka, napé, tátomàkotòaua, *á*nnåxkaie tákototòaua. Kyátamàkotùyeuaie. Mátsitspixtsènä. Kyomátsitànik otákàie: Napé, ánisksinisaut, kitátamisauatsina. Kimátsitskanistsèua: Kíka, napé, táto-Ikskàtamisóato ztok màkotoaua. otákàie. Matsikéstsaie etámisaukitotsìniseä kimatséksaie kyosókasimä. Kännimaie ixksinå yeua otákaie. Ozsíkstzkskztánauaa etomátapasàineua. Otákàie ótsistotorksests iskískatoma. Kanáiksistsikuvists kokúyists áuasaineua. Skátamiskatoxpokàuanissèua.

Kännimaie Ákai-Pikàneuaa etsitótsistotseua. Kyáukanäksistokèkaua. Amékse kipitákeea etotá χ-koχtàyea. Sákyapåχkåχtàyaua túkskamaa etá χtuyeua amá yisk pokáinea áuasenènea. Etápassàmeuaie. Etoχkónayeuaie. Tsimáie enaksípokàinea, saχkúmapènä. Stámotuyeuaie. Etanístseua amé stsíki kipitakei: Amóyayi netoχ-kóχkuyiskana. Ákanistàua Ókois. Stámoχραχkàyeuaie. Etápäkαχ-kànistotuyeuaie. Känneaie otsítani-

to take that bird. It was suddenly higher. Then he climbed up after it. Again he was about to take it. It was suddenly still higher. Then he climbed up after it again. And again he was about to take it. Then it was suddenly still higher. And he was told by his friend: Partner, I can but see you a little yet. And he [the other said back to him: Wait, partner, I am nearly taking it, this time I shall be able to take it. And he nearly took it. It was still higher. And again he was told by his friend: Partner, now come back down, I do not see you any more now. And [the other said back to him again: Wait, partner, I am nearly taking it. He was not heard by his friend. His moccasins then suddenly fell down to him and his leggings and his shirt. That was it [the last] he saw of him. Stuckbehind-chief began to cry. He used his partner's clothes as a pillow. Day and night he was crying. So he cried himself small again.

And there the ancient Peigans came and camped. And all the tents had been pitched. There were some old women, they went after wood. They were still gathering wood [when] one of them heard there was a child crying. She looked round for him. She found him. It was [lit. which was] a little child, a boy. Then she took him. She told that other old woman: This is [one] I found for my boy [this means: and who will be my boy]. His name

kàie: Ámoksea mánistamiksi istaxtautsinokitaua. Óomi nátså χ ta aitótsinnåkenikea tákitomaxksi. Etsítaxtautsineuääks. Manistápitautsinaxpääks netapáistauasènä. Nátsäxts étotsineuaie otsékanikozksepea stámatsskànikoχksimma. Kännimaie amáyi nínnaua niókskæmmea ókosiks, kanoákekoanäks, kanáitsoàupssèäks. Kännimaie amá nínnau eta-Óma kétokeua znnóma néua : asitápiuama étomainitseuaàie ómi ómαχksìmmi netάni ákåχkematse. Kyúnnasinnaa etókeskunakátseu-Ki aie. Okoassaua etanistseua oksísts: Nåxkápistatomòkit námaia käpssea, netákuxkitotaskùnakatàua amá kétokèua. Kyotsítanik oksístsi: Stáxpikinmatsiks[?] nâχk*á*tstàua mάχκοχκοχκemi-Kimátoxkotsissitoàuatsiks. sea. Ókoassaa miskáuanistsèua oksísts mάχkapistotomâyissea námaia kyάpssea. Kyotsítsinàmαχkòkaie. Kixpitsítäpssäksoästs. Kiméksèma ekéskunækeks etsitóto. Kyotsítanikäks: Óke, Ókoassi na χkskunakatsis. Känneauk otsistsitsiskunzkssea etsénitseua. Ketsétsòyåχseua. Amékse nínäks ketoχkánatapukskasèaua améma kétokèima.

Kämá nínaua ánistàua Maistáupæni. Etsáutsima Ókoassi όχpsseea ki Máistaupænaa όχpsseea etsítæχtsoautòma amé maksínni.

shall be Belly-fat. Then she took him home with her. She began to take care of him. And then she was told by him: Hold me to these lodge-poles. When you hold me to the last one there, I shall be big. She held him to [all of] them successively. As she held him to them, he was growing. [When] she held him to the last one, then he was again as he had been before. And then there was a man [who had] three children, all girls, all nice-looking. And then that man said: He who kills that prairie-chicken first [of] all the young men shall have that, eldest daughter of mine as his wife. And all the men shot at it. And Belly-fat said to his mother: Make me a bow and arrow, I shall go there and shoot at that prairie-chicken. And he was told by his mother:[?] it seems he thinks, that he might get a wife. You will never hit it. Bellyfat kept on telling his mother instead [of what she told him] to make him a bow and arrow. And she made him a bow and arrow]. He went out with them. And he came to those who were shooting. And they told him: Come on, Belly-fat, it is your turn to shoot. Then, as he did his first shot, he killed it. And every-body shouted. And those men all ran to that prairie-chicken.

And there was a man [who] was called Crow-arrow. He pulled out Belly-fat's arrow and put Crow-arrow's arrow in its place

Ketanéua: Nistóa nítoàua. Kännimaie amékse nínäks etanéea: Ókoassaa enetséuaie. Maistópanaa miskskáuaneua: Nestóaa nitsénitàua. Kimá nínnaua etanístseua otómay kotàni: Ketákitòmi koassaa. Kännimaie etanéua: Nemátå zkotsit omix patsiks, kapsseua. Aitoxtaukitskauaie. Kämá kanáinakstsimma etanistseua únni: Nestóaa tákitòmi. Stámitòmeua Ókoassa. Kvónistsiks äskχsotàyemeea. Mátoχtaikèuatsiksäks. Kämé ómaxksimmi únnistsi stámitomèuaie Maistópani. Kännimaie áisamoa mátsitànena amá nínau: Anάγkaye sikotátåyeua. Ekyákatseuaaie ómi stsíki netánni ákoxkematseua. kyekyakeua únnasinaa. Kännimaie nåxkótsototèkyakeua. Okoassaa Otsítanik oksístsi: A'xkakitsikyakeua etákyakeua. Stámikyakatseua amé sikotátùyei. Maistópana mátsitaxtsuaitstseuaie otsíkyakvatsisea. Ketanéua: Nistóaa netsíkvakatàua. Kimékse nínäks isksinímmiaua Okoassa otsíkyakatysáayi. Kimá nínau stámatoxkematsènä amé otáni Maistópanaa. Stámistokammea otoxkémäks. Kännimaie áisamoa Ókoassaa áikokoa etápistotsimma okóayea. Etómaxkapistatsimmaiea. Kyotaxkemani etsiksíkapistotá yeua. Kyotokániaie etsínnapistatsimmaie. Pekánni mátapistotækeua. Kyostùyi etsiksíkapistota \ \chi seua. Kyotokània etsínnapistotsimma. Kyákapinakòa etsákapùa. Kännimaie áitotoa kámixtaists. Otsítakaua pia etásekotsimästs. Akauayästs. Etsítoχ-

on that carcase. And he said: I shot it. And then those men said: [No,] Belly-fat killed it. Crow-arrow still kept saying: I killed it. And that man told his eldest daughter: You shall marry Belly-fat. Then she said: I shall not marry him, he is very dirty. She was vomiting from [seeing] him. And that youngest [daughter] of all said to her father: I shall marry him. Then she married Belly-fat. And her sisters were always making fun of her. She did not mind them at all. And that eldest sister of hers then married Crow-arrow. And then, after a long while, that man again said: There is a black fox. He [who] traps it shall marry that other daughter of mine. And all the men set traps. And then Belly-fat went out and set a trap. He was told by his mother, that he must set a trap [she means, that his trapping would not be of any use]. So he set a trap. Then he trapped that black fox. Crow-arrow again put it in his [own] trap. And he said: I trapped it. And those men knew, that Belly-fat had trapped it. And Crow-arrow then again married that man's daughter. Then he had two wives. And then, after a long while, Belly-fat during the night transformed his lodge. He transformed it [into a] large [lodge]. And his wife he made very clean. And her hair he made long. He also made goods. Himself too he made very clean. And

kənåxtomästs. Kiméa ksíksskoa etsána tòma. Ketá potsematomästs nesóåia, maáyi ixtsákoχpotsèmästs. Otómåχtsisàuoχp otoχkiméstsema kamixpótsaksästs tástsima etámisauxkanàyästapiksisàyä ixkanáiniuaseaua. Kiméksìkskuyea ksikonístauasèua. Kimé pískan etsetápiskuyeuäks. Stámoxtåχpàipeeäks amé spée. Kyáukanå paipèeäks et káyeua. Etamatápèema: nístseua améma A'nåχkαnàipoἇk kάχ kitotìnnotaxpuàua. Anáxkaye ksíkunìstaua, enáuksauotok. Etoxkénautùinautàua. Etámisauksènaueeàiia améma ksíkunistänea otsítspixtsissea. Stámamatopànnautàua. Stámoχkanauaxkàyeua. Ketapinakòa manistsæpsèa ánnòma matápeuama etsínima améma ómαχkauyis. Stámisksinimiaua: Ókoassàua okóuayea ánnimauk. Kämá akékozna ónistsiks etsitápuyea. Stámitsipèmäks okóayea. Ketsinímmäks otáxsissea. Kämá akékoαna ixtáukitskàua Ókoassi etsenåyeuaie otskáitsoaupssä. Etanístseuaie: Netákitòmi. Ókoassaua etanístseuaie: Saksist, tsématoxtàukitsk. Káisamoa Akai-Pekàneuaa maäks etókepåxpùyiua. A'psseea ixtápαχρùyoäks. Autsiksístsipaxpakisästs etáyistapiksimmiauästs. Okoassaa pétauanokea otómå ztà novosspists. Oto zkéman mάχtsipαχpàksi etoxkótsenästs maάyä. Ixtsitápαχρòyinä. Autsiksístsipaxpakènä ketséstapeksimminästs. Ótapesina motókasitòmästs. Maistópana otoxkéman naxkítoχkotsèua áχpssests máχ-

his hair he made long. And towards morning he went out. And then he came to [some] buffalochips. Where there were most of them, he gathered them. He got lots of them. He put them in a row. And there was a white stone, he put it among them. And he frightened them four times, his robe he frightened them. When he [had] frightened times, and those four them buffalo-chips all ran away, they all turned into buffalo. And that white stone turned into a white calf. And he drove them to the corral. Then they jumped down from that high cliff. And [when] they were all jumping down from it, he went home. He said to those people: Get up, all of you, to go butchering the carcases. There is a white calf, do not take it. They all went to butcher the carcases. Then they saw, there was a white calf lying among them. Then they began to butcher the carcases. Then they all went home. And [when] it was morning and they looked, all the people there saw, there was a large lodge. Then they all knew: Belly-fat's lodge, that is it. And that girl's sisters went to her. They just came into her lodge. And they saw how fine it was. And that girl [who had] vomited from Belly-fat then saw that he was a good-looking man. She told him: I shall marry [you]. Belly-fat said to her: Get out, I nearly vomit from you. And

tsipαχpàkssea. Peksáuanokea ixtánoyositå χpästs. Áutsiksistsipαχpakenä etséstapiksiminäästs. Mátsitstsixpaa άχkotsimeästs améstsek ápssestsik. Maistópana stámetapsstå yiseua saåχkótsissea όχpssestsi.

Kännimaie áisamoa étståyeua. Okoassaa etákooatseua otápáxsuyetseksi. Otsítomämmikoxpia stáma z tapoàu a z kaua. Káisimitapòuayea étskxkayeua. Kónskui amékse matséks nétsitázkonáutstseua. Otáipissea améea kónskui etsipákeuaseaua. Otoxkéman etanístseua: Matsítaua. Stámotsìminästs. Anáukoχksists améstseea pákixpistsea etsitápepoxtomästs únsstsi. Otsítanikaie: Tsimá ketsítosìnästsàua? Etanístseuaie: A'nnómaa otápistotaksinästs. Otsítanik únssts: Tsánetapistotsìmmatsiksists? Ketanístseuaie: Otástámakoauatseua påxsuyetseks kixtsitápoauαχkàua kónskuyea. Kyotáisksipissea améea kóniskuyea etoχkánautstseea matséks. Etsipá-

after a long while the ancient Peigans brushed their robes by hitting them. They brushed them with arrows. When they had done brushing with them, they threw them away. Belly-fat trimmed his arrows with eagle-feathers. He gave them to his wife to brush her robe with them. She brushed it with them. [When] she had done brushing with them, she threw them away. All the people grabbled for them. Crowarrow [too] gave his wife his arrows to brush with. Common feathers [it were] with which he [had] trimmed his arrow. [When] she had done brushing [with them] she threw them away. There was no one who took those arrows. Then Crow-arrow got ashamed that nobody took his arrows.

And then after some time it was winter. Belly-fat put on his weasel-skin leggings. Where the snow was very deep, he just went walking through with them. And [when] he had walked through, he went back home. There was snow all over those leggings of his. When he came in, that snow turned into cherries. He said to his wife: Take them Then she took them. Half of those cherries she took to her elder sister. She was told by her: Where did you pick them? She said to her: He there, my husband, made them. She was told by her elder sister: How did he make them? And she answered her: He just put on his weaselkeuaseua. Káisamoa amá Maistópana etstáua: Netáko χ k α nästs Ókoassaa otánixtsixpia. Ketápayakoauatseua otáp $\alpha\chi$ soyetseks. Ketsákseua. Kiméma otsítomimmekä χ pia st α mitapuau $\alpha\chi$ kaua. Káisamoa kónskui áitakautstseua. Eto χ káyeua. Stámepèma. Käméea kónskui otáiksistuyissea etsistsítseua. Áisekonästaua Maistópana m $\alpha\chi$ ksip α keuassea. Stámetsinästsitsèua.

skin leggings and went walking through the snow with them. And when he came back in, that snow was all over his leggings. It all turned into cherries. And after a long while that Crowarrow thought: I shall do the same thing that Belly-fat did. And so he put on his weaselskin leggings. And he went out. And there where the snow was very deep, he went walking through. And after a long while snow was all over [his leggings]. He went home. Then he came And when that snow had got warm, it melted away. Crowarrow was waiting, wondering, [for it] that [the snow] would turn into cherries. It just melted all away.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck obt 23 sqq., nsbt 144 sqq.]

Buffalo-cow woman.

Kännäksaukeea amékse manikápeea ixtápoauαχkayaua. Ketsetótoyaua amé enásenea enénä skénä. Túkskæm amékse manikápeks ótstαχtsimautsisea istsitáχkematseua améma skéneema. Stámestapuyau. Kännimaie áisamoa kimá skéne etokóseua. Etanístseua amé ókosi: Kínnaa ákitapàuop. Stámäχtòyaua. Kiméstsema moyésts áistäχkemiaua kimá skéneua etanístseua οχκúi: Stápot kínnaa káχkitanistaua

There were some young men, they were going about. They came to a buffalo, a female [that] had got stuck [in the snow]. One of those young men pricked that buffalo-cow with his gun-rod in her vulva. Then they went away. And then, after some time, that buffalo-cow [lit. female animal] got a child. She said to her child: We shall go to your father. Then they went. And [when] they came close to those camps,

mάχksipuχsapuχsea. Kimá unistáχs stámisαχkùmapeuaseua. Otokís aiksínnatseua. Kyotsítanik oksísts: Omima ómαχkuyima moyísima, znnimayi kitákitapu, άnnimayi etáupeua kännaa. Κάχkitanìstaua mάχksipuχsapuχsea. Kämá unistάχs stámitapų améma moyésema. Stámitsipemaie. Otáitsipissayea amé únni otsítaupixpia stámitapuua. Ketanistseuaie: Ninná, näksísstaa kitáuanik kάχkitapuzsea ómim etáupeua. Kämá nínnaua áiksistotsiseua ketanístseua amé oχkúi: Okí, άχkitsitapàuopa ánnaxk keksístaa otsítaupíxpia. Stámitapùyaua. Otaitotåχsaua amá nínnau otssámαχsea amé aké stámekitsdakenä. Etanístseuaie: A' xsaa ket ámå xtanìkixpea? Kyotsítanikaie: Kenátå xkà nästo. Annå xk ketsksinixpaa ómima akékoniskûyema annάχkayi skéneua etånaseua kétstaxtsimatsisea? Kitâmâxtsitαχkèmataua. Kextsitåkoseua améea kitámå \u03c4ta \u03c4 kemata \u03c4 pea. Ketanístseuaie: A, nítsksinoaua. Kyotsítanikaie: Annåχk nestóaa ánnauk annáχk kitáχkematàuαχk. Annáχk nitákitòmi. Ketanístseuaie: A, sokápeua kázkitòmisea. Sautámozpukzkayemeuaie.

that buffalo-cow told her son: Go and tell your father to come here. And that calf just turned into a boy. He had his hide for robe. And he was told by his mother: Yonder there is a large lodge, there you shall go, there your father is staying. Tell him to come her. And that calf then went to that lodge. Then he went in. When he came in, he just went to [the place] where his father was [sitting]. And he said to him: My father, my mother tells you to come yonder [where] she is [sitting]. And [when] that man had done smoking, he told that son of his: Come on, let us go where that mother of yours is staying. Then they went away. When they came to her [and] that man looked at her, that woman was a very finelooking woman. He said to her: What [is the reason] why you told me [to come]? And he was told by her:....[?] Now do you remember, there was a buffalo-cow, yonder in that snow-drift, [which] was pricked [by you] with your gun-rod? By that means you made her your wife. And that one, whom you made your wife with it, got a child from it. And he told her: Yes, I remember her. And he was told by her: Now I am that one whom you made your wife. Now I shall marry [you]. And he said to her: Yes, it is all right that you marry [me]. Then he went home with her.

Kiméma otáutåχsea kyotsítanik amé otozkémani: Tókskaua ketákznisto. Ekamókimokenekea istséea pénå tsakauayatkyokit. Kännimaie áisamoa mánistå xkèmixpea etátsimaua. Otátsimanea otáutsisisea ketávayketsèua okóayea. Kimé otoxkéman etanístseuaie mάχkapistutsisaayea. Mátiskaksaveuavea. Kännimaie nánauäksistotsiseua. Ketanistseua amé otoχkéman: Kemáuksäsokapistotsisk? Etsáuäskaksayeua άχkitseea. Kännä otaiksistanistysaie ketótsim amék istsék. Kitåxkéman ixtsitáuayakeuaayea. Kyάχkomåχkåχtaiksistauayakeuaayea netánenä: Énistaka xsi, kaäuaa makásatsis. Kämá onistáχs maáyi etókasatseua. Kyoksísts etsáχpaipeènäa. Ketámisokankèua otómitasinaa. Manistsäpsea tsiskaie otozkéman enéenä. Nätsiksikinäminä όχsoyìseaie. Kämé οχκύi netúyi mátanistsenea, unistáχsinä amíxk otómåxtòkskassäks. Kännimaie otástanepesäks ixksinåyeuäks. Káisamoa etanístseua únni: Tákotsissαmaua nitoχkéman. Kyotsítanikaie: Tsimá ketáketoxkonoàuatsiks? Ketanistseuaie: Netáko konoaua, Kännimaie ketomátooa. Sotámaxtapauaxkaua. Káisamoa etsetóto enéuaa. Ketápasαmmeua oχkúi Énistakäχse. Ketäχkónoyeuaie. Etanístseuaie: Tsíki, matánistsis kaiksístaa αχkétsapuχsapuyi. Kämá unistάχsa oksísts etotánistseua. Stámitotoyinea. Amá nínaua oto xkémani ketanístseuaie: Annåχk kímmokit, άχκατοχροκχκαγορα.

And when they came there, he was told by his wife: One thing I shall tell you. If you get angry with me, do not try to hit me with fire. And then, a long time after he was married, he had invited [some people]. [After] they were all invited, [when] he was smoking, his lodge was filled with smoke. So he told his wife to redress it. [The smoke] could not clear up. And then he had finally done smoking. And he said to his wife: Why did not you put it right? The smoke cannot clear up. And when he had told her this, he took a fire-stick there. And he hit his wife with it. Immediately after he had hit her with it, she said [to her son]: Holds-leg-up, take your robe. And that calf took its robe. And his mother jumped out. And then suddenly all the dogs barked. As he looked what it was, [he saw that] his wife was a buffalo. She held up her tail. And her son also did the same thing, he was a calf, when they were running there. And that was [the last] he saw of them when they got out of sight. And after some time he told his father: I am going to look for my wife. And he was told by him: Where shall you find her? And he answered him: I shall find her. And then he started. Then he went about. And after a long while he came to some buffalo. And he was looking for his son Holds-leg-up. And he found him. He said to

Kyotsítanikaie: Á, άkαtχροkχkayopa. Ekséikoa nitákαtχροkχkayopea. Aikókosea áksipαskayea unistáχsiks. Kitákαnikoa kåχkóaa kάχksinαχsea sakűxpeisaua. Nesóuea kokúia sayitánoaipαχtsèinαkenikea άkαtχροkχkαyopa.

Káikokoa. Kyotsítanik oχkúi: Aumatápotakispienänikea nitáketumekaki. Känneayi ketákitsinnåki. Stámikokoa. Ketomátapep∝skàua. Kämé nínayi otsítanik: Annåχk ámåksea unistάχsiksea kåχkóaa eínänikea kitákαtχροkχkayemaa kitoχkémanaa. Nisóâya kokúya ákitsipæskàyaua sayetúnoapaχtsèinakenikea käχkúaa stakitákαtâχkαχsoa. máyinänikea ákomætåpixpeeaua. Kännåxk Ketomátapixpeeaua. Káisamotαkixpeeaua. Ketanistaua amá nínaua: Auké, kåχkóa tayá? Känni anistxsea Énistakåxseuaa etsétomikàkeua. Stámisksinåyena οχkúyi otáinoαχsea otsétomikåχsea. Stámineuä. Ketanistaua: A'nnauk αnnάχk kåχkóaa. Kaipinåkusea aikókosea ákatsipaskayea unistáχsiks. Kännåxk áiksistsipæskayaua. Stamánitoyaua. Kämá ninaua otoχkéman stámoχpokàupemeua.

him: Boy, go and tell your mother, that she must come here. And that calf went and told his mother. Then she came to him. And that man said to his wife: Now pity me, let us go home together. And he was told by her: Yes, we shall go back home together. It is very difficult for us to go back home together. When it is night, the calves will have a dance. You will be told, that you must recognize your son [among them] while they are dancing. If you do not make a mistake in picking him out during four nights, we shall go back home together.

And it was night. And he was told by his son: When we start dancing in a circle I shall lift up one of my legs. And then you will catch me. They began to dance. And he was told by that chief: Now if you catch your son [among] those calves, you shall go back home together [with] your wife. Four nights they will dance, if you do not make a mistake in picking out your son, if you catch him rightly, you shall have a wife again. And now they will start dancing. And they danced around for a long time. And [then] that man was told: Come on, which is your son? And when he was told this, Holds-leg-up lifted up one of his legs. [The man] immediately knew his son when he saw, that he lifted up a leg. Then he caught him. And he was told: That is

Apinåkuyea otátsikokχsea stámαtsipaskayea anistáχsiks. Οχκύγι otsítanik: Annaxkaye tákanaukapanåχs.Stámomαtapotαkixpèeaua. Ketanistaua amá ninaua: Auke, tayá αnnάχk koχkóaa? Otáyåχtsimisea Énistäkåxseuaa etanáukapanåχseua. Kimá nínnaua stámisksináyeua ozkúyi. Stámineuaie. Kämé nínayi otsítanik: A'nnauk αnnάχk kåχkóaa. Nátokaya áketatsitsipæskayaua kokúya. Mætsiksistsikuyea stámatayaxkimea. Stámætsikòkoa. Kimátsitsipæskàyea unistάχsiks. Kännimayi omátsitanik oχkúyi: Annå xk nåχsoyísea tákspinnixp. Stámatomatapepæskàyaua. Ketanistaua amá nínaua: Auke, tayá αnnάχk kåxkóaa? Otáyåxtsimisea Énistäkåχseuaa etspínnima åχsoyísea. Kyánni sótæminaukaie kvotsítsinokaie. Kyotsítanik: A'nnauk αnnάχk käχkóaa. Káitokskaua ketoχksístanea[?] páskanea ketákitåχkimαχpea.

Apinákuyea amá nínaua etanístseua unistáχsiks: Λημάχk átsipæskänoanikea ássammok Énis-

him, that son of yours. And tomorrow night they will have a dance again, the calves. And now they have done dancing. Then they separated. And that man then stayed together with his wife. Next day, when it was night again, then the calves had another dance. He was told by his son: This time I shall shut one of my eyes while dancing. Then they began to dance in a circle. And that man was told: Come on, which is that son of yours? When Holds-leg-up heard this, he shut one of his eyes. And that man immediately knew his son. Then he caught him. And he was told by that chief: That is him, that son of yours. Two more nights they will have a dance. Then they stopped [dancing]. Then during the following day he was waiting again. Then it was night again. And the calves had another dance. And then again he was told by his son: Now I shall hold up my tail. Then they began to dance again. And that man was told: Come on, which is that son of yours? When Holds-leg-up heard this, he held up his tail. And he was instantly recognized and caught by his father. And [the father] was told by [the chief]: That is him, who is your son. And there is still one more dance...[?] and you will have to wait yet.

In the morning that chief said to the calves: Now, when you have a dance again, watch Holdstäkαχseuaa. Otánistsixpia stámåχkanauanistsik. Stámikòkoa. Mátsisipaskàvaua. Kännimavi átanistaua ama ninaua otátotakixpiesäks: Auke, tayá kåzkóaa? Kűnistaikäxseuaa etanáukopistokyakeua. Kimékse αnistάχsiks otáinauαχsaua amé Enistaik a x si otanáukopistokyaksä ketåχkánauanaukopistokyakea. Kämá otsámmax sea ninaua amékse unästáxsiks ixkanáuanaukopistokyakeäks. Stámisautsistapimmeua oχkúyi. Otáisiksksinisea οχκύγι amékse unistάχsiks otaχkánåχpokyanistsissäks kimátsitanauketomikå zsenä. Kyáksinneuaie kimékse unistázsiks mátsitokαnauαnauketomikåχseia. nimayi únni etsépaztseinakenea. Peitsóoxksipaxtsèinakenä kimóya enéua etsisímiskå ztovenaie. Kixpitásoksitsipatakayayopa. Káisamoa nétsipioåxpatskoaua amá nínaua. Kämóya enéuaya etánetòa. Kännimayi otáisamo z sea únni etanístsenea amékse mamäatsikimeea: Kémauksaupasammauaisks kínnoauaa ekaménetzkea? Amátxtxkonimak ostómia emaksénakåχtsea pótok. Kimékse mamäatsikimiks stámapssammeaua. Káisamoa ketsitótoyaua améma etsénitχpea amé únnoauaie. Stámåxtåxkonimayauaie otokáneaie. Kexpítχkayeauaie. Stámaχpotòyauaie. Ketanístseeauaie únnyai: Kámáyaya otokána, netoxkónixpinana. Kämá nínaua améea otokánea etsékema amé aksíni. Kyoχkúyi otókimaatsisèayi etótsimaie ketsístokemaie. Nesóaya istókem-

leg-up. Immediately do the same thing that he does. Then it was night. They had a dance again. Then again that man was told when they were dancing around again: Come on, which is your son? And Holds-leg-up held one of his ears down. And when those calves saw, that Holds-leg-up held one of his ears down, they all [too] held one of their ears down. And when that man looked at those calves, they were all holding one of their ears down. Then he could not find out his son [among the other calves]. When his son knew, that those calves all did the same thing after him, then he held one of his legs up. But [when] he [the father] was about to catch him, those calves too all held one of their legs up. And then his father caught the wrong one. As soon as he caught the wrong one, all those buffalo shouted at him. And they all ran over him. And after some time that man was all trampled to pieces. And those buffalo all went home. And then, when it was a long time afterwards, his father said to some mag-pies: Why do not you go to look for your master, in case he might have been killed? Try to find something of his body, even if it is a small piece, bring it here. And those mag-pies then looked for him. And after a long time they came to [the spot] where their master had been killed. Then they found some of his ayea. Kyoχkúyi etámisauksipaupenea. Kyotsítanikaie: Enéuaa netsénik. Kinnáχk nitákαtsitapu.

Stámatomatoa. Käisamoa etsitóto enéi. Kyautåxkémani etápssæmeua. Stámâχkonâyeuaie. Ketanístseuaie: Annåχk ákoχpokχkayopa. Kimé nínayi otsítanik: Akipætsipæskayea unistáysiks kάχkitåχροkχkayemaua ketåχkémanaa. Ketanistseuaie: Nimátakataxkixpaa annixk páskanea, tákstαmåχpokχkayemaua netåχkémanaa. Sautámå zpok zkavemeuaie. Kämá nínaua mátatsepuveuaa. Káisamoa stámiskotòyaua. Káisamoa amá nínaua otsítanik: Annåxk kímokit, istséa pinátåxtauayakyokit. Matåxtáuyakyokènikea kännaxkaye kimátakætsinoänokixpaa. Káisamoa amá nínaua mætsítsistsimmeua otoxkémani. Kiméea istséea etótsima kixtsitauayakeua otoxkémani. Stámotoyenä maáyi ket-Káisamoa etanístseua síksenä. oχkúyi: Énistäkåχsei, kaiksístaa pókesaksist káχkitsammaua tsimáχtaua etapóαχtautsiks. Kämá sαχkúmapeua etanístseua únni: Amo sauάχtse etáyokaua. Káisamoa amá nínaua etanístseua oχkúyi: Keksístaa ksekénis άχhair. And they went back home with it. Then they came [home] with it. And they told his father: Here is [some of] his hair, we found it. And the man covered up that hair in the bed. And he took his son's drum and beat it. Four times he beat it. And then his son suddenly got up. And [his father] was told by him: Buffalo killed me. And now I shall go back [to them] again.

Then he went out again. And after a long while he came to [some] buffalo. He looked for his wife. Then he found her. And he said to her: Now we shall go home together. And he was told by that chief: The calves will have another dance, that you may go home with your wife. And he [the man] told him [the chief]: I am not going to wait for that dance, I shall just go home with my wife. So he just went home with her. And that chief did not say anything more. And after some time they came back home. After a long while that man was told by her [his wife]: Pity me this time, do not hit me with fire. This time you shall not see me anymore if you hit me again with it. After some time that man again got angry with his wife. And he took some fire [-stick] and hit his wife with it. She just took her robe and went out. And after a while he told his son: Holdsleg-up, go out after your mother, that you may look whither she went. And that boy told his

kitsipema. Kämá sαχkúmapeua oksísts etáksikineua. Mátäskaksipuàumatsiksinea. Kimá nínaua etsetápsäkseuaie ketsipásokineuaie. Ket źmisoksìn âyeu aie źkauksikìnakimminä. Matatsinoaipuauatsiksinea. Kyoχkúyi stámetaχpuksipätapeemeua Enistäkäxsei.

father: Here outside she is sleeping. And after some time that man told his son: Wake your mother, that she may come in. And that boy tried to wake his mother. She could not get awake. And that man went out to her and uncovered her. And he suddenly saw that she was already nothing but bones. She never got up again. And then his son Holdsleg-up only was living with him. [Cf. Uhlenbeck obt 18 sqq.,

nsbt 134 sqq.

Wolverine woman.

Amá nínau sámeua. Etsetótoa améksèma áuakaseea. Staménitseua túkskami. Aumatapiitseuaie. Etámisoksinoyeua amék akénea otsitapoáuzykanea; ekítsoakènä. Auakaseuaie osókasimeaie. Stámitotòyinaie. Otáitotâxsaie etamátnétsetseemimminä. seuaie Etanístseuaie: Otokea kitákstauixpaa? Otsítanikaie: Á, táksuyi ótokea. Ketsésoyeuaie. Otáuyisä etséstaputkkoxkyakènä. Stámisksinäyeuaie otsáyitapakesä. Etsáutuyi unámaie ketanístseuaie: Á, émaneua netápakeua. Kétskunækætseuaie. Ketséstapukskasènä tsisskáie íssistsenea. Otáinoαχsaie ketamyáupeua ketaχká yeua. Stámotoa. Otáipissea etanístseua otoxkémani mánistsapixpia. Ketamátoma istséea. Ketséni.

There was a man [who] went out hunting. He came to some deer. Then he killed one. He began to cut it to pieces. Then he suddenly saw, there was a woman who was coming towards him; she was a very fine-looking woman. Her dress was [of] deerskin. Then she came towards him. When she had come to him, he smelled her [that] her smell was sweet. He told her: Shall you eat kidney? She said to him: Yes, I shall eat kidney. So he gave her some. While she was eating she turned her face away from him. Then he knew her, that she was not a real woman. So he took out his gun and he said to her: Yes, she is right, she is a real woman. And he shot at her. Then she, who was a wolverine ran away. When he

saw her, he got on his horse and went back home. Then he came [home]. When he came in, he told his wife what he had seen [lit. how he saw]. And he smelled the fire. He died.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck obt 60 sq.]

The boy who was left in an eagle-nest.

Amékse sαχkúmapi nátsitapeeaua ápasameaua. Etsetótoyaua amé spáyistàksskoa. Otótamissäpsaua etsenímmiaua amé oyésa. Ksikixkínenea amésk étoyèyisk. Okosíksa etsápaupeea. Túkskammaa amékse sαχkúmapeksi etanéea: Tsáxtaua ákåxkaniståxkototoauaxtaa. Túkskammaa minépokàua. Etanéua amá minépo-Mátàkåxkototoauäksaua. kàua: Kimé otákayi otsítanik : Nitáisksixtákå xkototo à xpeaua. Etanístseuaie : Tsaá ákaniståχkototoàuäksaua. Kyotsítanikaie: Kitáksinnaupeno kάγkitotoayea améksèma enákimeksèma. Autoanikyaua kitákatsitskamiskapat. Mátsikopúmatsiks. Ketanístseuaie: A, kyάnni ákanistsopa. Kyotsítatsistokinipikai. Kyotsitsinäpotokiméksèma enákimeksèma áitsapipùyeua oyésoayea. Kyákotuyeua túkskàmmä. Ketámisaukuxtùveua otαkayi otanéssea: Napé, táksestapu, pokápemis anéksèma enákimèksèma. Kiméea etsetótsinnapiksimminä. Kétsåxkàuaseneua. Käitapauatsimåixkameuaie mάχkatskæme-

There were boys, they were two, [who] went out hunting. They came to some high cliff. When they looked down from it, they saw there was a nest. It was a white-headed eagle that had its nest [there]. Its young ones were in it. One of those boys said: How shall we be able to get them? One of them was a rich boy. That rich boy said: We shall not be able to get them. But that friend of his said to him: It occurs to me how we shall get them. [The other] told him: How shall we get them? And he was told by him: I shall let you down with a rope, that you may take those young ones. When you take them, I shall pull you up again. [The other] was not afraid. And he said to him: Yes, that is [what] we shall do. So he was tied under his shoulders [to a rope]. And he was let down by him to [the place where] those young ones were standing in their nest. And he was about to take one of them. Then he suddenly heard

pèissä. Stámisksistapõyinä. Käisamoa etsenâyeua amé ksíkixkìnnei améma spóχtsima. Käsαmèuai. Ketsitápinyauanènä. Stámitotòpenä. Ketauátsimäixkameuaie mάχksikimèsä mάχkstainèsä. Mátsikixtokatsiksä. Káisamoa otάkàyi otáut x kaisea etanistsenä únni: Annάχk kåχkóaa netátsautsemaua, kátamautoatsiksi? Kyotsítanikaie: Mátomautoatsiks.

Kännimayi amá sαχkúmapeua amékse ksikixkínäipokaks mátataipistsimokäks. Káisamoa amá ksíkixkineua améksisk onistάχsiks otsínnimámiks ástamitotsipotuyeua amé sαχkúmapei amé otsí-Kämá sαχkúmapeua taupixpä. etáätsèuäks. Kimékse enákimèkse áistαmåχpùksoyèmeua. Kyáukuyìsaua kyostúyi amé onistάχsema éksisakuyea etáyitsitsima. Etáxksimasts natósi. Kämé tsíkixkinei åχkéa otsítautsipåχtòka mάχksimatåχpea. Käisamoa amá sαχenákimeks kúmapeua amékse skátomaikòanèmeua. Kiméstse otsétsitsimanists áisamitstsesea etáitseästs natósi. Käisamoa amékse enάkimeks skatαmómαχkimiaua.

his friend say: Partner, I am going away, stay with those little ones. And he dropped the rope down to him. Then [the other] cried aloud. And he was praying and begging him to let him come up again. [But the other] then walked away from him. And after some time [the boy who was left in the nest] saw that white-headed eagle up there in the air. And he was watching her. Then she came flying down to him. Then she sat down near him. And he prayed to her, to pity him, not to kill him. She did not do him any harm. And when his friend, after some time, came home, he said to his [friend's] father: Is that son of yours already back, we lost each other? And he was told by him: He is not yet back.

And then that boy who was left in the nest] was not afraid of the white-headed eagle's young ones. And after some time that white-headed eagle would drop some calves, her prey, down to [the place] where the boy was sitting. And the boy would skin them. And he would eat together with those young ones. And when they had got enough, and he himself too, he would cut that calf's flesh to slices. He would dry them in the sun. And that white-headed eagle would bring him water to drink. After a while that boy would play those young ones. And when that sliced flesh had been

Omá saxkúmapeua mátatakixkìnätakìuatsiks. Kimékse enákimeks sótæmænistsàkäks ánnea ómåypapèixpeäks. Käisamoa skátamαnistopinnauminneäks. Kännimayi skátæmassáksiputayäks. Kännimayi áisamoa skátamapotáyäks. Améma säänisuxtsima etáutauaneäks. Käitsemætsenäks istsänyapauauαχkasäks. Käisamóssea mátsitəskitapamyananeäks. Känneayi mátsitsestapàuaneäks. Stámèstapipyàuaneäks. Ketsíkixkinitakeua otäisamissäks. Käyiksisamoa étskotòyäks. Kimé auksístoauauyä otsítanik sαχkúmapeua: amá Kitákαχkayi. Annóma ketáyiksisamitopi. Kiskäks ketséksìkimayea. Nestóa ketséksíkimo nokósiks ketsekímαχsea. Kinnáχk ákaumαχkimeàua, nitáksistapuxpinàna. ksistóa Kinnå xk kitákåχkαχkaye, kéksòkoäks kάχkitsinaukea. Ketanistseuaie: Sekétametæki niták zkayisea, tsékåxtaxsetaki ketsikímmoksea.

Kyotsítanikaie: Annáχk kokósi kitákåχkætsìtsauk ænnóma, apinákusea kitákitsìnnepyu kάχkitχkaie. Kokúyi matsínoayokàuatsiks otsétametæksea otàkχkaisea.

lying there for some time, it would be cooked by the sun. After a while those young ones were getting big. The boy did not get lonesome any more. And by those young ones he was treated like [one of] their own brothers. After some time their wings were growing long. And then they would try to fly. And then after a while they would fly. They flew as far as down below there [to the ground]. And he would long for them when they were walking about down below. After a long time they would fly up back to him again. And then they would fly away again. Then they flew far away. And he got very lonesome after they had left him for a long time. And after a very long time they came back to him. And the boy was told by their mother: You shall go home. You have been staying here a long time. You pitied your younger brothers very much. I myself pity you, because you treated my children well. And now they have grown big, we are going away. And now you yourself shall go home, that your parents may see you. And he [the boy] told her: I am very glad because I shall go home, I feel very happy because you pity me.

And he was told by [the eagle]: To-night you shall sleep here once more, to-morrow I shall take you down, that you may go home. During the night

Stámapinakoa. Kyotsítanika amé petáyi: Áuki, nápstsákit, kitáksinnepyu. Ketsápstsakeua. Kyotkixpitsínnäpotänä. sítsinnokávi Ketámisauk xk xkuyeua ksάχkùmmi. Kyotsítanikaie: Auke, ánisapit. Kétssapyu. Etámisauksìnima ksάχkum otsitáipuyisea. Kyotsítanikayi: Annåχk nókòsiks nitákskixpinàna nokúnnani, nitákitapuxpinana mestákists. Kimátakatsìnoanokixpinanaa. Kännåxk ksistóaa kitákxkayi. Känni otáiksistanèisä ketséstapepotayäks Oskitsipå pea sot źmisokósiks. sinimäks. Otáisoatsinau z z säks ketomátapαχkayeua. Kyákauayea ksetsekúists ketótxkayeua. Únni otsináyissea otsítanika: Nazkóaa άχkstαmåχtotoa otsiståsìnni. Etanístseua únni otákàvi otánistotuyixpia kimé pétàyi manistoxpokaupemazpea kimanistsinnäpeixpä. Kimátsitsinikùyeuaie otskáikimèssea amé pétayi. Kyotsítanik únni: Anníxk kitákauaa ketsítsamixpuayea otskótáxsea etanéua: Annάχk nitákauaa nitátsautsemaua. Annåχk nítsayepitskåχtok. Kyákå×tsipunixtaua kitánistotùyixpia. Stámenitänea otákàyi.

he did not sleep because he was so glad that he was to go home. Then it was morning. And he was told by the eagle: Come on, shut your eyes, I shall take you down. So he shut his eyes. And [the eagle] took him and flew down with him. All at once he felt the ground. And he was told: Come on, look out. So he looked. At once he saw, that he was standing on the ground. And [the eagle] said to him: Now my children [and me] are going to leave our home, we shall go to the mountains. You will never see us again. And now you yourself shall go home. And when [the eagle] had told him this [she and] her children flew away. They broke his heart. When he did not see them [any more] he set out home. And [after] many days he came home. When his father saw him, he told him: My son seems to come from the land of spirits. [His son] told his father how his friend had treated him and how he had been living with that eagle and how [the eagle] took him down. And he also related to him, that the eagle had treated him well. And he was told by his father: At the time when [you and] your friend went out hunting together [and] when he came back, he said [to me]: My friend [and me] lost each other. This he lied to me. And he shall pay for the way in which he treated you. Then his friend was killed.

Cannibal woman.

Ásinàua ekúnnaie. Amáma Omá nínaua ozkúyi istozkonáyaγsènea. Kimá matsínaua otáni istorkonávarsènea akéks. Amá akékozna stámitakomimmeua amé sαχkúmapei. Kyáukoa omá akéúnni otáxkauapixtàniks etséstapùyaua naxkétseima. Stámitokonayeaua. Kimá szykúmapeua matánauaipuyeuatsiks otoáuaypetsèa kanáiksistsikùists kokúistsi. Kännimaie únni otsítanik : Α΄ χsaa kitómåxtsoaipuixpia? Ketanístseuaie: Annάχk αkékoαnαγk netómá z tanistotok ixtoákomimmotseopia, netsématåχtàyåχtåχka zsi, netáiksimistatazsea. Etanístseua únni: Netáketapu, tákitsinautsèmaua. Kyotsítanikayi: Á, kitákitapu kitákipapistotomo auáamea. Túkskayea ekyótsiminä. Kyotsítanika únni: Ekamípåiniskukuinikea ámoya ekyótsixpea kaksipúzsapuztot stanét: Áyo, ninna! Kyákotázpeua. Nitáksksinixp kάχkanistspùmoχpea. Ketomátoa amá sαχkúmapèua. Stámoytapoàuâykàua. Kämé neetsitámisoa. Ketsínima améstsèma moyéstsema. Túkskayea áisetseua. Etstáua: Ómima tákitsipi áisetseima. Ketsetápomaie. Otáisauàyaxtsimisea matápea ákoχksèpuyea túkskayea améstsèma moyéstsèma etsípstsàtsema. Etsinåyeua améksèma enéea. Stsíkima omátsipstsatsissea netúvi matánistseua. $A'\chi$ kapáuyea otsípstsatsixpists netúyi ixkanánis-

There were some Crees [who] were camping. There was a chief [and] his son was the best-looking [man]. And there was another chief [and] his daughter was the best-looking one [of the] women. With that girl that boy then fell in love. And in the autumn that girl's father's people went away to some other place. Then they camped. And that boy would never talk because he was lovesick day and night. And then he was told by his father: What [is the reason] that you never talk? And [his son] told him: That girl applied some love-medicine to me, I am almost ill with it, because I always think of her. He said to his father: I shall go, I shall see her. And he was told by [his father]: Yes, you shall go [but] I shall make you [a pair of snow-shoes. One of them he painted red. And [the boy] was told by his father: If you are in a tight place, put the end of this one [that] I painted red in this direction [and] say: Help me, my father! I shall know it so that I may help you. Then that boy went off. Then he was going about. And there was a hill, [which] he ascended. And he saw, there were lodges. Out of one of them smoke was coming. Into that one there that is smoking I shall go in. So he went down to it. When he did not

taiseea [?]. Stámisksínima otoxkənáinisea ánnòma matápèema. Käméma áisetseima moyésima stámitapòa. Ketsíkinapstsatsima-Etsina'yeua amé akénea vea. etáupènea. Ékstànatsinàminaie. Stámonaveuaie, ánnyaukinea amé otápassamaie. A nnaye aáitokαmotàinea. Stámikinayistapua. Káipiòoa ketséstapukskasèua.

Káipiokskaseua kimá akékozna etsákseua. Manistsapssea etsínima sαχkúmapei a'χsokuists. Etaxpókesapükskasuaie. Káisamoa etáståxkuyeuaie. Etanistseuaie: Κάγksitapaikαmotαγρία. Kimá sαχkúmapeua otáuamia améea túkskayea ekyótsixpia etsátapiksimma. Ketsitápoztomaie otómaztapixtsixpia okóayea. Ketanéua: Ayu, ninna! Käméea auáamea stámaztazpeua kyúnni okóayea. Stámitotsipstå peua. Sakyauánåyosenea únni etsenímminä otáuaamea otsitótsipstå pisea. Ketanénea únni: Naχkóaa αχkséksipuiniskoaua. Stámiskovina amék auáamik otúmåxtotåxpeixpea. Stámaxtsksapõyimä. Mátomaipioatsiksini otsítsinàukaie. Ketanistseuaie: Ómak akéuak ánnakauk ánnaχk netákomimotsemaa. Aitapyòyeua, tápæskok. Ketanénea únni: Táksenetaua. Ketsetótaipeènä. Ketsékshear a person talking, he glanced into one of them. He saw, there were dead bodies. When he looked into the next one too, it was the same thing again. About six lodges into which he looked were just the same. Then he knew, that all the people there were dead. Then he went to that lodge that was smoking. He slowly looked in. He saw, there was a woman sitting. She looked very horrible. Then he recognized her, it was that one whom he was looking for. That was the only [being] that was alive. Then he slowly walked away. But when he had got far he ran away.

And [when] he had run far, that girl came out [of her lodge]. When she looked, she saw the tracks of that boy. So she ran after him. And after a long while she came near him. She told him: [I do not see] how you can save your life. And the boy threw off that one of his snowshoes that was painted red. And then he put it in the direction [of the place] where his lodge was. And he said: Help me, my father! And that snow-shoe then went to his father's lodge. Then it slipped in. His father, while busy making arrows, saw his snow-shoe slip in. Then his father said: My son must be in great danger. Then the snow-shoe went back to [the place] whence it came. Then he followed it back. He had not yet got far [when] he was seen by him [the boy].

kameuaie. Kännimaie etásimeuaie amá nínnaua. Amé otoχkémani ótsspomok kyåxkúyi. Mátiskàksenitsèuäksauaie. Kännimaie etséstsinimmaie oxkátsistsä kyotséstsä kyotokáneaie. Oxkátsistsä mátsitapåχpeeästs kyotsésts mátsitapå peea kyotokáneaie. Otáuanikoayauaie : Kitákaitskamåχpukimátozkotsenikixpuauaa. Kännimaie etotótayaua. Ketsétsiniseyauaie. Οχκάtsists kyotsésts kyokínea kyotokánea mátaupitsåχpia áistamætsksóyåxpætsèmiau-Kännimaie etsétsinitseästs. Ketsénenaie.

And [the boy] said to him: That woman there that is the one whom I loved. She is a cannibal, she is chasing me. And his father said: I shall kill her. Then they met her. They fought her. And then that man stabbed her. He was assisted by his wife and by his son. They could not kill her. Then he cut off her legs and also her hands and also her head. Her legs were bouncing up again from the ground and her hands too and also her head was bouncing up again from the ground. She was saying to them: I shall fight you, you will not be able to kill me. And then they built a fire. And they burned her. When her legs and her hands and her breast and her head jumped out of the fire again, they knocked them back into the fire. Then they were all burned. And so she died.

The man who was left on an island.

Amékse akámotsèea étsoköyeyaua ómαχksikimi. Túkskαmmaa
etanéua: Α΄χkunapistotakyopa
άχkyåχsàtsea. Ómima minéima
άχkitsitapαχkyåχsopa. Ketápistatakèaua άχkyåχsatsea. Ketsitápαχkyåχsèaua. Stámitautòyaua.
Etomátapominskàyaua. Kämá kαtáukemìua áukakyosatsèua ame
ixkéme. Ástsòyinä améma atsóaskuyima. Ketsetápukskasèua améma άχkyåχsatsisima. Stámitsapò-

There were camping two friends near a large lake. One of them said: Let us make a boat. Let us row to that island over there. So they made a boat. And they began to row. Then they arrived. They began to pick up feathers. And the unmarried man was watching the married man. He [the married man] went into the brushes there. Then [the other] ran away to the boat. Then

piuaie. Ota′ksinok otάkaie. Etanístseuaie: Napé, αnna′χk άnni átanistses ketákotamatsitototosàmo. Ketasáinänä otákàya. Kyostóvi stámopitsisiuoa Ketanístseua amékse otoxkémaiksaie: Annάχk netákàuaa améma minéima otsénik. **z**nnéskaie kyayóyinea Etanístseuäks: Ákopakèeopa. Stámopakeeua. Stámozkematseuaie otákayi amékse otáχkémaksayi. Otákayi otáina`isea otopakésea ketasáinenea. Ketomátapenitsènä saäks. Ketomàtapuisènä. Kyáukasaäks. Kiméstsea naixsuveaua ménistsea áixkitseea. Ketomátapuatsimaxkaua. Káiksistoatsimàxkaua kiméstsea såå'k*uvests* etomátapipstsípäxtoma. Kextsítsekazkàuaists. Kimékse saäks etomátapipstsipiua. Stámitstsèuäks. Otsinéuanists stómatsipstsìpâxtoma. Kétsstovi. Káikakâxtainàksuyeuä otsinéuanists. Kimékse otsiná ksests saäks mátáχtainàksuyeua. Stàmépua. Kyátsitototseua amíxk otsítsoaxpiaua otsitápssapssea amée otsékatokekαχpia etámisauksinima amé moyís otsítstsisea. Stámisksináyeua otákayi otámisea. Káisamoa etámisauksinayeua otákaie otsitápsúyeαχkyåχssea. Kiméma atsóaskuyea etsetsíksasáua. Stámitotóvinaie. Otsítapssámokaie. Stamistáinaie: Ákainiua. Káitapistsõyinai. Etsíkinapoàuyinä. Kyostá'yi kayístoitoàniua: Napé, kinå'∠sakyaitapèixpaa? Kyotákayi etsétsapåyinaie άχkyåχsatsisim. Káyistapaχkyåχsènaie. Etsinå yeuaie. Ketsykáuasäiniua. Otsítanikaie:

he went aboard. He was seen by his partner. He told him: Partner, when it is this time of the year again, I shall come back to fetch you. His partner cried. And he himself then came ashore. And he said to his [friend's] wives: That friend of mine has been killed by a bear [that] was there on that island. He told them: We shall move camp. Then they moved camp. Then he had those wives of his partner as his wives. When his friend saw, that they moved camp, he cried. And then he began to kill geese. And he began to pick berries. And all the geese [he had killed] he dried. And all those berries too he dried. And then he began to dig a hole. And when he had finished digging a hole he began to bring in those goose-feathers. And he made a bed out of them. And then he began to bring in those geese. Then he stored them. Then he also brought in his berries. And winter came. And he was eating his berries little by little. And that stored meat of his, the geese, he also ate little by little. Then summer came. When that time of the year on which they had come to the island came again [and] when he looked at the place where he had camped before, then he suddenly saw, there was a lodge. He just knew, that it was his friend [who was camping there]. And after some time he suddenly saw his friend row across. So he hid himself in the

Napé, αnna χk ánni anistsésea kitákotamitototosamo. A nnimaie nokóaua nitsítstuyemi. Stámikakàussit kå \(\chi tstoyémixpia. Saäksi ákakainitsis. Kännikseáyä stoyísi kitákauataiea. Stámopitsisoòyinä. Otaxkémäks otsina'issea eksíksimatsetakea. Ketsitsinikuyeuäks otákàyi otánistota`ixpia. Stámopakeeua. Stámistòyi. Otáipuxsèa mátsitsitapsskòa améma otsékaitokèkaxpia. Stámòkeka. Stamisóyiyαχkyå χseua. Stámitoto améma minéima. Stámistàua: Netákauaa άχksakyaitapèeua. Kitápssæmeuaie. Ketoxkónayeuaie akainénaie.

brushes there. Then he [his friend] arrived. He looked for him. Then he thought: He is already dead. And he was going into the brushes. Then [the other] got up slowly. And he [the new-comer] was saying to himself: Partner, are you still alive? And his partner went into the boat. And he was rowing away. Then [the other] saw him. And he cried loudly. He was told by [his friend]: Partner, when it is this time of the year again, then I shall come to fetch you. There is my dwelling, I passed the winter [there]. Just pick many berries, to pass the winter with. Kill geese already now. Those are the things you will eat during the winter. Then he came ashore. When his wives saw him, they were very glad. And he told them the story, how his friend had treated him. Then he moved camp. Then it was winter. When summer came, he went back again to the place where he had been camping before. Then he camped. Then he rowed across. He then came to the place where the island was. Then he thought: My friend is probably still living. And he looked for him. And then he found him dead.

The man who was pitied by rattle-snakes.

Amékse nátsitapeeea nínayi sámeaua. Káisixtatsikyäksistsikoa etsetótoyaua améma neétαχtaua. Esóoχtsima améma neétαχtayea ánniksimayi ponokáyea etápuyeea. Túkskam etsetápoztauaiskapeu-Staménetseeua akávimea äks. améksèma ponokáksema. Kánnimayi túkskæmma stámannautatseuäks. Ketókskamma améksisk ponokáksk áistapukskaseksk ixpókeuo. Kämá ännautaua aukanayatsèuäks amékse ponokäksim etámisaukåχtuyeua amóyisk ánnea sấχkauànäa. Otápαsαpsea mátsapèuatsiks. Kännimayi áisamoa mátsitáxtsimayea. Manästsæpsea etámisauksinåyeua amé ómαχksistseksenänea améma otsistsitsäätayema otsítå x kitskäpsayi. Kännimayi etä′χtsimiaua móksisk auanäa. Manístsæpsea amóksema máksineksema stámåχtsekyayaua píkseksenäks. Kets-Mátsikækåxkotauatsikètsaua. påyeuatsiks. Kännimayi áisamoa etsáuatskètsaua. stsíka Kämá manistskotå zsea etsinå yeua pekséksenäks manistákayapea. Ketséstapukskaseua. Kämá nína stámitsketsimaua. Kännimayi etauátsimuyixkameua amé ómαχkime mάχksikimèssea. Kännimayi etomátapiksikàyeua. Pikséksenäks stámäxtäxkitòa. Kyáxkaisoayea oksíkasests. Kämóya opíkseksenasinaya etsikáiskapeua. Kimék amá nínaua otómåxtakåxpik måχsåkuya. Stómamatapo. Kái-

There were two men [who] went out hunting. When it was in the afternoon, they came to some river. Near the bank [of] that river there were some elks standing. One [of the men] went crawling up to them. Then he killed many of those elks. And then one [man] butchered them. And the other [lit. one] went after those [of the] elks that were running away. And when that one who was butchering them had skinned all those elks, he suddenly heard something that was like a big rattle. When he looked around, he did not see anything. And then, after some time, he heard it again. When he looked again, he suddenly saw, there was a big snake crawling on the [elk] he had skinned first. And then he again heard things like rattles. When he looked again, those carcases were all covered with snakes. So he was very much afraid. He could not move himself. And then, after some time, he was not afraid any more. And when that other one came back, he saw a great many of snakes. Then he ran away. And that [other] man then was left there alone. And then he was praying to the biggest one of the snakes to have pity on him. And then he made a step forward. Then he walked on snakes. About four steps he made. And

samoa etsákapoa. Omátssksapetámisauksauåxkananåyeua amóya opíkseksenasinava. Kiméksema máksineksèma kákitäxtse åχkésts. Stámαχkayeua. Käméma otáutαχkaisea kokúyea otokánea ixtsitáuatsapseua. Pikséksenäks áistamanåveua. Káisamoa etsétseua. Ek άtoseua. Amoya όχ tχkoχsini å χkotaitsema. Kännimayi etsítskanetàmeua pekséksenäks. Känneayi matápeuaa å'χkanästånoyeuaie. Moäks sokin źsea mátaineua. Kisskűks åχkyóauästs ixtsokinásea áistamaxseea améstse isskästsi. Kaya'xtaxkaxsäks sokinásea aistámetseea. Kyámoya otsékimmäks mátaikamotauaa. Oksímistamea ixtáinitseuäks.

all those snakes crawled apart. And where that man was going it was like a track. Then he went along. And after some time he got out [of the crowd of snakes]. When he looked back, he suddenly did not see those snakes anymore. And those carcases were bones only. Then he went home. And when he came home, that night he got crazy [in] his head. He was seeing snakes. And after a long while he was well again. [Then] he was a great medicine-man. [When] there was sickness, he cured it. And then he had snakes as a pet. And so all the people were afraid of him. Those who were shot never died when he doctored them. And [of] those who had their bones broken he would cure those that were broken, when he doctored them. And those who were ill would soon be well when he doctored them. But those at whom he got angry he did not save. He would kill them with his thoughts.

APPENDIX 1:

STORIES RECORDED IN ENGLISH ONLY.

The Old Man and the children on the ice.

As the Old Man went along, he came to some children who were playing on the ice. They all jumped up and down on the ice, singing something about the ice. At every jump they made, pieces of fat came up from the ice, and they would pick them up and eat them. And the Old Man came to them and said: Let me do the same. The children told him: It is not hard to do. So the dance was given to him. They told him: Old Man, we do not do it too often. Only when there is a famine, we do it. He went along. Before he had gone very far, he began to sing something about the ice and to jump up and down. Then pieces of fat came up at every jump he made. Then he ate them, one after the other. He went away again, only a little way. He then tried again. He jumped up and down again on the ice and sang something about the ice. Again the pieces of fat came up at every jump he made. Again he ate them, one after the other. He went on again. This time it was nearer by when he tried again. He did the same thing as before. The fourth time he tried his luck again as he did before. He was singing and jumping up and down on the ice. Then he waited for the pieces of fat, expecting that they would come up again. At last pieces of ice only came up. His luck was gone because he did it too often. He had been told to do it only during a famine, but he did not mind.

[Cf. above p. 29 sqq.]

The Old Man and the person who was dressed in fat.

The Old Man went along again. He met a man who was going to war and who wore fat for a robe and who had beef-steak on for shoes and who used buffalo-bowels for a quiver and dried guts for arrows, which he had in those bowels, and who used tough flesh for leggings and mashed meat for white paint. The Old Man said to him: Let me do the same. Then the man told him: It is not hard to do, but I am not going to give you my clothes. The Old Man begged and said: Give me some of your arrows. When the man gave one to him, he ate it up at once. And then he asked: Give me some of your white paint. The man let him have some of it. Then he begged for some of his leggings too and also for some of his quiver. These he ate one after the other as soon as he had got out of sight. Every now and then he met him again and then he transformed his appearance. Then he would beg him for a little of every article of dress the man had on and the man would let him have it. He did this three times, but then he could not transform himself anymore. So he tried another trick. He ran towards him with all his might, over a hill. When he came to him, he told him: We are almost overtaken by our enemies, they are chasing us, we must save our lives. Just drop your quiver and arrows and throw all your clothes off, that you may run easily in order to save yourself. The young man threw his quiver and arrows and clothes away while running. After he had thrown away all, the Old Man ran back, around the hill, and picked them all up and had a good feast.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 180 sqq.]

The Old Man and the geese.

The Old Man went along again. He came to a lake where he saw a large flock of geese and ducks. He was very hungry and he thought to himself: How shall I get these geese and ducks. He knew how to get them. He shouted to them, at the same time saying: Goose-chief is dead. All at once the geese and the ducks heard him shout in this manner. The leader of the geese sent one duck to the Old Man to find out what was the trouble. The Old Man told the duck to go back and to tell the leader of the geese, that Goose-chief had been killed in battle. He also told

him to tell all the geese and ducks to get ready for going to the war with the Old Man in order to kill some of the enemies who killed Goose-chief. The duck went back and told the news to the leader of the geese. Then the leader of the geese told all the geese and ducks to go to the Old Man and to go along with him. They all came to him and then the Old Man made all the ducks and geese sit down in a row and said to them: I shall make the pipe of peace before we go to the war and we shall smoke it. After the smoking has been done, we shall start for the war. So they did. After going on for some time he again made them all sit down in a row and told them: We shall smoke the pipe of peace again. So the geese and ducks all sat down in a row and the pipe was passed on from one to the other. This time the Old Man had a club in his hand. As the ducks and the geese now did not think of watching him, he had a good chance of clubbing them one after the other. He killed most of them and the rest flew away. To them he said: You may raise geese and ducks forever. Then he made a large fire and had a great feast.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 180 sqq.]

The Old Man and the pine-tree as an arrow.

He went along again, the Old Man. He came to a couple of boys who were shooting with bow and arrow. The arrow was a big pine-tree and the bow was made out of elk-antlers. He thought it must be a great thing to handle this big pine-tree as an arrow and the heavy antlers as a bow. He liked to have them. He said to the boys: Let me do the same. They told him: It is not hard to do. Only when we want to have a good time we do it, but not too often. So the bow and arrow were given to him. He went off with them. Then he tried. He shot with the pine-tree and the antlers were his bow. It seemed to him as if he was using a regular bow and arrow. He thought it was great fun. He then went a little farther and tried them again. The third time he did the same after going still less far. When he tried it again for the fourth time, his luck was gone. He could not lift either the pine-tree or the arrow. He drew his knife when he could not lift the pine-tree and chopped it. He told it: Henceforth you shall be treated like this by the women who are to cut down their lodge-poles. The

women are still doing this to-day. Then he threw the elk-antlers away and told them: You shall be cut to pieces by the women who will use them as scraper-handles.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 182 sqq.]

The Old Man and the buffalo-charm.

As he went along again, the Old Man saw a man who was living alone with his family, sit on the bank of a river. The Old Man went to him. When he came near him, he saw that he had a rattle in each hand and was rattling by striking the bank with them, singing at the same time. Every time the man talked in his song, he would say: Buffalo must fall down at each side of me. Then buffalo would drop at each side of him. Then the Old Man came to him and said: Let me do the same. The man told him: It is not hard to do. I do this only when there is a famine coming, but not too often. The Old Man went on. Before he had gone far, he came to a bank and sat down on it with the two rattles. And he sang the song that was given to him. And he said the same thing in his song: Buffalo must fall down at each side of me. Then buffalo fell down from the bank at each side of him. Then he got off the bank and went to the spot where the buffalo were lying in a big pile. He butchered but one and ate a little from him. Then he went on down the same river. This time too he did not go far but soon sat down on the bank again and took his rattles in his hands again. He sang again and said: Buffalo must fall down at each side of me. Then again buffalo fell down from the bank at each side of him. The man who had given him this luck had told him not to use these words: Buffalo must drop off from the middle of my body. So the Old Man, when trying his luck for the fourth time, thought: I shall use those words that man told me not to use and I shall see what will happen to me. So he sat down on another bank, started striking this bank with his rattles and said, singing: Buffalo must drop off from the middle of my body. Then the buffalo dropped down from the middle of his body but he himself fell down after them and his body was transformed into a buffalo-calf, dead. All the dead buffalo were lying on the ice, and the Old Man, who was a calf, among them. They were lying there for some time after some Indians had camped near them. One of the men went hunting up the river as the

people were starving. This man came to the spot where all the dead buffalo were lying on the ice. He went back to tell the news that he had seen a big pile of buffalo lying on the ice. Men, children and women all went up to the spot and the women-folk took their dogs and travovs with them. Everybody got his share of buffalo-flesh and all went back to their camps with heavy loads. Among those people was an old woman, who came to the spot where the calf was lying on the ice, frozen. She dragged it from the ice, she took it home and hung it up in her lodge. This old woman had a grandson, who was lying on his bed. This little boy looked up at the calf, which by this time had thawed, and then looked at its head. He saw the calf make faces at him. He said to his grandmother: Grandma, that calf is making faces at me. She said to him: No, it is frozen that way, that is why it seems to make faces at you. The little boy looked at it again and saw it put out its tongue at him. He said: Grandma, that calf is putting out its tongue at me. She told her grandson: No, its tongue is frozen out of its mouth like that. The little boy looked up at the calf again and saw it spit at him. Then he said: Grandma, that calf is spitting at me. The old woman said: No, it is thawing now. The next was that the Old Man jumped down on the boy's belly and made it burst. Before the old woman could get her club to kill it, the calf ran out of the lodge and was never seen again.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 184 sqq.]

Dresses of old women burned.

As the Old Man went along, he came to two old women who were living in one lodge. Both had their dresses off and were looking for lice in them. He went back to get a long stick. He found one and went back to the lodge. Then he put the long stick through the lodge and pushed the dress of one of the old women into the fire. He burned it. Before the old woman could call for help her dress was all burned. Then he ran round the lodge to the place where the other old woman was sitting and pushed her dress too into the fire. He burned it all. So both the old women had no dresses left. One of them saw the Old Man almost die with laughter outside. She got hold of him and the other old woman was going to club him dead. But the Old Man

had a good excuse; he told them: Now, old women, let me go. I burned your dresses because they were lousy. There are some elkskin dresses at the other side of the hill. I shall go and take them back to you. So they let him go to get the dresses. They were waiting for the Old Man without clothes. He went away and was never seen again by the old women.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 203 sq.; when interrogated upon this story Black-horse-rider told Prof. Uhlenbeck that this is not an adventure of the Old Man... though he told it to me as such].

Clot-of-blood.

There were an old fellow and his wife, left by themselves in a lodge. They had three daughters, who were married to one man. This man was awfully cruel to the old folks, he gave them the worst part of the meat. It was winter. Where there was a snow-drift, he made a hole and way-laid the buffalo. Then he sent his father-inlaw a long way off to start the buffalo on the trail. And when the buffalo went by, he shot them through a loop-hole. He kept doing this for quite a while. One day he wounded a buffalo but did not get it. And the old man followed it and found a clot of blood. He pretended to fall down and to loose his arrow out of his quiver. He took that clot of blood and put it into his quiver. His son-in-law came to him and asked him what he had been doing. .He told him, that he had been picking up his arrows, which he had lost in falling down. When he came home at night, he told the old woman: Put a kettle with water on the fire. The old woman said: Our son-in-law must have done good towards us, he must have given you some flesh. The old man said: No; do not speak too loudly, else he might hear us. I found a clot of blood from a wounded animal. When the water was boiling, he told the old woman to put the clot of blood in. And it had not yet got more than warm when they heard a little child begin to cry. The old man said to the old woman: Quickly take the kettle off. The old woman did and the old man wanted to know what it was. The old woman told him it was a little boy. The son-in-law too had heard the crying; so he sent in his youngest wife to find out what it was. The old man had told the old woman: If our sonin-law comes in to inquire, tell him it is another girl and that he will have another wife when she will be old enough. So this was

told to their youngest daughter. The son-in-law was not satisfied with the report of the first, so he sent the second and then the third and then he was satisfied. He told his wives to take some flesh and to give it to the old folks to make soup for the kid. In the dead of night the little child spoke up. He told his mother to hold him to every lodge-pole, starting from the east-pole, until she got to the last pole. His mother did so and when he came to the last pole, he was a full-grown man. He told them: This brotherin-law of mine has been misusing you long enough. We must get up early in the morning and have a hunt of our own. Next morning they were out early. The son-in-law inquired: Where is the old man? Tell him to get up and hunt again. The old woman told him: He has already gone. The son-in-law said: Who told him to go? The mother-in-law said: His own will. That made the sonin-law angry. He followed the trail. Pretty soon he perceived them skinning an animal. The old man saw him come. The son told the old man: Go on skinning it, I shall lie behind the animal and wait. The old man was busy skinning it and he saw his sonin-law making signs at him. He told his son: He is angry at me. And his son said: Cut the animal open and take out some of its liver. Show it to your son-in-law and just eat it; that will instigate him still more. As soon as the son-in-law came within hearing, he told the old man: I shall teach you manners, nobody told you to go out and hunt without telling me. The old man told his son: You had better get up, for that one will shoot his arrows at me. The son said: Let him shoot at you. Finally the son jumped up and it surprised the son-in-law. The son said: That is the way you have been behaving towards my old father. The brother-in-law said: Oh, no, I did not mean to harm him, I was just fooling him. The son took out his bow and arrow and killed his brother-in-law. He said: Let us go back to camp. They went back and he asked the old woman which girl cared most for them while their sonin-law was alive. The old woman said: The youngest; she always threw a little bit of flesh at us without her husband knowing it. If she had not done so, we should have starved long ago. The son went out and killed his two eldest sisters and let the youngest live with the old folks. He said: You have got enough flesh to last a long while. Just live in your son-in-law's lodge. To-morrow I am going on a journey, I am going to visit other tribes. Next day he left. He came to a tribe where there were buffalo jumping from a cliff. He went into an old woman's lodge. They gave him some dried meat, but no fat to eat with it. He

asked: How is that? You people are killing lots of buffalo and you have got no fat? They said: Do not talk too loudly, the bear might hear you, he takes all the good flesh. He said: Tomorrow I am going to start the buffalo down the cliff and I want you to come out, old women, and to get your share of the flesh. He went out early in the morning and started the buffalo. He had great luck. All the people came and began to skin and took the flesh home and hung it up all round. These old women had got the nicest flesh in the whole camp. After the flesh had been cut up and dried, the old he-bear sent his two cubs to inspect the meat and to see who had got the nicest meat. When one of the cubs was inspecting the meat round the old women's lodge, he told it: Get away, or I shall kill you. That insulted the little fellows, they went back crying. In the meantime he told the old women to build a fire and to put some boulders into it to make them hot. The old she-bear came out of her lodge. She wanted to know who had insulted her children. The little ones showed her the lodge and she ran to it. When she came there, she saw Clotof-blood standing there. He said to the little bears: I told you to go back, what made you come back again with another one with you? You shall not get anything of this meat. The old she-bear got up on her hindlegs and made an attempt to take the meat. He took up one of those hot boulders and threw it straight into her mouth and killed her. The little ones went back and told their father. And he came out to avenge his wife. He came to the same place and got up on his haunches. Before he had been able to do anything, Clot-of-blood had a hot boulder down his throat, that killed him. The little ones ran away. He said: You go, get out of the country, that there may be bears hereafter. Then he told the old women to move to the bears' lodge. They could live at their leasure on the nice meat they had got. He said: I am going to leave you to-morrow, I am going to visit other tribes. The old women advised him: My son, do not go to a certain tribe where there is a big snake that rules that camp, just the same as these bears ruled this camp, taking the best of everything and letting the people starve. The next morning he left. He came to that camp and again went to some old women's lodge. They asked him: My son, what made you come to our lodge? We live very poorly. They told him about the snake. He had one big horn, just in front. He said: I shall go and visit him. They said: Do not talk too loudly, he might hear you. He said: Well, I shall pay him a visit anyhow. He went out straight to the snake's lodge. He had

a big dagger, made out of flint. When he stepped into the lodge, all these snakes were sleeping more or less. There were large bowls of berries, soaked in water, for the head-snake. He drew his dagger and touched the snake on his back: Get up, you are pretty sound asleep, I have come to visit you. The old snake looked up and before he could find out who it was, Clot-of-blood cut his head off. Then he killed all the snakes save one she-snake. He said: I shall let you go and you may make snakes henceforth. He went back to the old women and told them to live in the big snake's lodge. They did and they said to him: My son, we want to advise you before you leave us: There are four beings you will come into contact with that kill any people who do as they want them to do. The first is the Charming-man. The second, which is a woman, plays at ball. The third is the female who swings near a lake. The fourth is the woman who wrestles. He said: I am glad you told me. I shall look out. They advised him not to go at all, but he wanted to meet those people. Next morning he went out. First he saw the Charming-man and felt the charm. He did not struggle against it but went straight into what seemed to be a lodge. But it was a person, full of people whom he had charmed. Some of them were almost dead but others were still quite alive. He looked around and he looked up. He saw the Charmer's heart and lungs hanging. By standing upright he could touch them. He told the people around: We are going to have a dance. Those who are not able to stand may sit up. He fastened his dagger on the top of his head, the sharp end turned up, and he said: You people dance round me, I shall dance in the middle. They started dancing and while dancing he cut the heart to pieces. The whole body toppled over; he had killed it. Then he told the strong people to help the weak and to take them home. He went away again. He came to the Ball-player and he was going to pass her. The Ball-player said: Come here, we shall have a little game. He answered: I am in a hurry. The Ball-player said: Oh, it will be but a short while. Finally he went to her and said: Let me play first. He was playing with the ball and said: Look, who is coming there in the distance? The Ball-player looked away from him and then he killed her. He continued his journey. He saw the Wrestler-woman making signs at him to come. He told her he was in a hurry and she said: We shall have but one short wrestling-match and then you may go. Finally he went to her. He saw her knife appearing just a little from the ground. They started wrestling. Before she knew it, he had her down on the knife and cut her just in two. Then

he came to the Swinging-woman. He saw the large lake. She began to make signs at him. He again told the same tale: I am in a hurry. He finally went to her and she said: You will have a little swinging. He said: All right, but let me see you swing first. Then I shall take the swing myself. So he made her swing, he caused her to go fast and then he cut one of the ropes and she fell into the lake. He could see the fishes and other animals eating her. He said: There is no reason for me to travel any more now, I shall go back to my old people.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck obt 34 sqq.]

Scar-face.

Once upon a time there were living some Indians. Among them there was a man with a scar on his face who was very anxious to get a young, fine woman, the finest woman of the camps. So he tried his luck. He sent another man to this woman as a messenger. When this messenger came back, he told him everything the woman had said. The woman had said: You may tell him, that I should like to have him, if he first made disappear his scar. Then I will have him for my love. When this was said to the man, his heart was broken. He disappeared from the camps without anybody knowing whither he had gone. Each night he would sleep in a different place, trying to discover some powerful beings who would be able to make his scar disappear. In his dreams he always saw powerful beings. They would ask him what was the trouble with him. He would tell them what had happened to him in the camps with that woman. And he would beg them to make his scar disappear. They would tell him, that they had no power to do so. At last he saw another powerful being in his dream who told him, that he himself had no power to make his scar disappear, but that he knew somebody who had the power to help him out of his trouble. Then he told him, this being was the Sun and that he should travel to the place in the far east whence the sun rises. So he set out. It was a long journey. At last he got there. There was a lodge. He thought: This must be the place where the Sun is staying. Finally he went into the lodge. There he saw an old woman. That was the Moon, the wife of the Sun. No one began to talk to him at first. At last the old woman said: What do you

want? He told her all about his troubles and how he had been told, that the Sun had power to help him. And the old woman told him, that the Sun was out on his journey west and that he would be back as soon as he would arrive at the place of sunset. Then she told him, that she had great pity on him. There he was sitting in the lodge. He said: Everything seems strange to me. He waited for the Sun and he was made friends with the Morningstar. They told him, that the Sun, when he would arrive, might be displeased on seeing a stranger. But the old woman also told him, that she might help him. At last the Sun arrived at his lodge. When he came into the lodge, he said: I smell the blood of a human being who is in here. Then the Moon told him about this young man's troubles and how he had come to him for help. The Morning-star told his father the same thing. Morning-star prayed the Sun, his father, to have pity on this young man because he liked him. In the meantime the Sun did not say a word. Finally, after having some rest, he said: Perhaps I may help him just the same as my own son. Then he said: I shall look after his troubles to-morrow after my arrival. And he told his son, Morning-star: Make four sweat-houses and get them ready before my arrival. Then Scar-face went to sleep. Before he went to sleep he had seen the old woman but during the night she was gone. Then he knew, that was the Moon. He slept there with Morningstar. Before day-light Morning-star disappeared. Then he knew, that his friend was the Morning-star. Before sunrise the Sun disappeared. Then both the Moon and the Morning-star arrived in the lodge. All day long he was waiting there in the lodge. Before sunset Morningstar got ready with the four sweat-houses. Then the Sun arrived. He told his son, the Morning-star: Go ye forth with your friend to the sweat-houses and I shall go with you. Then they all went into the first sweat-house. There Scar-face was bathed by the Sun. After bathing him thoroughly, the Sun took them out of the sweat-house. Then Scar-face saw his seat: nothing but a pile of sand, which came out of his body. They all went into the second sweat-house and the sun did the same thing again. And then in the third and finally in the fourth sweat-house. There the sun told Scar-face: You may sit down alongside of your friend Morning-star and I shall make your scar disappear. So he sat down alongside of his friend Morning-star and the Sun sang his song to him and laid his hand on the scar and made it disappear all at once. Then he got hold of his hair and pulled it out. That made him have long hair, like the Morning-star. Then he smoothed his face and made

him look exactly like the Morning-star. So that no one could tell the difference between their looks. Then they went back to the lodge. The Sun then told his wife, the Moon: Now look at your sons and see whether you can point cut our own son, the Morning-star. She looked at both of them and pointed at Scar-face. Then she said: Of course this is our son, the Morning-star. But she was mistaken. Then the Sun told Scar-face: You may go back to the camps and see the woman who troubles you. And the sun also told him: When you arrive at your old country, you must not go into the camps without having made a sweat-house first in order to have a clean body. Then he said to him: Get a pipe-plant [chervil?] and make a whistle out of it. Then the Sun taught him the sweetest song that ever was heard, and said: You must sing it by this whistle when you are in your camp and the woman will hear it, no matter where she is. Then Scar-face set out back to his country. At last he arrived at the camps. Before he came near them, he happened to meet a friend of his and told him not to approach him but to go to the camps and make a sweat-house for him: after this he would come to the camps. His friend went to the camps and did as he was told. After the sweating was over, his people saw how beautiful he was looking. He went into his lodge and played the whistle: the tune the Sun had taught him. The woman who had refused Scar-face was scraping buffalohide outside her tipi. All at once she heard the most beautiful and sweetest song that ever was heard. She looked around and could not see the place where Scar-face was playing the whistle. Every time she heard the whistle, Scar-face would stop playing. At last the woman knew where he was. She dropped her scraper and ran away to the young man Scar-face and hugged him and kissed him and told him, that she loved him with all her heart. And Scar-face had intercourse with her and then scorned her and told ber, that he would never forget the words he had been told by her. Then Scar-face threw her out of his tipi and told her not to come back. The woman was sorry indeed.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck obt 50 sqq.].

The deserted children

Once upon a time there were some camps of the Peigan tribe. There were some children, which often went out on the hills to play, girls and boys. One day they went out to play as usually. Among them was a child whose father was an owner of the medicine-pipe and a leader of the camps. In those days the Peigans would always respect a man who owned a medicine-pipe and they would take him for a leader, as well as the leader of the tribe. When the children were playing, this medicine-pipe-child (ninámiskaipoka) defecated. Its excrements were nothing but medicine-pipeshells. When these children saw them, they grabbled for them and took them away from the medicine-pipe-child. The child went home crying because it had lost its shells. Then its father, when told about it, shouted to the people: They made my child cry, we shall all get up and move away and leave them. They left the children. One of the little boys was sent back to camp to get some dried meat and he discovered that the camp was gone. He came back and told the other children. Some of the big boys said: He is lying! and threw sand in his eyes. He said: I do not care, You can go and see for yourself. They sent another boy and, sure enough, the camp was gone. He came back and told them about it. Then they all set out to look for their people. They travelled and could not track them and went in a certain direction. They began to shout and immediately they heard somebody answer them, telling them to come this way. They went thither and they found it was an old woman who had two bears for dogs. They wanted to bite the children. The old woman quietened them and all went into her lodge. She said to them: Lie all down on that side, lay your heads down on this log near the fire, else the mice will eat your hair. When the children went to sleep, one big girl had some misgivings. She said to her little brother: Watch that old woman and when she is going to do something wrong, bite me in my ear to waken me. The woman was a kind of cannibal. When the children were sound asleep, she put a large pot on the fire and began to boil water in it. She took her knife and began to cut off the heads and to put them into that pot. The girl was the last. When it came near her, the little boy bit her ear and wakened her. The girl jumped up and begged the old woman not to kill her. She said: I shall be useful to you. The old woman said: All right. Take that kettle and go and get some water. You had better leave that little brother of yours behind. The girl said: No,

he is a cry-baby and he will bother you. I shall take him along. She went to the river and she discovered a dead buffalo-head. She prayed to this buffalo-head about the old woman killing all the children and she asked it to take her across the river. It said: You must louse me first, afterwards I shall take you across. Then the girl looked for lice on the head. She found a great big seabug and bit one of her brother's neck-beads and told the head: Your lice taste good. Then it took them across. They went away. The old woman, in the meantime, began to shout, telling them to hurry up and to get that water. And there was an old elk-head, which answered: Wait, I have got to clean my little brother, he has dirtied himself. The old woman understood there was something wrong. She went herself to see and she found, the girl was gone. She discovered that old elk-head and she said: It was you that answered me and she took up a rock and smashed that elkhead. She went on and saw that old buffalo-head lie there and she said: I want you to take me across, so that I may chase them. The buffalo-head answered: First look for lice on me, then I shall take you across. She looked on the head and found a big louse. Then she bit it and it tasted very bitter. The woman spat and made faces and said: You are a very dirty, nasty thing. Then it took her into the water. Half-way it turned over and ducked her. It had killed her. The girl and her little brother travelled on for quite a while and finally found the camp. Then they began to look into the lodges to find out where their father and mother were camping. They found their mother's lodge and went to the doorway and called their mother. Their parents said: We have got no children. They went into the lodge and next morning their father got up and told the chief: A couple of those children we left has arrived. That day he took the children and tied them to the central pole of the medicine-lodge and painted them black and gave them to the sun. They moved camp and left them there. Before they moved, the old chief told everywhere, that he was going to give those children to the sun. All the people heard it. There was an old woman, which had a dog, called Curly (Soiski). She said to the dog: Take this pemmican and go far away into the brushes. When the camp has moved, go back to the children, untie them, and give them this pemmican. The dog did. After doing so it ran after the people and caught up the old woman. The camp travelled on. The girl made a home in that medicinelodge. The boy spoke up and said: Sister, hold me to these poles, all round. When he got to the last, he was a man. Then he said:

Now I am going out to get some buffalo. Lie down and sleep. If you hear anybody shouting, do not look at all. If you do, it will be the worse for us. He went away and his sister did as she was told. She heard people shouting and saying: Look at the buffalo coming. And she never raised her head. Her brother came in and said: Get up and eat this. When she got up, she saw fresh flesh: kidney and fat. Then they began to skin. They packed the flesh in after preparing it. She dried and cut it. When the meat was dry and good, he said to his sister: Take some of that meat and make some pemmican. When you have made it, I shall go and look for that old woman who saved us. He set out with a bale of meat and pemmican on his back. He travelled quite a while before he found the camp. He waited till dark before he went into camp. He began to look around and found the old woman's lodge. In the meantine there had been a famine in the camp. He looked into the lodge and saw the dog sitting near the fire. He softly called it by its name. Three times he called it and then the old dog saw him. It jumped out of the lodge and was glad to see him. He went into the lodge and gave that bale of meat to the old woman and the pemmican to the dog. He said: I shall go back to-night, but you must tell the people to come to the place where they left us. I have got all kinds of meat. And he said: All the buffalo stay around where I am. He went back. Next morning the old woman told the chief. The boy's father and mother spoke up and said: Our children (then they had children, now that they were starving). They all broke up the camp. The man told his sister, that the camp was going to come back. When it had come back, he went all round the camping-ground and told his sister to put some meat in every lodge but not in their mother's and the chief's. The old chief and the father came to get some meat. The brother and sister had some nice, fresh meat hanging down. The young man said: You must stay outside and they must come in one by one. When the chief came in, he told him: Just lick that fat. The chief stuck out his tongue and the young fellow struck him with a stone in his throat. And he did the same thing to his father and mother. After that he told the people: I have got my revenge. Now we shall have one great hunt to-morrow. So all the people will be supplied with all the meat they want. He became the head-chief of the camp. And they lived happily with their people.

[Cf. UHLENBECK nsbt 126 sqq.].

The young man and the beavers.

In former times the Indians had a certain kind of a dance. It was performed by women only. In this dance the women dressed in just the same way as their lovers. It was called "love-dance". One day the women were having this dance. Among them was a poor girl. She was married with a middle-aged man who had several wives besides her. Most of the time she was half-dressed and she was always unclean. She dressed in the same way as Round-cutscabby-robe and everybody in the camp knew that he was her lover. Round-cut-scabby-robe too was a poor boy who was living from one lodge to another. When he heard that this poor girl dressed in the same way as he did, he went off, without telling his people whither he was going. Before he left the camp, the girl who dressed like him said, while dancing: I shall marry my lover when the rivers are warm (that means: in the spring). Round-cut-scabbyrobe came to some beavers. The leader of the beavers told him to winter with him in his lodge. Round-cut-scabby-robe told him that he would winter with him. He lived in the beaver's lodge, which was in the river. He noticed that the old beaver had hundred sticks. Every day he would lay aside one of them. These sticks represented the winter-days. When all the hundred sticks had been put aside, seven winter-months were gone. He also took notice of the old beaver and his wife and his children. He took special notice of one of the children: the youngest. This little one was always told to sit near the doorway and he always looked dirty. and he had a big belly. In his heart Round-cut-scabby-robe always pitied the young beaver. When the seven months were past, the old beaver would come out of his lodge once in a while. One day, when he had left his lodge again, the eldest beaver-boy told Roundcut-scabby-robe: My friend, I shall help you. Before you go home my father will ask you, what you should like to have. Two things only I shall give you: Ask for that youngest beaver-boy, the one that is always sitting near the doorway, and for the gnawing-stick. He will refuse four times. He will keep telling you to ask for other things instead of for the young beaver and the gnawing-stick. But try your best four times to get them. Perhaps he will give them both. But he loves the young beaver most. I am not sure that he will give him to you. Round-cut-scabby-robe said to the beaver who told him this, that he would try his best to get the young beaver and the stick. The old beaver returned from his trip. When he came into the lodge, he said to Round-cut-scabby-robe:

Do you see this green leaf? Round-cut-scabby-robe did and told him so. The beaver said: Spring is here and it is time for you to get ready to go back to your home, my boy. The beaver then said: Here are seven things. I shall give you two of them as a present. Select two out of the seven. Round-cut-scabby-robe said to the old beaver: My dear father, pity me. I tried my best to stay with you in your lodge. Just think how steadily I have been staying here in your lodge for seven months, without seeing any land. And I wish you only knew how I have been longing for my people. And therefore, my dear father, you should have pity on me and help me as much as you can. Now I shall tell you what I want you to give me. I want the gnawing-stick and that youngest son of yours. The beaver told him: No, I shall not give him to you, for he is young. I love him very much and yet he is not holy and the stick is not holy either. You would have no use from it, it is just a stick and nothing else. The young man begged for them and tried his best to get them, four times. At last the beaver said: Yes, I shall give them to you, you are a very sensible man to ask for these two things. I shall tell you, keep my words in your memory: This stick is very holy. It will help you very much, the rest of your life. And then he told him the same thing about the young beaver. So the young man took the stick and carried it in his hand. And he took the young beaver and tied him to his belt to carry him in that way. He went on travelling back to his own people. He came to a high river. He wondered how he should be able to cross this river. When he had been standing there for some time, he suddenly heard the young beaver say to him: Father, I shall help you to cross this high river, but you must be very careful. I shall build a dam across the river, but you must lie down prone and keep your eyes closed. Even if you hear a noise, do not look. He lay down prone with his eyes closed. Then he suddenly heard a great noise of beavers making a dam across the river. The young beaver had produced these beavers who were making a dam by magic. The beavers had already nearly built the dam across the river. Roundcut-scabby-robe was very anxious to see what was going on, but he tried his best not to look. Finally he could not stand it any longer, so he looked. He saw nothing. The young beaver was very angry. He said to Round-cut-scabby-robe: Now, father, I shall give you another chance. Do not look this time, it is no use looking. Round-cut-scabby-robe promised him not to look this time. But when the beavers had got still nearer to the other side of the

river, he looked again. Again he saw nothing. The beaver told him the same thing again. Again he promised not to look, but when the beavers had got still nearer to the other side of the river, he looked again. The fourth time it was his last chance. He told the young beaver, that he would surely not look this time. He lay down again as before and heard the same noise again. And he was very anxious to look up, but he did not. The dam was built across the river by the beavers. Suddenly the young beaver said to him: You may get up now, our dam has already been built across the river and we shall cross on it. While they were crossing, the young beaver sang out some beaver-songs. He told Round-cut-scabby-robe, that he would get the songs later on and that he would own the beaver-dance-outfit and would be the leader of the dance and that he would learn all the beaver-dancesongs by heart by magic. Finally they came at the other bank of the river. When Round-cut-scabby-robe made his first step ashore, he looked back at the same time and saw the beaver-dam break down behind him and float down the river and disappear. They travelled on. Every night they camped in a different place. After a long while they found the camps of his own people. It was early in the morning when they came near the camps. Then Roundcut-scabby-robe saw a man going out into the field to look for horses. He met him. Before they met, he told him not to come near him. He said to him: Go back to the camps and tell my friend to prepare four sweat-houses for me as soon as possible. Then I shall go to the camps. The young man did as he was told. He also spread the news about Round-cut-scabby-robe. Everybody heard that he was back. Round-cut-scabby-robe's friend made four sweat-houses for him. When they were finished, Round-cut-scabbyrobe was called. He came to them. Then he bathed in the sweathouses. After doing so he told the news, how he had been living with the beaver and that he had been treated very kindly by the beaver during the winter. He also told them how the beaver-dance had been given to him. He said to them, that he would prepare this beaver-dance-outfit later on. Then he told his friend: We shall go to the war without anybody knowing whither we are going. So they went. On the way he told his friend, that the beaver with whom he had been staying during the winter had advised him to go to the war seven times and to kill one person every time. They met their enemies. He told his friend: I shall be the first man who kills his enemies. He also said to him: Stay and wait for me just here, I shall go and meet our enemies alone. He went to

the enemies. He met the chief and told him, that he was going to kill him. The chief tried to stab Round-cut-scabby-robe with his spear. Round-cut-scabby-robe sang out his beaver-dance-medicinesong and parried with his beaver-stick and the chief stabbed the beaver-stick instead of Round-cut-scabby-robe's heart. Then Roundcut-scabby-robe struck him on the head with his beaver-stick and knocked him down, dead. He took the spear away from him and scalped him. He also took his bow and arrows. He went back to his friend with these and they divided them. Then they went back home. After coming to the hill near the camps they were singing and praising while coming down. Everybody in the camps heard them. They all said: There is Round-cut-scabby-robe coming back from his trip. Round-cut-scabby-robe's sweetheart was out picking berries. So people in the camp called this girl and told her to meet her lover. She spilt all the berries she had been picking and ran back to her lover and met him. Round-cut-scabby-robe gave her the bow and the spear and half the scalp and told her to give it to her husband as a present. The girl went back and gave it to her husband. Then her husband told her to dress up and clean herself and to prepare something for Round-cut-scabby-robe to eat. So she did. After all this had been done, Round-cut-scabby-robe was called to this man's lodge and had his meal there. Then the man told Round-cut-scabby-robe that he might marry his sweetheart and keep her as his own wife. He also told him that he gave him his wife because Round-cut-scabby-robe had made him a present of the spear and the bow and half the scalp. So Round-cut-scabbyrobe got this young girl as his wife. Then he summoned his own people and his friend and told them, they would go to the war again. Then they saw the tribe of Crow Indians, which were all standing at the other side of the river. After coming to this river with his troop he said to his friend, nobody hearing them: I shall swim across to the Crow Indians and I shall kill their chief. After I have killed him, you must stay just here, where we are now, and I shall feign to dive towards the east as if going to come ashore east of this place, but I shall come straight hither. Then our whole troop will run down east and I shall meet you here alone. After saying this to his friend he said to his party aloud: Now I shall swim across to the Crows and I shall meet their chief, which I shall kill. When he said this, they were all frightened and begged Round-cut-scabby-robe not to kill him. That they had already met their enemies and that it would be better for them to go home and sing their praise, that they had seen their enemies. But Round-cut-scabby-robe told them, that they would not do this any more: that they would henceforth kill their enemies. So he took his beaver-stick and swam across the river. Before he came ashore at the other side, the Crow chief was wading into the river to meet him. Then Round-cut-scabby-robe too jumped up in the river and went on wading. They walked towards each other. While Round-cut-scabby-robe was wading through the river towards the Crow chief, he was singing his beaver-dance-song, saying these words in his song: Man, help me, try your best and save my life. By this time the Crow chief tried to stab him, but he held his beaver-stick towards the spear and the Crow chief hit the beaverstick just in the middle. Round-cut-scabby-robe then took the spear away from him and killed him with his stick. When he had killed him, the Crows all ran away, frightened, and Round-cut-scabbyrobe's people shouted to him. Then Round-cut-scabby-robe dived into the river eastward with the Crow chief's body. Then his people all ran down, thinking, that he would come ashore at the east-side, but he turned round the other way under the water and came straight to the spot where his friend was. He came ashore to him with the Crow chief's body. Then they scalped the chief and divided the scalp between themselves. He also took the spear with him. When this had been done, his people saw, that he had come ashore with the chief's body on the spot where his friend had been sitting. They all came to him and he told them: We must henceforth kill our enemies. So henceforth this was done by the Indians every time they met their enemies. They went home. Before they reached the camps they were all singing their praise. Round-cut-scabby-robe's wife was out picking berries again. The people in the camps called her and told her to go back to meet her husband. So she spilt all her berries and ran back to meet her husband. She met him and kissed him. This time Round-cutscabby-robe gave his wife's first husband the spear and half the scalp. Then this man gave Round-cut-scabby-robe his second wife in return. Some time afterwards Round-cut-scabby-robe went to the war again. He met his enemies again and killed one of them and scalped him and took his spear. On this trip they were two only: himself and his friend. They went back home. Before coming to the camps they sang their praise. This time his wife did not come back to meet him. He gave half the scalp and the spear to the same man and was paid a third wife for them. After a long time Round-cut-scabby-robe called his friend one night and told him, that they must go to the war, to the tribe of Snake Indians.

So they set out to the tribe of Snake Indians. At last they came to them. He met them and had a hard fight with the Snake Indians. He killed several of his enemies and he scalped them all and he also took their bows and arrows and spears and then he went back to the place where his friend was sitting and they divided the scalps, bows, arrows and spears between themselves. And they went back home. When they were approaching the camps, they sang their praise. Round-cut-scabby-robe's people heard him singing and praising. This time they all ran out to meet him. They all praised him and every one in the camps shook hands with him. Round-cut-scabby-robe was made the leader-chief of his tribe. His friend was made sub-chief. And they deliberated on this, that they should have chiefs henceforth, good chiefs like Round-cut-scabbyrobe, brave and honest men. Since that time the tribe of Peigans has chiefs who are very honest and brave and who have fought many battles. Round-cut-scabby-robe never told a lie to his own tribe and never was quarrelsome. He was very kind to them. Roundcut-scabby-robe gave the spears, bows, arrows and the half scalps to the same man. Then this man gave him his fourth wife and his large lodge to live in and his whole property. This man also owned a beaver-dance-outfit before and now he gave this outfit too to Round-cut-scabby-robe. Round-cut-scabby-robe kept this man as a hired servant for the rest of his life. He was a rich man for his whole life. He told his people how the beaver with which he had been living during the winter had given him many songs about the beaver-dance and all the animal-skins and bird-skins which he should put together into one bundle and which he was to preserve for holiness' sake. And he told them, that the beaver had taught him how to perform the dance that was called "beaver-dance". That he had not been dreaming this. That the beaver had made him a powerful man, which was going to be a chief and a medicine-man. So Round-cut-scabby-robe killed many different birds and skinned every one of them and blessed them all. After blessing them he put them into one bunch with four beaver-sticks and several buffalo-hides and a bag of rattles and four other holy sticks to take out ashes with. When he had got all these things, he performed the dance in the way the beaver had told him to start. And his people saw the dance and knew, that Round-cut-scabby-robe was the man who made the beaver-dance. His people all had respect for this dance. Round-cutscabby-robe lived in his large lodge with his four wives and his hired man, which always attended to the altar when he performed the dance.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 72 sqq., 85 sqq.].

The leader-buffalo.

Once upon a time there were some camps of the ancient Peigans. They were all starving. So they resolved to make a corral. All the young men drove together a big herd of buffalo and started them to this high cliff. Before they came to the high cliff, all the women who were in the camps were standing outside the camps, looking at the buffalo. Among them there was a young married woman, which passed for the most beautiful woman in the camps. She said aloud to the leader of the buffalo: You, leader, do not turn round, lead all the buffalo off that cliff. If you do, I shall marry you. The leader-buffalo heard this. He jumped down and arrived at the bottom without being hurt. All the rest of the buffalo, jumping down one after the other, were killed. The leader got away unhurt. Then all the Indians were busy butchering the buffalo and afterwards had a good time eating buffalo-meat. Some time after, some women had gone out to fetch wood. When they all went back home, the woman who had promised the leaderbuffalo to marry him was left behind, having trouble with her wood. Before she could go any farther with her wood, suddenly a young man appeared before her. She said to him: What do you want? I never saw you before; you have no right to stand in front of me. Go out of my way! Then this young man told her, that she should keep her promise. She said to him: What is my promise? tell me! Then he told her, that every woman in the camps had heard her promising him to marry him if he did not turn round and jumped off the cliff. Then she knew, that he was the leader of the buffalo. She did not know what to do. She looked at the young man and reflected, that he was the finest-looking man whom she had ever set eyes on, and she determined to marry him. Then she said to him: Yes, I shall keep my promise and I shall marry you. Then they went off. At last they came to a big herd of buffalo. They stayed with them and this young man whom she had married was a buffalo again. She was sorry after all, that she had gone away with this man who was a buffalo. She lived among the buffalo, wandering from one place to another. She was longing for her people day and night, but she could not escape from her buffalo-husband. When the woman was missed in the camps, the people did not know what had become of her. Her folks all mourned for her. But her husband thought, that she must have been taken away by some young man. He made up his mind, to go out into

the country to look for his wife. So he set to work and prepared arrows, with different points all of them. Among these points there was one that was made of brass. After finishing all his arrows he told his people, that he would leave for some time to look for his wife. And that they should not lose courage about him, for that he would come home safe. He went on his journey. He travelled from one place to another. At last he came to the herd of buffalo, among which his wife was kept by her second husband. There was a creek near these buffalo. At noon it was very hot. The buffalo were all lying down. He had been lying there for some time when he saw his wife come to the creek with a horn in her hand. She went to the creek and she immersed the horn in the creek to get some water. This horn was her husband's horn. He had taken it from his head and he had told her: Now take my horn and go to the creek to get some water in it for I am thirsty. If anyone talks to you, my horn will make a sound when you come back with it. When the man saw his wife, which had some water in the horn, he called her back, and said to her, that he was longing for her. The woman was very glad to see her own husband and told him, that she would not come to him, that she had only come down to get some water for her second husband. For the buffalo was very jealous, she told him, and would not allow anyone to talk to her. And he would surely know it if anyone had been talking to her. But' she would come back to him later on in the afternoon. For then the buffalo would go to sleep and it would be a good chance to get away from them. She went back with the horn and gave it to her husband Red-scar (this was the buffalo's name). When Red-scar took up his horn and was about to drink the water out of it, when it made a sound. Then he asked her: Who is this who has been talking to you? The woman told him a lie: that some of his friends had been teasing her when she was coming back with the water. Red-scar said: All right, if it has been some of my friends talking to you and teasing you. And he told her: Look for lice on my head for I must go to sleep this afternoon. Then the woman looked for lice on Red-scar's head. All at once he fell asleep. Then she slowly got up and sneaked away to her husband and told him, that Redscar had fallen asleep and that they should hurry up to get away from him. So they went away. When they had got far, Red-scar awaked and knew, that his wife was missing. Then he bawled out. All the buffalo came running up to him. He told them, that his wife had escaped from him. They must be off and track her. They

came to the spot whence the man and the woman had started. From this spot they pursued them. When they were about to overtake them, Red-scar said to his wife: How can you save your life? The woman threw her moccasins back to him. Red-scar came to his wife's moccasins and all the buffalo licked the moccasins, bawling with rage. They kept doing this for some time. In the meantime the woman and her husband had got very far away and Red-scar again went after them. Then the woman threw her dress off and threw it back to Red-scar. When Red-scar came to his wife's dress, he licked it first, he was in a rage, and all the rest of his buffalo too licked it. In the meantime the woman and her husband had come to a river and climbed up a big tree. Red-scar ran after his wife again. When he came to the river, he missed her tracks. He passed her. The buffalo all passed the tree without looking up to them. When they had all passed the tree, there was still left a scabby buffalo far behind, which came to the tree last and rubbed his back against the tree for it was itching very much. The woman nearly urinated. Finally she could not keep it back any longer, she urinated on the scabby buffalo's back. Suddenly the scabby buffalo felt it on his back. He slowly looked up at the tree. Then he saw the man and Red-scar's wife sitting high up in the tree. Then he said loudly: Red-scar, here is your wife, at the top of the tree. Slowly Red-scar led his buffalo back to the tree. He then told his buffalo to break down the tree by striking it with their horns, one after the other. The first buffalo that struck the tree was killed by the man with an arrow. The buffaloes kept doing it, one by one, and the man killed them one by one with his arrows. At last Red-scar only was left alive. He tried his luck in striking down the tree. So he walked backward first, bawling with rage. Then he ran up to the tree and struck it with his horns and the man shot Red-scar with an arrow. The arrow did not hurt Red-scar, so he kept striking the tree, the man shooting one arrow after the other. Finally the tree was nearly broken down by Red-scar's horns. The man said to his wife: Did Red-scar ever tell you of anything that might kill him? While he was saying this the tree was about to fall. The woman said to her husband: Yes, he told me, that a brasspointed arrow would make an end of his life. The man had used all his arrows but the brass-pointed one. He then carefully aimed at Red-scar and hit him with this arrow and killed him. So Redscar was killed by this man. Then the man told his wife: We are safe. They climbed down. The man butchered Red-scar. He did not eat anything of his flesh. He only ate Red-scar's kidney. While

eating this kidney he cut off half of it and gave it to his wife and told her, that she might eat some of it too. The woman took the kidney and held it before her mouth with tears in her eyes. Then the man asked his wife whether she loved Red-scar. Before the woman could answer him he cut her throat.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck obt 13 sqq.]

The girl who married a star.

Once upon a time there were some camps. One night two girls were sitting outside the lodge, looking up to the sky, and wondering how the beautiful stars came to be in their places, and wondering what they could be. One of them said to her friend: I wish I had that beautiful star as my husband. And the other girl also said, that she too wished for a beautiful star, the one that sparkled most of all. Then they went to bed and went to sleep. Next day some women went into the forest to fetch wood. Among them was one of the two girls, the one who had wished for the brightest star in the sky. Then they all got some wood, which they loaded on their back as usually, and set out back to the camps. That girl who had wished for the brightest star had some trouble with her wood. The rope snapped and the wood fell down and she was left behind. After the women had got out of sight, she suddenly saw a young man whom she had never seen before. This young man was well dressed and he was finelooking. He came just in front of her. The girl said to him: What do you want? I never saw you and you have no right to come in front of me; get out of my way for I must go. The young man told her, that she should remember what she had said. Then the girl told him, that she did not know she had said anything particular lately. The young man said to her: Do you remember what you two girls were saving last night, about the stars that are in the sky? And then he told her, that he himself was the very man whom she had wished to have as a husband and that he must take her with him, that she should not break her promise. Then she said: Yes, now I remember what I said last night, that I wished for the brightest star, to have him as my husband. And then she told him, that she was willing to go along with him and that she would not break her promise. So

she left her wood and went along with him little ways. Then the man told her, that she must close her eyes. She did and for some time she did not look. Then the man said to her, that she might look. When she looked, she was in another world. There she was living with him in a fine lodge for a long time. She got a little baby-boy. When next summer came, her husband told her, that, when being out digging up turnips, she should not dig up a certain big turnip. Then she was going from one place to another digging up turnips. Then she came to that particular great big turnip. She was standing by it for a long time, thinking what could happen if she dug it up. Finally she made up her mind, to dig it up. She dug it up. When she pulled it out of its place, she felt the wind coming up from the hole. Then she looked down through this hole. She saw another world beneath her. She knew, that it was her own country and that she was above it, in the sky. Then she kept looking down steadily for some time. Suddenly she saw all the camps of her own people. She saw children, which were playing around the camps, and girls who were out picking berries. She also saw the young men who were gambling with the gambling-wheel. Her heart was broken. She lay down before this hole and was crying nearly all day long. She cried so much, that her eyes were swollen. Then she went home. When her husband saw her, he asked her whether she had dug up a lot of turnips. She told him she had. Then he asked her what was the matter with her, that she must have been crying. But at the same time the man already knew, that his wife had dug up the turnip that he did not want her to dig up. And then he said to her, that he had told her before not to dig that turnip up. Then he asked her: Do you wish to see your people again? She answered him, that she was longing to see her people again. Then he began to kill buffalo. When he had killed many hundreds of them, he began to cut up the hides as for ropes. After cutting up all of them he said to her: Now you shall go back down to your own people. He went to the spot where the hole was. When they came to it, he tied his wife, under her arms, to these hide-ropes, which were all tied together. And then he let her down through the hole. She was coming down through the air. Underneath some young men were gambling with the gambling-wheel. Among these men was a little boy, which was lying on his back, looking up to the sky. This little boy had sore eyes. He saw something coming down through the air. He jumped up with fright and said to the young men who were gambling: There is something coming down through

the air. They all looked up and they saw nothing. They said to the little boy, that he must have seen dirt in his eyes. And they all threw dirt into his eyes and told him to keep quiet. The little boy lay down on his back again. He saw the same thing. Again he told them, that he saw something coming down through the air and that it was still nearer. They all looked up again. They saw nothing. Then they knocked the little boy about and told him, that he must have seen dirt in his eves and that he should keep quiet as they were busy gambling. He lay down again on his back and looked up. Again he saw it coming down through the air. This time it was still nearer. He again jumped up and told them the same thing as before. He told them, that he really saw something and that they should look up steadily. They all looked up. They saw nothing. And they did the same thing as before to the little boy. Then he lay down on his back again and looked up again. Before he could say another word, the woman came down on the ground, just in front of these young men who were gambling. Then they saw this woman who had disappeared and they were all glad to see her. And they took her to her lodge. There her people saw her. Her folks were very glad to see her back alive. She told them what had happened to her and how she had come down. This little baby-boy of hers, she always kept it hidden under her dress: it was a star [a certain prairie-weed]. One day she was in a hurry to go out to fetch wood and she left her baby under the bed. After she left, her little sisters were playing on her bed. Then one of them happened to see this star and she threw it out of the bed and then they tore it to pieces. When the woman came back with her wood, she was in a hurry to get inside the lodge and to see her baby. When she came in, she saw her baby all torn to pieces, scattered on her bed. Then she cried for her little baby.

Red-head.

Once there lived a fine married couple. The man was killed by Red-head. When the woman was a widow, all the men of her own tribe wanted to marry her, but she did not like to get married again as she thought too much of her husband who had been killed by Red-head. At last a man told his sister to go and tell the fine woman, that he wanted to marry her. His sister told him, that

he would not get the woman, that she refused all the fine young men who asked her and that she would not like him. But he kept begging his sister to go and tell the woman, that he wanted to marry her. His sister finally went to the woman and told her, that her brother was very anxious to have her as his wife, and she said: I hope you are willing to marry my brother. The woman said to her: Yes, everybody in the camps wants to marry me and vet I do not like to be married. But now I shall not refuse your brother, but one thing I must tell him: I am always longing to be quit with Red-head for killing my husband. He must go and kill Red-head for me. If he kills him, I shall marry him. The woman went back to her brother and told him the answer. The young man was surprised to hear this, for every one knew, that Red-head was a very fierce man. Then he said to his sister: I shall try my luck and see if I can kill Red-head. So he left at once to hunt Red-head up. He was going about for a long time. At last he came to an old woman who was living by herself. He asked this old woman whether she knew anything about Red-head's camp. The old woman told him, that she did not, but that he must go on to the next camp, where another old woman was living by herself. So he went on to the next camp. This old woman was living in a large rock. She had a bear by way of a dog, which was tied fast outside of her rock-house. The young man came to the rock-house. The bear was growling at him when he stood before the doorway. He called the old woman and begged her to quieten the bear before it would bite him. The old woman opened her big rock-door and told the bear not to bite the young man. Then she asked him: What is the reason you come this way and what are you going to do? He told her: I am looking for Redhead, whom I must kill. Then she told him to come inside her house. He came in with the old woman. Then the old woman told him, that she had once had a son who had been killed by Redhead. That she was always feeling bad about it and that she would like to see Red-head killed. She told him to stop in her house over night as she would prepare him. At night she gave him a piece of wolverine-skin, which he was to tie round his wrists as bracelets. Then she gave him a sharp-pointed elk-antler, which is called sewing-awl. She told him: This is all you will kill Red-head with. Then she transformed him into a woman. So he was a woman that night. Next morning the old woman took the young woman out, who was very finely dressed. Then she showed her where Red-head was living and told her: Now

RED-HEAD. 99

you must go to that big ridge. There you will see Red-head's lodge. There are only three people in that lodge: Red-head, his brother and their old mother. Before going in you must pray to all the insects you see on the ground to aid you and they will hear you and help you out by magic. When she came near this lodge, she sat down on a pile of wood close by. Every insect came to her. She praved to them to aid her and give her a chance to marry Red-head. At that time Red-head was out hunting. After some time Red-head returned to his lodge. When he came in, his mother was going out to fetch wood. She saw the fine young woman who was sitting in the forest. She said to her: What do you want? The young woman told her, that the reason why she had come was this, that she wanted to be married to her son Red-head. The old woman told her to wait outside. She herself would go in and tell Red-head about it. She went into the lodge and told her son Red-head: There is a woman outside; she is the best-looking woman I ever saw. You should marry her and you should not kill her. Red-head said to his mother: Bring her in and I shall see her. The old woman brought her into the lodge. When Red-head saw this woman, he told his mother: You may sleep with her to-night and to-morrow you must wash her clean. The old woman slept with the young one. Next morning Red-head cut out pieces of buckskin for moccasins. He said to the young woman: Now you must bead these moccasins and you must finish them before I come back to-day. He also cut out a pair of leggings and told the young woman to bead these too, with porcupine-quills. Then Red-head went out hunting. After he left, the old woman said to the young woman: I did not have pity on many women who married my son before. Several married my son and my son killed them, but you are the first woman I should like to have as my daughter-inlaw. Try your best to-day to get ready with the moccasins and the leggings before Red-head comes back. The old woman gave her some porcupine-quills that had been prepared to be used for beading. The young woman told her, that she would go outside into the brushes, to bead there, because it was a shady place. She went out with them into the brushes, where she came to a multitude of ants. She prayed to them to aid her beading the moccasins and the leggings. And she told them, that she must finish them before sunset. Then she laid the moccasins and the leggings down in front of the ants and went to sleep. She fell asleep. About the middle of the afternoon she heard somebody drop the moccasins and leggings in front of her. Then she heard somebody saying:

Here are your moccasins and leggings, they are beaded. When she looked at the moccasins and the leggings, she saw, that they were very pretty. She took them up and went back to the lodge with them and showed them to the old woman. When the old woman saw them, she told her, that these were the prettiest moccasins she ever saw. Red-head came back. Before he came inside the lodge, his mother took up the leggings and the moccasins and brought them outside to show them to Red-head. Then she said to Redhead: Now, my son, pity me and marry this young woman, for I like her very much as my daughter-in-law. Red-head said to his mother: Now, mother, she is your daughter-in-law. It was night and Red-head went to bed with his new wife. The young woman's eyes still showed, that she was a man. Red-head had pets: magpies. These magpies would say: Red-head's wife has man's eyes. And the old woman would get angry with these birds and would hit them and they would fly away. When it was morning, Red-head and his wife got up. He said to his wife: I shall not go out hunting to-day, we shall go to that hill and sit down there, for I want to look around. When they came on top of the hill, Redhead told his wife: You look for lice on my head as a pastime. Then he laid his head on his wife's lap. The woman did not look for lice but she was just playing with Red-head's hair. Finally Red-head fell asleep and his wife laid his head down on the ground and shook him, to see whether he was sound asleep. When she knew he was, she took out the sewing-awl, which she had hidden under her moccasin-laces. She then took a stone and stuck the sewing-awl in Red-head's ear-hole and knocked it in with this stone. Red-head did not move at all and was killed by his wife. Then the woman scalped Red-head and went away with the scalp. After some time Red-head's mother said to her voungest son: Your brother is lying on top of the hill, alone; go up and see what is the matter with him. The boy went up the hill where his brother was lying. Then he saw, his brother had been killed and scalped. He ran back to his mother. He told her: My brother has been killed and scalped. When the old woman heard this, she ran to the hill where her son was lying. From this hill she followed the tracks of her daughter-in-law. By this time the young woman had come close to the old woman who lived in the rock-house. She called the old woman. Then Red-head's mother was about to catch her. Then the old woman of the rock-house opened her door and the young one ran in; then she was safe. Red-head's mother came running in front of the door and begged the old woman to let

her in, but the old woman told her to go away. The other old woman kept begging her. At last she opened her door and told her to come in. When Red-head's mother was going through the doorway, a big stone fell down and smashed her head. She was killed. Then Red-head's brother was living by himself. The young woman stayed over night with the old woman in the rock-house and gave her half the scalp. The old woman changed her back into a man that night. Then she told the young man, that he must go back with half the scalp and show it to the woman and that she would believe, that it was Red-head's hair, as it was red. So he set out home next morning. After some time he came home. Then he made a dance that is called war-dance. He danced and all the people of the camps were singing songs. When the dance was finished, he gave half the scalp to the woman who had told him to kill Red-head. When he had given her this hair, he got her for wife.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck nsbt 123 sqq.]

Weird adventures of some young men.

Once there were four young men who went to the war. When they were on the prairie, they made a shelter to stay in over night. When night came, they all went to sleep. When it was morning, one of them went out to get some wood to make fire with. When he came to the doorway, he saw a hairy-looking thing he did not know. He tried to step over it. Then it went up. He could not step over it. He tried to crawl under it, but it drew itself down on the ground. Then he got afraid. He awaked the others and told them what he saw. Then they all jumped up from their beds and went to the doorway and looked at the living thing they saw. One of them said to the others: Let us build a fire on top of it and it will get out of our way. They did. Then the thing was all burned up. When they came out of their shelter, they did not see head or tail on it. One of them said: It looks fine to eat, let us taste it. The flesh was very white. He took a piece of the flesh and ate some of it. He said to the others: That tastes fine, come and help yourselves to it. The others were afraid of it and refused to cat it. They went off. After they had got far, this man who had eaten some of it, said to the others, that he was feeling very queer. The others asked him: How do you feel?

Before he could say another word, he fell down dead. He was poisoned by this animal he had eaten. They went on. They camped near a wide river. When night came, they all went to bed. Before they fell asleep, one of them saw a man coming into their camp who did not have any flesh on his body, but bones only. It was a ghost, what he saw. He then awaked the others and told them to get up and look. Then they all looked up at the ghost. The ghost was sitting quite close to the fire-side. He was making the fire with his bony hands. He then leaned back again, covered his face with his hands. One of the men prayed to the ghost and begged him to leave the camp and not to frighten them any more. Then the ghost immediately repeated the words the man had spoken. Then the man who had prayed to the ghost loaded his gun and told the ghost not to stay there any longer, else he would shoot at him. The ghost repeated his words: I prayed to you not to frighten us any longer. If you do not leave our camp, I shall shoot at you. Then the man shot the ghost just between his legs. When he was shot, the ghost fell back and stood on his head, his legs up in the air, kicking, crying loudly. Then he left the camp. After he went out of the camp, the men heard him howl like an owl and they could hear he was going off. At last they could hear just a little of the noise he was making. The man who shot the ghost was paralyzed. Towards morning he died. Then two only were left. Next day they returned to their home. On the way they tried to catch some young deer. When they could not catch these young deer, they saw a pack of wolves fighting their prey, a buck. The men looked on and at last the wolves killed their prey. And then the wolves butchered the buck like human beings. One of them cut the buck's leg. Then he walked with this leg to a stone and broke it in two to eat the marrow. The men were very anxious to know how he could get the marrow out. When the wolf had broken the bone, he sat up like a man. Then he held this bone in front of his penis. And then he stuck his penis into the marrow. Then he drew it out again and some marrow went with it and he licked it. He did this several times. When he had got out all the marrow, he sang a beautiful song. The young men were frightened and astonished to hear the wolf singing. Then they left him. After going far they saw a bear and two cubs coming towards them. Before the bear came near, she stopped, went back to her cubs, got hold of the one that was leading and threw it up in the air. Then she went to the other, got hold of this one too, which she shook first, and then threw it away like nothing.

The first cub, which had been thrown up in the air, did not move a bit. The second, which had been thrown aside, cried like a baby. Then the bear took up the little cub that was crying and kissed it as if she was a real woman. She then laid it down on the ground as if trying to make it asleep. Then she went to the first, the one that had been thrown up in the air. She took it up in her arms, but the little one was dead. She listened to her little one's heart, to listen whether it was still beating. When she knew that her little one was dead, she dropped it on the ground and cried with all her might. Then she got up and ran to a brush that was close by. She came back with the male bear and took him to the place where her little one was lying. The young men who were watching the bear, could not discover one thing, namely whether the bear could talk. The female bear pointed at her little one and watched the male bear. Then the male bear stood still, watching the dead cub for a while as if saying, that he could not bring the little one back to life. Then he went back to the brush. After he left, the female bear cried again and then ran to some high trees close by and came back with another big brown bear. When she took him in front of her dead little one, the male bear stood still, watching the dead cub. Then he walked backward, singing aloud. While he was walking backward, his feet were sticking to the ground as if he was walking on a soft, muddy soil. The men came still nearer to see how the bear would act to bring the dead cub back to life. The bear sang and took some dirt in his paws and rubbed it between his paws like a human being who is going to paint himself. He then painted his forehead yellow. After painting himself he ran to the little dead cub. He got hold of it and swung it about as if he was a real man. Then he laid it down again and did the same thing again. He then sang very loudly, swinging the little bear around. Then they heard the little bear cry, which had come back to life. Then the male bear laid it down on the ground and went off, back to the forest. Then the female bear took up her little one and kissed it. When they had seen this, they went on again and kept walking until they came back home. One of the two became a medicine-man. He could doctor a man who was about to die from illness or wounds. This he got from the bear in his dreams. And the other too became a medicine-man. The wolf pitied him and made him a medicine-man. They were the best medicine-man of their camps.

The sun trapped.

Once upon a time some Peigans were camping. For some time they were suffering from small-pox. They all died from it except two, a sister and a brother. The girl was the eldest. They took one tipi and went away from their dead folks. They camped. They had also taken their father's bow and arrows. The girl said to her brother, that he must learn how to use the bow and arrows. The little boy went out hunting birds and rabbits. On these they were living. One day the boy went out hunting. He did not return for several nights. His sister was longing for him. The boy had found, that the sun goes underneath the ground when it sets. He determined to set a trap on this trail. He untied his bow-string. This string was a very stout one. He made a loop in it and set it just on the trail. Then he went back to his camp. His sister asked him where he had been. He told her: I have been out hunting in the country. She said to him, that he should not stay away too long. Then it was night. That night seemed very long to them. Finally his sister told him: It is funny, we are having a very long night now and at other times we have always short nights during summer. He told his sister: I saw a track and I set my bow-string as a trap there. His sister said to him: Go thither and see what you have trapped. When he was told this by his sister, he got up from his bed and went to the place where he had set his trap. Before he came to the spot, it was very hot. And the trap was shining brightly. He ran back to his sister and told her, that he had trapped something very hot and shining. So they went to it. When they came near it, his sister said to him: You have trapped the sun; we must look for someone to help us to untie it. They went about calling for help. To anyone they met they would tell to go and untie the sun. They would bring them to the spot where the sun was. Before they came very near, they would be suffering from the heat, so that they looked quite black. By this time the boy and his sister were as black as charcoal. Then they would go off again to call in somebody else's aid. Finally they came to a mole. They asked this mole whether he could help them untying the sun and they went back with the mole. The mole dug a deep hole underneath the place where the sun was. When he was straight underneath the sun he went up digging until he came to the thing the bow-string had been tied to. Then he gnawed it through and the sun was free. Then it was morning: at last the sun rose. The boy and his sister went back to their camp and were as black as negroes for ever.

The man who was pitied by a snake.

Once a man left the camps in order to see many strange things in his dreams and to come back as a medicine-man. Every night he would sleep in another place. He had seen many things in his dreams. He also saw spirits and powerful beings, but the things he saw did not please him. Al last he came to a large spring. He followed that spring as far as its mouth. He went to sleep that night as usually. This time he did not have a dream. When daylight came, he awaked. He was lying there awake. As soon as the sun rose above the hill, he saw a great big rattle-snake, which was standing upright in the middle of the mouth of the spring. He looked at the snake and was frightened. He thought, that he had come to the end of his life. The snake looked at him for a while. Then he told the man, that he should not have come to the place where he was living and that anyone who came and slept near the spring, was devoured by him. While the snake was talking to him, he was praying to the snake at the same time. Then the snake told him he should leave at once and he should not come again; that he would let him go this time. He begged the snake to let him stay near the spring for four nights only and to have pity on him and to give him some kind of medicine to be used in doctering illness and wounds and to make him a very powerful man, who could not be killed by bullet-wounds. That he had been travelling from one place to another, having bad times, starving most of the time, just only to become a medicine-man. At every word he said to the snake, the snake would erect himself still higher. He had one eye in the centre of his forehead. It shone brightly like the sun. He also had a horn above his eye and this too shone like the sun. While the man was talking to him, the snake told him, that it would be better for him to leave the spring at once, that he had no power to make somebody a medicine-man. And he told him: I do not want to see you here again in the

morning. I shall kill you if you do stay around here. Then the snake disappeared back into the spring. The man made up his mind to try his luck and stay till next morning and beg the snake again to give him some medicine. He staved there all day without seeing the snake that lived in the spring. Then night came. He went to sleep. Then daylight came. He awaked with fright. He thought to himself, that it was his last day. Just when the sun rose above the hill, he again saw the snake appear from the spring. This time the snake was very angry and asked him whether he did not remember what he was told before. The man said he did and begged him with all his might, that he should not kill him but let him have what he wanted. The snake told him, that he did not pity any man who came to him. But the man kept begging and praying to him. The snake said to him: I shall let you go again this time, but go away at once. Then the snake disappeared again into the spring. The man staved near the spring again. The third night came. He slept there again. This time he did not sleep at all during the night, for he was awfully afraid, that the snake would kill him this time. Then it was daylight again. When the sun rose above the hill again, he saw the snake appear again. Before the snake had time to talk to him, he prayed to him and begged him not to kill him; that he was a poor man. This time the snake did not say much to him. He told him, that he should have more sense and mind what he had told him and that he should leave now and not come back for the fourth time, else he would surely kill him. The snake disappeared again. The man thought he should go home and mind what the snake had told him. So he left the spring. After he went away from the spring, he thought to himself, that it would be better if the snake killed him, without anybody knowing it. He determined to try his fourth night. So he returned to the spring. He stayed there all day. When night came, he went to sleep as usually. When morning came, he awaked. The sun had already risen. Then he saw the snake again. He thought: This is my last day. He prayed to the snake and begged him not to harm him. The snake looked at the man for a while with his shining eye. Then he said to him, that he must really want to be a medicine-man. And he told him: Now, my dear son, I shall make you a medicine-man and a very powerful being, but you must do as I shall tell you to do. Go forth to the hills and look for a rattle-snake and kill it and cut it open and take out its bladder and go to the water and bathe yourself. After cleaning yourself with water cut the bladder open

and perfume your body with the contents of it and come back to me and I shall prepare you. He went to the hills at once and looked for a snake. Before he came to the hills, he saw a rattlesnake. He killed it, he cut it open and he took out the bladder. He then went to the water and took a good bath. Then he cut the bladder open and perfumed himself all over his body. Then he went back to the snake. Then the snake gave him various songs and blessed him and told him, that he would not be killed by his enemies or powerful beings, that he would be a very powerful man. He went back to his own people and was very glad to get home. His people were also very glad to see him back alive. After some time he summoned everybody in the camp to go to the war with him. He was the leader of this party. After some time they came to a band of Sioux Indians. Then they thought they would have a war with the Sioux Indians. In this way the war began between the Peigans and the Sioux. The leader of the Sioux was Iron-horn. All day long the fight was going on. The Peigans got the best of the Sioux Indians. Next day the fight was still going on. Early in the afternoon the Peigans and the Sioux could not stand fighting any longer, for they were all very hungry and thirsty. Then Iron-horn met Rattle-snake (so the man was called) and they had a duel. At first they were standing in front of each other, shooting at each other without hurting one another. At last they threw their guns away and drew their knives. First Iron-horn stabbed Rattle-snake in his side. When he stabbed Rattle-snake, his knife could not penetrate into Rattle-snake's body but it broke off as if he was stabbing a hard rock. And Rattle-snake thought, that he would surely kill Iron-horn with his knife. He stabbed him. When he stabbed him in his side, his knife just curled up as if he had stabbed a rock. Then Iron-horn turned into a buffalobull. He stood raging, he had iron horns. He was about to butt him. Rattle-snake turned into a rabbit and ran away. When Ironhorn saw, that he could not catch him, he turned into a sparrowhawk. He flew after the rabbit. Then Rattle-snake turned into a grizzly-bear and Iron-horn again turned into a buffalo. Iron-horn was getting the best of Rattle-snake. He butted him with his iron horns. When Rattle-snake saw, he could not fight him, he turned into a great big rattle-snake. He bit Iron-horn in his nose. When Iron-horn was bitten by the snake, he dropped dead. The fight was ended. The Sioux and the Peigans had stopped fighting while Iron-horn and Rattle-snake were fighting. Rattle-snake went back to his own people and told them he would never be killed by any

person, animal or any kind of spirits or powerful beings. And he told them how the snake of the spring had behaved towards him. From that time the Peigans seem to be the most powerful tribe. And they were known as the best fighters.

The young man and the turtle.

Once upon a time two young men went to war and went to steal some horses from other tribes. While going, they got very tired and thirsty. They passed a lake and they saw a great big turtle. One of them said to the other: it would be a fine thing for us to ride on the turtle's back. The other said: The poor fellow would not like it if we rode on his back. But the other was a foolish man. He kept saying, that it would be fine to have a ride on the turtle. At last his friend did not say anything more about the turtle. So the other walked up to the turtle and stood upon its back, laughing and shouting and telling his friend to do the same. His friend said to him, that he would not step on the poor fellow's back, but that he would just follow him and look on. When the turtle was about to walk into the lake, the young man tried to step off its back. His foot stuck to the turtle's back as if it was glued to it. He then called his friend to help him off. By this time the turtle was walking into the lake. Then his friend got hold of his arms and tried to pull him off the turtle's back. Then he got very much frightened. At last his friend gave up helping him. It was knee-deep by this time. The turtle kept walking with him into the lake until the man disappeared into the water.

Origin of the grass-dance.

Once upon a time (not very long ago) a Sioux Indian was living in his lodge all by himself. Every day this man would go out hunting on the prairie. One day he went out as usually. All day he was out hunting on the prairie. Towards evening he returned to his camp. Before he could reach his camp, it was dark. There was a high ridge in front of his lodge. While going over this hill he heard a big base-drum[?]. He stopped and listened to this noise.

He heard men singing and beating the drum and he heard bells jingling. He stood there for some time and it seemed very queer to him. At the same time he was afraid and anxious to know what this noise meant. Then he encouraged himself to go to his lodge and to see what was going on there. Finally he went down the hill to his lodge. Before he came near, the noise stopped. He kept going on. All at once he saw roosters running out of his lodge. He knew very well, that these roosters had been making the noise. He went into his lodge. He went to bed and while he was lying in his bed, he was keeping this drumming and jingling he had heard in his mind all the time. He heard the song too. That song was very beautiful and he was very anxious to know what this dance could be. He fell asleep. In his sleep he saw these roosters, that he had heard, coming into his lodge in the shape of a man. This man said to thim, that he should not be sorry for being disturbed: he would be given the dance. After telling him this the man called to some people outside to come into the lodge. All of them had painted their faces in many different colours. But they had not painted their faces all in the same way. They were very prettily dressed. Some wore buckskin suits, feather head-dresses, porcupine-quill head-dresses, porcupine-quill moccasins and they had bells round the legs. They were not dressed all alike. At the east-end he saw four men sitting round a big drum and at the west-end he saw several men who had feather dancing-belts. Some had clubs, prettily beaded, and beaded hatchets. He also saw one man at the east-end who had a whip and one man who had a sword and, in the middle of the crowd, one who had a beaded arrow and another with a beaded whistle. While seeing all this, he was told by the man whom he saw first in his sleep: Now, look at these young men, how their faces are painted and how they are dressed and at these men who have dancing-belts round their waists and who are considered as the leaders of the dance. And then the man told him to look at the man who had the whip and he explained to him, that this man would whip any man who was not willing to dance while the dance was going on. Then he told him, that the man with the sword would do the same thing. And then he spoke to him about the man who had the whistle and about the drummers. He told him to look on closely and to listen carefully and then he told the drummers to go on with their songs. He saw the drummers beating the drum and he heard them yelling before starting their song and then they began to sing. He heard very wonderful songs. He saw all these young men who were

dressed up, dancing about. This dance went on for some time. Then the man told him, that there would be sung a certain song for the men who had the bells. Then these men were dancing round in a circle, four times. Next came another song. The man with the whip got up and danced on this song. Another song was sung for the man who had the sword. And another for the man who had the whistle and still another for the man with the arrow. This arrow was used as a dog-meat fork. Then the man was told to keep this dance in his memory, to establish it among his people, for the young men especially. After he awaked, he knew it by heart. Then he summoned all the young men and they talked it over. They all liked to see it and to dance this dance themselves. So it was danced first by the Sioux Indians. To-day it is called the "grass-dance".

Another story about the grass-dance tells, that the Crows discovered it. One of them saw a band of antilopes, which were dancing it.

APPENDIX II:

ETHNOLOGICAL COMMUNICATIONS.

Naming.

When a man has a child born and he is not able to give this child a name himself, he will call a chief or some old man to come to his lodge. He will tell him, that he has got a child, that he wishes to raise this child, that he wants it to have good luck, not to fall ill, and that he should like him or her to be useful. He will beg the old man or the chief to pray for him or her and to give him a name. Then this old man or this chief tells the father to take his choice, which name he should like for his child: after battles or after stealings or after the old man's dreams and what he heard from spirits and powerful beings. If the father answers, that he should like to have his child named after stealing, then the old man or the chief will ask the father which stolen thing he wants to name the child after: a shield, or a horse; or a spear, a gun, or anything he has stolen from their enemies. The father of the child will reflect on it for some time. Then he will think of a certain thing that would be a good name for the child. He will then perhaps say, that the child should be named after "". Then the old man or the chief who is to give the name, will think it over. He will then perhaps give it the name of "Takes-a-gun" or "Takes-gun-woman". Then he will pray for the child, that it may have good luck and may be safe from all illness and that it may be useful when grown-up. Or suppose he is going to name the child after battles he fought, he will give it a name like "Good-stab" or "Many-strikes" or "Stabbing-him-with-his-ownknife-woman (Auatâxtsimakei)" or "Many-kills" or "Crow"- or "Sioux"- or "Assiniboin"- or "Snake-Indian". These tribe-names are given because the old man or the chief killed Indians of these tribes. When the child is a girl, "-woman" will be put at the

end of the name, when it is a boy "-man" will be put at the end, for instance: "Many-massacration-woman" or "Many-massacration-man".

The old Mountain-chief gave several names after the stealing of a black horse from the Crows. It was considered as the best horse. He stole it in the day-time. He gave his son the name "Blackhorse-rider" because he had the good fortune to steal this horse without any trouble. And he gave his daughter the name "Daysteals-woman" because he stole this horse in the day-time. He also gave a nephew of his the name "Day-rider" because he rode this horse during the day. He also named one of his daughters. He fought the Cree Indians. He was chasing after a certain Cree Indian, whom he expected to kill very easily. This Cree Indian was a big, tall man. He overtook the Cree and got hold of his braid and tried to pull him down backward, but he was not able to do so. All at once the Cree Indian faced Mountain-chief. He got hold of Mountain-chief's hair. Then he [Mountain-chief] bent his head. The Cree Indian drew out his big knife. When he was about to stab Mountain-chief in the back, Mountain-chief parried the knife while it was coming down. He then grabbed the knife and took it away from the Cree Indian. He stabbed the Cree Indian between his ribs and killed him with his own knife. So he gave this daughter of his the name "Has-killed-himself-woman". He also gave a name to his grandson. Before giving a name to his children or grandchildren, he would first tell the complete story of how he did the stealing or the fighting. Once, while fighting, he was wounded at his leg. The Sioux Indian who shot him, alighted and ran away from his horse. And Mountain-chief took the horse and got on it and chased this Sioux. He thought he would pay him for what he had done to him. Then all the Sioux and all the Peigans did not shoot for a while but watched Mountain-chief when he was chasing the Sioux Indian. Before the Sioux Indian came to his own people, Mountain-chief was about to run over him. All began to shoot at Mountain-chief, but Mountain-chief did not turn back. Finally he run over this Sioux Indian with his own horse. Before the Sioux Indian had time to get up, Mountain-chief jumped off the horse and straight upon the Sioux Indian and stabbed him dead and scalped him. After relating this accident, he gave one grandson of his the name "Chased-by-his-own-horse". He then said, that it had been a narrow escape; and good luck, that he never was hit by the Sioux who were near him when he stabbed the Indian. That he wished, that the boy would have good luck and that he may get out of his troubles all through his life.

NAMING. 113

To another grandson he gave another name. Before he named him, he spoke like this: In my younger days I often made mischief around the camps, but I never got into trouble by it. Then he told, that he stole lots of things and horses from his enemies. That he fought in many wars, with many different tribes, and that he was known by many different tribes. That he always got out of danger without being much hurt. That he was shot but twice. He then said: Now, my enemies had very good chances to kill me. I do not see how they could possibly miss me when they were standing in front of me, shooting at me with their guns. All the different tribes heard my voice and would recognize my voice every time we had war. This yelling during the fight I did because I always thought: It would be better for me to get killed by a gun in a quick way. Now I shall give my grandson the name of "Every-body-heard". May he have good luck, get no illness, may he not get into trouble among his own people and be useful and honest when grown-up.

He gave another name to another child (one of Tatsey's children). He told the story first. Once his own people were all camping together to celebrate their medicine-lodge. Beyond the river was the band of Flatheads and Kootenais. The river was very high; it was the Missoula river, which the Peigans call ,,the big river (Ómaχkaχtaye)". From the other bank the Flatheads were making signs to the Peigans to cross to them. Every-body of the Peigans distrusted the Flatheads and Kootenais: they would shoot them if they crossed the river. Then Mountain-chief praised and encouraged his people and asked who of them were willing to go with him. Four other chiefs told Mountain-chief, that they were willing to go with him. Then they went into a boat and pushed off from the shore. A violent wind came, which made fierce waves. When Mountain-chief looked at the four other men, he saw them all sit shivering with frightened, pale faces. He saw, that these men were frightened by the water and that the white man who was paddling was also frightened, and he knew, that he could not do anything with the boat. The boat was in danger of sinking. When Mountainchief looked back at the side where his own people were camping, he saw everybody running up to the bank and watching them. The same with the Flatheads and Kootenais. Then Mountain-chief thought: It will be a good thing to be drowned and not to be killed by the Flatheads and Kootenais. Then he said to the four chiefs who were with him: You are no children or women, you should not be frightened by the water. He also told them, that

the water has no knife or gun to kill them. That they should conquer their fright and make their hearts big for that they were to meet the Flatheads and Kootenais. He was talking loudly and said, that he was willing to go to the land of Spirits, that no one on this wide world can step over death. He then yelled and sang aloud. This frightened the chiefs very much. The boat did not upset. The wind abated. The white man kept paddling the boat and they came across to the Flatheads and the Kootenais. The chief of the Flatheads and Kootenais shook hands with them and invited them to come to their camps. The four other men who were with Mountain-chief were invited by other Flatheads and Mountain-chief himself was invited by a young Flathead Indian who was well dressed and who had a beautiful-looking horse. This Flathead got on his horse and made signs to Mountain-chief to get on behind him. He did. They went full-speed to the camp. Before they went through the camp, he heard women and men shout and he heard gun-shots. Then he had bad feelings. At last they came to this man's lodge. The Flathead made signs to him to get off. Both got off the horse. Then they went inside the lodge. As soon as they entered the lodge, this Flathead made signs to Mountain-chief that he would have him as his friend. Then he sat down with him. By this time the lodge was crowded with Flatheads and Kootenais and Mountain-chief still heard the shouting of men and women and the gun-shots. Then he thought: The four others must have been killed already. And he thought, that he himself would be killed last. He thought so because the Flatheads and Kootenais who were crowding this lodge had their guns and knives with them, ready for use. He was frightened but did not show it. Everybody in the lodge was watching his eyes. The young man who took him into the lodge made signs to him to look at him. So he did. Then the young man explained to him with signs: I am the chief of the Flatheads and Kootenais. I had many hard fights. No one ever frightened me in my life. Nobody ever wounded me with a bullet. He also told Mountainchief, that he should not be afraid, that nobody in the camp would hurt him. That the first man who showed a mind to kill Mountainchief would be killed by him. That Mountain-chief would see his own people back that very day. This made Mountain-chief feel glad. Then the man talked Flathead to his own people who were crowding the lodge. As soon as he had done talking, they all went out. The shouting and the shooting was ended. The whole afternoon he stayed in the lodge with his new friend. After some time the man told Mountain-chief to get ready to go back to his own camp. He

NAMING. 115

also got some presents from him and a race-horse. He and his new friend got on their horses. He made signs to his friend, that he was afraid to cross the river on this horse. His friend answered with signs, that the horse was very strong and a good swimmer. Then they crossed the river. When they came across, he took his new friend to his lodge and gave him presents, also a race-horse. Then he accompanied him to the river to take care that no Peigan would hurt him. His friend went back to the other side and he himself went back to his lodge. When he had finished this story, he said again, that he wished, the child might have good luck, no illness. And that he would give it the name of "Every-body-watched".

[Cf. Uhlenbeck, Geslachts- en Persoonsnamen der Peigans. Verslagen en Mededeelingen der Koninklijke Akademie van Wetenschappen, Afdeeling *Letterkunde*, 4e Reeks, Deel XI p. 4 sqq.]

COMMUNICATIONS ABOUT CLANS, FAMILY RELATIONS AND INDIVIDUALS.

It is considered a mean, awful thing to marry a woman of your own people. One is not allowed to marry anybody who is any kind of relation to one.

The Fat-melters.

The Fat-melters are all pretty well-to-do people, honest and good-natured. There are but few who are not honest among their own people. They are very active people who go to the war and steal horses. But a few of them are not active and never go to the war. One thing is bad regarding this people: they like to enjoy themselves talking smut to each other, and their wives do the same. These people like to marry their close relations among them [this means: they intermarry]. The women like to do the same thing. They also like to have sexual intercourse with their own brother's wife. The girls and the women do the same thing.

Main chief of the Fat-melters was: Nyókskatosi (Three-sun), called by the whites Big-nose, married with Ksískstækyake (Beaver-woman). Nyókskatosi adopted Ixkitópyotæpatsèkami (Rider-crane), commonly known as Charles Reevis, son of a half-breed woman, married with Étomauayake (First-strike-woman). Rider-crane's daughter is Matsc-námayake (Fine-gun-woman). His sons: Louis, called Big-nose, Jim, Charles and Apikitapi (Scabby-man). His step-sons: Enækseekayi (Little-mink), government's name Sam Scabby-robe, Akáinamæχka (Many-guns), g.n. David Scabby-robe, Joe Scabby-robe (no Indian name). Enækseekayi is married with Enáksinopäχkumi (Small-fox-howl-woman), belonging to the same clan. His daughter is Áistasipistäχkumi (Common-owl-howl-woman).

Chief after Nyókskatosi was: Kenáksapopi (Little-plume), m.w. Nåχkétsiso (Different-cut-woman). His sons: Inépota (Flew-down), g.n. Louis Little-plume, Istαkáni (Depend-on), Ixpokánastαχkαχ-komiopi (Shot-down-both-the-horse-and-him), g.n. James Little-plume. His daughters: Kayetsáχkumi (Howls-on-top), Mary and Josephine Little-plume.

In 1904 Ixpokánastαχκαχκοπίορι was committed to 40 years of penitentiary. He killed a sleeping man who had once struck him, while drunk, and that man's wife and two children and a little baby that the woman carried on her back. After doing this he went back across the creek. While passing Running-owl's house he killed two girls who were outside. He then went into his house. He took out his wife to kill her, but the gun missed fire. Then he threw her down and cut her throat. The woman died; she was pregnant. Then he tried to cut his own throat. His face was black. About nine o'clock in the morning people came to the place: the sheriff, the agent and two doctors. The agent and the sheriff asked who did the murder. He said: One tall man who had his hair cut short and who was dark-complexioned and who wore a pair of leather chapps [a kind of cow-boy trousers]. But this was false. The agent and the sheriff believed it. When he was taken to the police-station in Browning, he thought, it would be better to give himself away. Then he said to the agent: I shall confess. I did the murder. I thought: I shall get quit with Wakes-up-last. The night before yesterday Buffalo-hide and Henry Hungry came in with some liquor and made me drunk. I was so drunk, that I could not stand upright. I went to bed and fell asleep. When it was day-light, I awaked sober and I remembered, that I had promised Wakes-up-last, that I would get quit with him some day. So I took my rifle and a belt full of cartridges. I took my horse out of the stable. I mounted it and rode across the creek to Wakes-up-last's house. I came to the door and knocked it. He told me: Come in. I said to him: You have slept late. He said: Yes. Then I told him: You remember what I promised you? Before he had time to answer my question I sent a bullet into his eye. His wife ran out. Then I sent a bullet into her head. Then I pitied the three children, so I thought: It would be better to kill them too. So I killed the two girls and the baby that was carried on its mother's back. I shot them all into their heads. Then I thought: Now I shall go across the creek and clean up my own house first and then Running-owl's house. Thence I shall go and kill as many people as I can and shall save one cartridge for myself. When I passed Running-owl's house, I saw two girls who were chopping wood, both about twenty years old. I shot one of them. The other was about to run into the house. I hit her and I went on to my own house. Then I took my wife out of the house. When I shot, my gun refused. I threw it down and took out my knife. While I was trying to cut her throat, she was calling for help as loudly

as she could. Running-owl is a damned coward. He should have come out like a man and should have helped his sister. I got hold of her and cut her throat. She fell down dead. It is lucky for Running-owl that he was lying hidden in his bed like a coyote, else I had butchered him. When I looked at my wife lying on the ground, with her face turned upward, she looked just as if she was only sleeping. Then I was very sorry that I killed her. Then I thought: I shall go to the land of spirits with my wife before she goes far away. I looked at her face once more and I kissed her. That made me damned near crying, but I thought: No use, I shall see her in just a minute. Then I took my knife again. Then I cut my throat. I could just feel the blood running down on my body. Then I thought: I shall not die from it. I cut my left arm to cut the artery to bleed to death. And I just saw my blood spouting up about ten feet high. All at once, while I was looking up to the sky, I felt like being blinded by somebody. I could not see any more. Then I was shaking all over, then I did not know anything. I do not know how long I have been lying there beside my wife. I awaked. I saw people surrounding us, the agent, the sheriff and two doctors. The doctor cured me. This is what I have done, as far as I know. My dear friends, do not be sorry for me: it would be better for me to be killed by the white men or to be hanged.

Then he was sent to penitentiary. He is twenty-six years old now [1910]. He behaves well in penitentiary: he is in the [musical] band and he is very skilful in braiding horse-hairs.

A nephew of Kenáksapopi is Ápoyotoksi (Yellow-kidney), m. w. Immoyíski (Hairy-face). His son: Saűstsikixkinä (Flat-side-head), g. n. Mike Yellow-kidney, was in penitentiary in the summer of 1910 for stealing horses.

Other heads of families belonging to the Fat-melters are:

Ekotsésapopi (Red-plume), m. w. Ékaistæpinnima (Catches-before), blood Indian woman.

Otαχkúisipistoyi (Yellow-owl), m. w. Margaret Spotted-bear (no Indian name), Black-doors.

Makúyisapopi (Wolf-plume), m. w. Étomauayakeei (First-strikes), All-chiefs. In 1910 Makúyisapopi was one of the two chiefs of this clan.

Óm $\alpha\chi$ ksìstsep α nikim (Sparrow-hawk), m. w. $A'\chi$ siksipistakei (Indian-pillow-woman), Fat-melters.

Penotúyomαχkani (Running-fisher), m. w. Netásepiake (Chase-after-enemy-alone-woman), Fat-melters.

Manókini (New-breast), m. w. Innáske (Long-face), Fat-melters. Enésikini (Buffalo-hide), m. w. Kixtsípimyake (Spotted-woman), Black-doors.

Ápautsisapoyi (Looking-for-smoke), m. w. Epetsístayake (Divedout-woman), Buffalo-chips.

Étspyå\(\chi\) ketopi (Middle-rider), m. w. K\(\alpha\) tait\(\alpha\) kyayake (Not-really-bear-woman), Black-doors.

Neókskaunistayi (Three-calf), m. w. Námaimatake (Takes-gunwoman), Blood Indian woman.

Ápaisiksinαmmi (Black-weasel), either m. w. Pástse [?] or with Natóχkstse (Medicine-shell), Bloods. The other chief of this clan in 1910.

Sźtapikstòkitayi (Split-ears), m. w. Esinźχsenikei (Fine-killing). Ísistsekozni (Wolverine), m. w. Páyotapoauzχkayi (Walking-back-to), Fat-melters.

Stźmiksesiksinæmmi (Black-bull), m. w. Akénausei (Makes-her-looks-like-woman), Blood Indian woman.

Nisámayokayi (Long-time-sleeping), m. w. Páyotänixkatayi (Callingback), Fat-melters.

Óki (Root), g.n. Henry Hungry, m. w. Neétaxtaitapiake (Riverpeople-woman), Cree Indian woman.

Sikskénayi (Black-face-man), m. w. Sépisisoyàke (Night-cuts-woman), Fat-melters.

 $A\chi$ sänayi (Good-gun), g. n. Jim No-chief, nickname Dandy Jim, m. w. Isksípyayi (Brings-back), Fat-melters.

Immoyésokasimi (Hairy-coat), m. w. Kanókani (Old-medicine-lodge), Bloods.

Sépenamαχka. (Takes-gun-at-night), g. n. John Night-gun, m.w. Οτχκúikaisi (Yellow-squirrel), Fat-melters.

† Sákyautsisei (Still-smoking), m. w. Istsitsáutåxpotakei (Firstsuowstorm-woman), Fat-melters, daughter of Ápaisiksinæmmi.

Sistsáuanayi (Bird-rattler), m. w. Náipistsake (Rag-woman), Fat-melters.

Stźmiksesαχkùmapi (Bull-boy), g. n. Daniel Bull-plume, m. w. Αχεipiksakei (Good-strikes-woman), Bloods.

Apinákuipeta (Morning-eagle), m. w. Etâχkitauayakei (Strikes-on-top-woman), Buffalo-chips.

Makúyistapistani (Strangle-wolf), m. w. Náyistotsinni (Holds-on-both-sides), Blood Indian woman.

Pétäpuka (Eagle-child), m. w.?

Páksikixkina (Smash-head), commonly known as Mud-head, married?

The Bloods.

In the olden times most of this people were active and brave and rich and all of them were friendly and honest. They too liked to talk smut, but they never married among their own relations. To-day these people are still enjoying themselves talking smut, but not to women nowadays. Most of them are still kind and honest people, but a few of them are not honest. However, they never get into any serious trouble (such things as killing, stealing). They do not like to see their own people getting into trouble by fighting, for they will fight together. But this never happened yet. But few of the women are very honest now, most of them are not. They can drink whisky, smoke and are crazy after men and lie just as well as men.

Heads of families:

Ninaistako (Chief-mountain), called Mountain-chief, m. w. Ksistapinamayake (Nothing-gun-woman), Blood Indian woman. One of the two chiefs of this clan.

Síkimiåzkitopi (Black-horse-rider), g n. Walter Mountain-chief, having been m. w. Sesźkunski (Spotted-forehead), g. n. Annie Bullplume, Blood Indian woman.

Íssokuyom $\alpha\chi$ kani (Heavy-runner), m. w. Ksístapiniskimmä (Nothing-buffalo-rock) [a rock or stone, having the shape of a buffalo-neck, that does not exist, but has been seen in a dream or something like that and is worshipped; explanation of Síkimiå χ kitopi], All-chiefs.

Stámiksonista (Bull-calf), m. w. Náipistsake (Rag-woman), belonging to a different clan.

Nátχkotχkitopi (Double-rider), m. w. Ksistúyetsima (Was-astray), Northern Peigan Indian woman.

Námαχka (Takes-gun), m. w. Akémi (Woman-body), Fat-melters. A'kaina (Old-chief), m. w. Apinákake (To-morrow-woman).

Ékasαχkumi (Shoots-ahead), son of A'kaina, g. n. John Old-chief, m. w. Emma Morning-gun, Fat-melters.

Páyotsinnautsei (Hold-each-other), g. n. John Kicking-woman, a wrong translation of Kipitásoyekaksin, his father's name, which means Old-woman-stretches-her-leg, m. w. Matsòomótsta (Fine-massacre), Buffalo-chips.

Síkåχkeka (Chew-black-bone), m. w. Máni (Indian pronunciation of Mary), Not-laughers.

Sóatseixpòtamiso (Tail-feather-coming-over-the-hill) or Akáunâyi

(Many-shots), Indian nickname, by the whites nicknamed Brockie, m. w. Piksáksenätapyake (Snake-Indian-woman), Fat-melters.

Sépistokosi (Owl-child), brother of Nínaistako, m. w. Máni (Mary), Blood Indian woman. The other chief of this clan.

Áyisuyisami (Medicine-boss-ribs), m. w. Sikskyáke (Black-face-woman), Bloods.

Sáukixtsoyi (Stretch-out), g. n. John Head-carrier, m. w. Sepéinimake (Night-catches-woman), Camping-in-a-bunch-people.

Páyotstso (Meet-together), g. n. Barney Calf-ribs, m. w. Matsésepii (Fine-chase-after), Fat-melters.

Sepistúikimani (Owl-top-feather), m. w. Síksikekayàke (Black-spot-back-woman), Not-laughers.

Issoksínamayi (Heavy-gun), m. w. A'xsotamake (Fine-leaderwoman) and Sékitsòake (Black-good-looks-woman), full sisters, Bloods.

Ksámαskinä (Hump-back), m.w. Nắχkitsoake (Good-looks-woman), Skunks.

Enéstauase (Buffalo-grown), called Buffalo-body, m.w. Áuotanyake (Shield-woman), Buffalo-chips.

Peksí (Chicken), m.w. Azsaipemi (Came-inside-all-right), Black-patch-people.

Emåyénam (Hairy-looks), g.n. Oliver Sandoval, half-breed, father white, m.w. Sekayáke (Mink-woman), Bloods.

Éksisækåyi (Meat-eater), g.n. Tom Kyaio, half-breed, father white, m.w. † Ayíkski (Shady-face), Bloods.

Piyí (Pemmican), g.n. Peter Marceau, half-breed, father white, m.w. Maggie Rose (no Indian name), Lone-fighters or Lone-eaters [S. told me that these are different names for the same clan; doubtless he is wrong].

Ispíksise (Thick-ass), g.n. Peter Cadotte, half-breed, father white, m.w. Matsóomòtsta (Fine-massacre), All-medicine-men.

The Lone-eaters (or Lone-figthers).

They like to fight among themselves and they are stingy about their grub and they are selfish even among themselves.

Heads of families:

Kátaisokàsimi (No-coat), m.w. Máni (Mary), Not-laughers. Chief of this clan.

Soyá (Wades-in-water), m.w. Sótoake (Knife-case-woman), All-chiefs.

Kátaukyayo (No-bear), g.n. Henry No-bear, m.w. Tápake (meaning unknown to S.), same clan.

Mékaninnima (Painted-wing), m.w. Étâχketauayake (Strikes-on-top-woman), Bloods.

Káka (meaning unknown to S.), g.n. Eddy Running-crane, m.w. Otsikóani (Brown-calf), All-chiefs.

Makskeánikapi (Bad-looking-face-young-man), m. w. $Sa\chi$ káke (Short-woman), Fat-melters.

Sépyote (Night-comes), m. w. Áuatâxtsepiàke (Chase-it-with-his-own-woman), Camp-in-a-bunch-people.

Séksipa (Bite), his deceased wife belonged to the Black-patch-people.

Nápiìnna (Old-man-chief), m. w. Nátχkosipistàke (Double-owl-woman), Flathead Indian woman.

The Black-patch-people.

These people always had black-patched moccasins.

Heads of families:

Imitáikoani (Little-dog), m.w. Soyánauαχkàye (Walking-in-water), Bloods. Chief of this clan.

Ómαχkokuyàtose (Big-wolf-medicine), m.w. Matsóomòtsta (Fine-massacre), Not-laughers.

Ómaxkaisto (Big-crow), m. w. Ámeaseitsitsko (Bushes-up [?]) and Apiksístsimake (Glass-woman), both Lone-eaters.

Áikαχtsei (Gambler), m.w. Máni (Mary), Not-laughers.

Stάχtapautsìmmi (Under-swims), wife belonging to the Bloods.

Pistspíta (Falls-inside), nickname, m.w. Otsémi (Guts-woman), Lone-eaters.

Stámiksèna (Bull-chief), m.w. Aikάχpsiso (Many-cuts-with), Fat-melters.

Manikápeinämi (Young-man-chief), m. w. Áuatâχtsiso (Cuts-it-with-his-own), Blood Indian woman.

The Buffalo-chips.

They do not like to go fetching wood: they just burn buffalochips all the time.

Heads of families:

Ápassis (Weasel-fat). Chief of this clan.

Pάχtsisimake (Stabs-by-mistake), m.w. Ksestsikúmikamosàke (Steals-in-the-day-time-woman), Bloods.

 $A'\chi$ kyapina (Home-gun), m.w. Akay $\acute{a}\chi$ kuyinimàke (Many-pipeswoman), same clan.

Neókskaina (Three-guns), m.w. Siksístsiksena (Black-snake), Notlaughers.

Äuakima (After-buffalo), m.w. Ékaik χ kane (Nose-cut-already-off) and $A\chi$ kúyinimàke (Pipe-womań), both belonging to the Buffalochips.

Pαχkápsαχkùmapi (Lazy-boy), m.w. Otáki (Shadow).

The Skunks.

† Ómαχkapekayekoanä (Big-skunk-man). Former chief of this clan. According to Páksikixkina (Smash-head) the clan was called after this chief.

Sóatsis (Tail-feathers), m.w. Ápekayàke (Skunk-woman), Camp-in-a-bunch-people.

Nisάmoχkotoki (Old-rock), m. w. Omaχkatayàke (Big-tiger-woman), Camp-in-a-bunch-people.

Peyáni (Far-robe), m.w. Nát χ kotsikamosáke (Double-steals-woman), Camp-in-a-bunch-people.

Páyotayàk χ kumei (Aims-back), m.w. Kayetså χ kumi (Howls-ontop), Fat-melters, daughter of Kenáksapopi (Little-plume).

Ekotsékakatosi (Red-star), m.w. Nå χ kå χ ksísake (Has-nose-woman), Bloods.

Pát α (Eating-grease), m. w. Natoisätsikum $\alpha \chi$ ka (Medicine-rattlers-running), Bloods.

Unistássamme (Calf-looking), m. w. Otáitapu (Weasel-went-to), Bloods.

Ómαχkùnnikis (Big-teat), m. w. Natoyínämiskàke (Medicine-pipe-woman), Not-laughers.

The Camp-in-a-bunch-people.

These people were called so because they always camped close together, even when travelling about. They seem to be a good-natured people, but not active. They were all very poor people except a few who are pretty well-to-do nowadays. They are all unclean, careless about their horses, their clothes and their homes. Their women are crazy after men and can drink just as well as men and get drunk; they are not very honest and steal just as well as men.

Heads of families:

Mékskimyauyi (Iron-eater), m. w. Sikáipistsake (Black-blanket-woman), Small-robes, and Pistúskä (Night-hawk-face), Skunks. Chief of this clan.

Unistáyi (Calf-robe), m. w. Étomauayake (Strikes-first-woman), Small-robes, and Makáke (Short-woman), Camp-in-a-bunch-people.

Kátsikomå χ kitòpi (Day-rider), m. w. Soyéniki (Kills-in-the-water), Bloods.

Unistayákaupi (Calf-sitting), his deceased wife was Matsóomòtsta-(Fine-massacre), Bloods.

Ómαχksistòani (Big-knife), m. w. Akáikixtsìpimyàke (Many-spots-woman), Bloods.

Otχtó (Heel), m. w. Kayíxtsipiniki (Spotted-kills), Bloods.

Mάtsipàupi (Sit-up-again), m.w. Natoómαχkixkinàake (Medicine-sheep-woman), Buffalo-chips.

Mékskimmekinni (Iron-necklace), m.w. Etsípstsenikyi (Kills-inside), Not-laughers.

Ksináapi (Old-coyote), m. w. Imakséni (Orphan), Not-laughers.

Apuyá (Light-face [light-complexioned]), m.w. Nitsítake (Loncwoman), Black-patch-people.

Ómαχkseksiskstαke (Big-beaver), m.w. Sepyáχkumi (In-the-night-howls), Blood Indian woman.

Áistskimautsisei (Flinter-smoker [?]), m.w. Stάχtsiksiskstαki (Underbeaver), same clan.

The Not-laughers.

These people are mean and do not like any people but their own. They are active, but not all of them. The women are not very honest. They like to enjoy themselves with other men besides their husbands. They [the women] also like to drink liquor and to get drunk.

Heads of families:

Nínnå\(\chi\)kyayo (Bear-chief), m. w. Etsóyinokå\(\chi\)komi (Howls-like-an-elk-in-the-water), Blood Indian woman. Chief of this clan.

Kyáyeputa (Bear-flying), m. w. a woman belonging to the All-medicine-men.

Tsáni (John), g. n. John Big-lake, m. w. Nátokesumyàke (Two-times-waylay-woman), Buffalo-chips.

Akáinam $\alpha \chi$ ka (Many-guns), m. w. Óm $\alpha \chi$ katayàke (Big-tigerwoman), Black-patch-people.

Ómαχksikeisòmä (Big-moon), m. w. Nisámunistαχsi (Long-time-calf), Black-patch-people.

The Small-robes.

These people were called Small-robes because they always wore small robes. They were too lazy to tan their robes fully, so they cut them to small pieces.

Heads of families:

Nátsikαραχpakùyesuyi (Double-blaze), m. w. Natoyíksiskstαki (Medicine-beaver), Camp-in-a-bunch-people.

Péta (Eagle), wife Blood Indian woman.

Apyómita (White-dog), m. w. Soyáksini (In-water-hog), Northern Peigan Indian woman.

Mímmeksi (West-point-bank), m.w. Káy $\S\chi$ kyòpi (Her-head-towards-dry-meat), Bloods.

Nesótskinaa (Four-horns), m. w. Ikakótsenáke (Short-Gros-ventre-woman), Bloods [The Gros-ventres are called Atsénauaa (Legging-chiefs)].

Pétautokàne (Eagle-head), m. w. Etsímmake (Needy-woman), Blood Indian woman.

Méksikàuaa (Red-feet), m. w. Aní (Annie), Black-patch-people.

The All-chiefs.

They were called so because they do not have a certain chief, like other peoples, but all like to be chief. They are not active. They also like to fight and quarrel with each other. Their wives like drinking whiskey and are not very honest. They enjoy themselves having intercourse with other men besides their husbands. This people is not very kind and friendly.

Heads of families:

Pétaikixtsìpimi (Spotted-eagle), m. w. Páyotâ χ kota (Hand-it-to), Bloods.

Étskinàyi (Horn), m. w. Matsóake (Good-looking-woman), Fatmelters.

Stæmiksátose (Medicine-bull), m. w. Etséka (Sore-back), Buffalo-chips.

Etsúyåxkumi (Howls-in-the-water), m. w. Myánistsìnamayàke (All-different-gun-woman), same clan.

Motúina (Chief-all-over), m. w. Enáksiniskimmi (Small-buffalo-rock), Camp-in-a-bunch-people. Chief of this clan.

Otsikóå zsoyis (Calf-tail), m. w. Ayó zketsinamayake (Different-gun-woman), Bloods.

Ómaxksinistàmmi (Lodge-pole), m. w. Sekí (Greasy), same clan. Netaxkina (Show-chief), m. w. Tóto (nickname for "louse"), Bloods. Asenáikoan (Cree), m. w. Ákinis (Agnes), Black-patch-people.

Ekotsésinopa (Red-fox), m. w. Matsóomòtsta (Fine-massacre), Northern Peigan Indian woman.

Ekotsótokani (Red-head), m. w. Nátokyauayàke (Two-strike-woman), Camp-in-a-bunch-people.

Akáukæmæni (Many-begs-for), m. w. Sapapístatsàke (Spear-woman), Small-robes.

Asoyátsima (Side-bag), m. w. Nátxkotsikamosáke (Double-stealswoman), Bloods.

Anátsanæm (Pretty-face), m. w. Koni (Snow), Bloods.

Potáχkuyi (Make-fly), m. w. Tsóni (Julia), Blach-patch people.

† Nátokeszpapistàtsis (Two-spears), m. w. Natoyíkana (Medicinelight), same clan.

Enápitsi (Marrow-bone), m.w. Potsínni (Hold-each-other), same clan. Manáisto (New-crow), m.w. Otáikimàke (Brass-woman), Campin-a-bunch-people.

[Cf. Uhlenbeck, Geslachts- en Persoonsnamen der Peigans, loc. cit.]

Some Clans of the Bloods, Canada.

The Fish-eaters (Mamyáuyeks).

Mékesto (Red-crow), m. w. $A\chi$ kuyinimàke (Pipe-woman), Southern Peigan woman.

Akáumazkstaukyotase (Many-mules), m. w. Nánatoyèpiksi (Medicine-strikes) and Maistó (Crow), both belonging to the same clan.

Akáutase (Has-many-horses), m.w. Netásinni (Lone-praise), Southern Peigan woman. Chief of this clan in 1910.

Apósæki (White-back-fat), m. w. Kíxtsipimyàke (Spotted-woman), Southern Peigan woman.

Unistáxsei (Calf-robe), m. w. Myánistsekskimmake (Different-iron-woman), same clan.

Sikúnski (Black-forehead), m. w. a Southern Peigan woman.

Enókixkini (Destroyed-head).

Maistóisayi (Crazy-crow), m. w. Sipiómotstake (Night-massacrewoman), same clan.

Makáisto (Short-crow), m. w. Netásaipiake (Lone-chased-woman), Shabby-coats.

Aist $\alpha \chi$ kúmi (Shoots-close-by), m. w. $A \chi$ kúyinimàke (Pipe-woman), Bite-throats-people.

Ásotàua (Shot-from-both-sides).

Akáukitsi (Many-fingers).

Tseséna (Bob-tail-chief).

The Lone-fighters.

Pétasiksinàm (Black-eagle).

Maistúimauansùyi (Crow-burned-west).

Natoánixke (Medicine-sings), m. w. Makápipeiksáke (Bad-bird-woman), same clan.

Kyáyakàyemmi (Many-bears).

Apésomαχkàni (Running-wolf), m.w. Sapαpístatsàke (Spear-woman), Southern Peigan woman. Chief of this clan in 1910.

Moksénepoka (Sewing-awl-soft-child).

Stamiksáuotáni (Bull-shield).

Imitáitsitapèi (Dog-lone-person).

Káistoki (Crop-ear).

Stáokìnä (Ghost-breast), m. w. Istsímiski (Chubby-face), Southern Peigan woman.

Apinákuyisìstsi (To-morrow-bird), m. w. Netsítake (Lone-woman), Shabby-coats.

Máka (Shorty[?]).

Ékaini (Died-already).

Kyáyenìksi (Angry-bear).

Saxsápikxko (Sarsi-scabby-bank).

Unistäna (Calf-chief).

Síkssapi (Black-looks), m. w. Natoyíkimàni (Medicine-puts-feather [-on-head]), Southern Peigan woman.

Matsinyáuyi (Tongue-eater).

Páksspitoa (Got-shot-in-his-head-from-afar).

The Bite-throats-people (Putstakeks).

Istoźni (Knife).

Ekámotstso (Straight-went), m. w. Pokínisomàake (Pipe-plant-woman), same clan.

Saấxkinnä (Geese-necklace).

Námoasita (Cut-mane).

Pétαχkyàyo (Eagle-bear).

Ómαχkòtsimyotake (Takes-big-sorrel), m. w. Myánistaipistsàke (Different-rag-woman), same clan.

Apinákuyisipisto (To-morrow-owl).

Ékaskinä (Low-horn). Chief of this clan in 1911.

Kseuauákase (Spider), m. w. Ksikáuotani (White-shield), Fisheaters.

Ponixtsápanikapi (Dying-young-man) [according to S. this man was nicknamed by the whites "Biscuits" because the Blood Indians were not able to translate his name into English].

Natáyotokàni (Tiger-head).

Nínasaukixkìnä (Chief-prairie-head).

Akótake (Many-here-woman).

The Shabby-coats (Esóisokasimeks).

Sóatseayèstse (Carries-tail-feather [-on-back]).

Ótskoisipisto (Blue-owl).

Kάtayixkètoa (Never-baked [-bread]).

Sipésipistà \(\chi\)kumi (Night-owl-howls).

Emoyistamik (Hairy-bull).

Sikóχkotoki (Black-rock [this means: coal]).

Mαká (Shorty [?]).

Sákoapå \(\chi\)kumi (Last-howlings-about).

A'χssimaki (Good-stabs).

Imitáukos (Dog-child).

Kαpixtúno (Scabby-cherry-bush).

Makúyapi (Wolf-old-man).

Siksápekoàni (Black-white-man [= negro]).

Émαχkayepàpisàmmi (Swan-howls).

Ixkitópyauakimàyi (Horse-back-chase-after [-buffalo]).

Ékaisåχkumi (Squirrel-howls).

Ápåχsuyis (Weasel-tail), m. w. Ístsìmmake (Shabby-woman), Southern Peigan (Buffalo-chips) woman.

Satóxts (Across-the[-mountains]).

Sépistuisaxkumapi (Owl-boy).

Sépänixki (Night-singing).

Some English names in Peigan.

Peter: Péta, Pétauaa (Eagle).

Michel: Misää, Misääuaa (Hard-geese).

Baptiste: Matseis, Matseisaa (Fine-leggings).

John and Charlie: Tsáni, Tsániuaa.

Mike: Máiki, Máikeua.

Louis: Noyéua, Noyéuaa.

Rosie: Noséua, Noséuaa.

Nancy: Nánisoa, Nánisoyimaa (Eight).

Isidore: Nísito, Nísitoaa (Five).

Joe: Tsó, Tsóaa.

Kipp: Kípa, Kípaa.

Jim: Tséma, Tsémeuaa.

George: Tsáuts, Tsáutseuaa.

Maggie: Máikeua, Máikeuaa.

Arthur: Áseua, Áseuaa.

Eli: Ína, Ínauaa.

Seville: Sipiá, Sipiáuaa. Willie: Wíni, Wíneuaa. Alex: Anik, Anikaa.

Some nicknames.

Joe Tatsey: Istxkyáxtso (Holds-his-head-down-Joe).

Joe Caton: Inyókakinyå xtso (Long-back-Joe).

Joe Evans: Amistsitsikinya \u03c4tso (Opposite-shoe-Joe).

Joe Mc Knight: Sαχkskyúχtso (Short-face-Joe).

Joe Bull-Shoe: Stámiksetsikinyåxtso (Bull-shoe-Joe).

John Croff: Innáyisoxtsani (Long-buttock-John[?]).

Charlie Symons: Simépitså xtsani (Drinker-Charlie).

Charles Conway: Soxkítsoxtsàni (Big-belly-Charlie).

Charlie Buck: Å \(\chi \text{kok} \(\alpha \text{kinàpiks} \) \(\alpha \text{tsani (Bucking-Charlie)}. \)

John Polite: Matźpyauakstsòχtsani (Ambler-John) [all his horses are amblers].

John Morgan: Makápaxtsani (Bad-John).

ALPHABETICAL INDEX 1).

Р.
Across the [-mountains], a Blood Indian 129
After-buffalo, a Peigan
Agnes, wife of Cree
Aims-back, a Peigan
All-chiefs, a clan of the Peigans
All-different-gun-woman, wife of Howls-in-the-water 126
Angry-bear, a Blood Indian
Annie, wife of Red-feet
Antilopes dancing
Antler, see Elk-antler(s).
Anus, the Old Man's, called by him "bright eye" 10
Anus, the Old Man's, watching his roasted gophers and after-
wards scorched by him as a punishment for negligence. 10 sq.
Anus, the Old Man's, pulled out by him, dragged through
the snow to make bloody tracks and hung up on a branch 27
Anus, the Old Man's, caused to fart by old women who
chew it
Arrow, brass-pointed, kills a buffalo
Arrow used as a dog-meat fork
Arrows, magical
Arrows consisting of dried guts
Arrows promised to boys by the Old Man
Arrows stuck in the ground in a row as a means used by a
father to catch his boys
Arrows used in brushing robes
Arrows used in reviving somebody
Arrow-sticking-game
Action sticking game.

9*

¹⁾ N.B. In this index "Peigan(s)" means "Southern Peigan(s)". Women whose tribe is not mentioned belong to the Southern Peigans.

P.
Ashes-chief, Stuck-behind-chief's brother 40 sqq.
Assiniboin-Indian, a name
Bad-bird-woman, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Medicine-sings 127
Bad-looking-face-young-man, a Peigan 122
Ball-player, a woman who kills people, killed by Clot-of-Blood 79
Bear reviving a dead cub by magic
Bear throwing away her cubs 102 sq.
Bears acting like human beings
Bears kept by way of dogs
Bears robbing the people of their food, killed by Clot-of-Blood. 78
Bear-chief, a Peigan
Bear-cubs, spared by Clot-of-blood
Bear-flying, a Peigan
Beavers making a dam by magic
Beavers pitying a young man 86 sqq.
Beavers raising boys
Beaver-dance
Beaver-dance-outfit
Beaver-dance-songs
Beaver-rolls, see Beaver-dance-outfit.
Beaver-stick
Beaver-woman, wife of Three-sun
Belly of a woman used by a man without legs to put meat
on and cut open by him 39 sq.
Belly-fat, formerly called Stuck-behind-chief, a boy with super-
natural power, who becomes a great man among his tribe
38, 48 sqq.
Belly-fat, pieces of, thrown around by the Old Man during
a fraudulent magical act
Berries used as food
Big-beaver, a Peigan
Big-crow, a Peigan
Big-knife, a Peigan
Big-lake, John, a Peigan
Big-moon, a Peigan 125
Big-nose, surname of Louis, son of Rider-crane 116
Big-nose, surname of Three-sun
Big-skunk-man, a Peigan
S
Big-teat, a Peigan
,

	Ρ.
Big-wolf-medicine, a Peigan	122
Birches stopping the Old Man, who is blown away by the	
wind	12
Birches, why they look as if there were notches in them	12
Bird sitting on a branch, wounded by an arrow and getting	
higher and higher	sq.
Bird-rattler, a Peigan	119
Biscuits, nickname given by the whites to Dying-young-man,	
a Blood Indian	128
Bite, a Peigan	122
Bite-throats-people, a clan of the Blood Indians	128
Black-blanket-woman, wife of Iron-eater	124
	119
Black-eagle, a Blood Indian	127
Black-face-man, a Peigan	119
Black-face-woman, wife of Medicine-boss-ribs	121
Black-forehead, a Blood Indian	127
Black-fox killed by a poor boy, but stolen by a cheat	49
Black-good-looks-woman, wife of Heavy-gun	121
Black-horse-rider, a Peigan, son of Chief-mountain (Mountain-	
chief), called Walter Mountain-chief 1, 3 sq., 76, 112,	120
Black-looks, a Blood Indian	128
Black-patch-people, a clan of the Peigans	122
Black-rock, a Blood Indian	129
Black-snake, wife of Three-guns	123
Black-spot-back-woman, wife of Owl-top-feather	121
Black-weasel, a Peigan	119
Black-white-man, a Blood Indian	129
Blood, a clot of, becomes a child by being cooked	76
Blood Indians	sqq.
Bloods, a clan of the Peigans 120	
Blue-owl, a Blood Indian	
Bob-cat eating the Old Man's gophers and afterwards punished 11	
Bob-cat, its penis-hairs pulled out by the Old Man	12
Bob-cat, its tail pulled out by the Old Man	12
Bob-tail-chief, a Blood Indian	127
Boiling water used to bring a dead woman back to life 42	
Boy becomes a baby again by crying	47
Boy killed by the Old Man, who has turned into a buf-	ند دور
falo-calf	75
Boy living with eagles in their nest	sqq.

	Ρ.
Boys recognizing their father by tasting him 42, 4	16
Brass-woman, wife of Marrow-bone	
Breast-chief, one of the young men who turned into the	
Seven Stars	q.
Brings-back, wife of Good-gun (Jim No-chief) 11	19
Brockie, surname given by the whites to Tail-feather-coming-	
over-the-hill	21
Brown-calf, wife of Eddy Running-crane	22
Browning	17
Buffalo marrying a woman	q.
	94
Buffalo-body, see Buffalo-grown.	
Buffalo-calf telling his father, who is a man, how he may be	
recognized when dancing by	q.
Buffalo-charm	
Buffalo-chips, a clan of the Peigans	23
Buffalo-cow marrying a man	q.
Buffalo-grown, a Peigan, called Buffalo-body 15	21
	94
Buffalo-head drowning an old woman who wants to be car-	
ried across a river	84
Buffalo-hide, a Peigan	19
	19
	20
Bull-chief, a Peigan	22
Bull-plume, Daniel, see Bull-boy.	
	27
Bullberries reflected in the water, taken for real ones	$\tilde{5}$
Bullberries thrashed by the Old Man	6
Bunched Stars	sq.
Burning fire-stick used to hit with 54,	58
Burning the ground with magical leggings	9
Bushes-up, wife of Big-crow	22
Cadotte, Peter, see Thick-ass.	
Calf-chief, a Blood Indian	28
Calf-looking, a Peigan	23
Calf-ribs, Barney, see Meet-together.	
Calf-robe, a Blood Indian 1:	27
Calf-robe, a Peigan	24
Calf-sitting, a Peigan 1	24
	26

	P.
Coyote fooling the Old Man when he is blind, but seized by	
him and deprived of his eyes	sq.
Crazy-crow, a Blood Indian	127
Cree, a Peigan	126
Cree Indians	112
Crop-ear, a Blood Indian	128
Crow, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Many-mules	127
Crow Indians 89 sq.,	110
Crow-arrow, Belly-fat's enemy	sqq.
Crow-burned-west, a Blood Indian	127
Crow-Indian, a name	111
Curly, name of a dog 84	l sq.
Cut-mane, a Blood Indian	128
Cuts-it-with-his-own, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Young-	
man-chief	122
Dances 6, 29 sq., 55 sqq., 71, 79, 86, 88 sqq., 101, 108	sqq.
Dandy Jim, nickname of Good-gun (Jim No-chief)	119
Daughters neglecting their old parents and killed by their	
adoptive brother	77
Day-rider, a Peigan	124
Day-rider, a Peigan, nephew of Mountain-chief	112
Day-steals-woman, daughter of Mountain-chief	112
Death, its origin	29
Depend-on, a Peigan, son of Little-plume	116
Destroyed-head, a Blood Indian	127
Died-already, a Blood Indian	128
Different-cut-woman, wife of Little-plume	116
Different-gun-woman, wife of Calf-tail	126
Different-iron-woman, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Calf-robe.	127
Different-rag-woman, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Takes-	
big-sorrel	128
Disappearance of a boy in trying to get a bird, sitting on a	
branch, and wounded by an arrow 40	
Dived-out-woman, wife of Looking-for-smoke	119
Doctoring, see Medicine-men.	
Dog helps old woman to save deserted children	84
Dog-child, a Blood Indian	129
Dog-lone-person, a Blood Indian	127
Double-blaze, a Peigan	125
Double-owl-woman, a Flathead Indian woman, wife of Old-	
man abiof	199

D-11-11- D:	P.
Double-rider, a Peigan	120
Double-steals-woman, wife of Far-robe	123
Double-steals-woman, wife of Side-bag	126
Dreams	sqq.
Dress thrown away to detain pursuing buffaloes	94
Ducks, see Geese.	7.00
Dying-young-man, a Blood Indian	128
Eagle, a Peigan	125
Eagle-bear, a Blood Indian	128
Eagle-child, a Peigan	119
Eagle-head, a Peigan	125
Eating-grease, a Peigan	123
Elk, pregnant, spared by the Old Man	13
Elk fooled and killed by the Old Man	13
Elks jumping down from a cliff with a fire-stick for fun	13
Elk-antler used as a sewing-awl	98
Elk-antlers used as a bow	73
Elk-antlers, why they are used as scaper-handles	74
Elk-head as a place for mice to have their dance in	6
Elk-head fooling an old woman to save children pursued by her	84
Elk-head, the Old Man putting his head into it	6
Elk-teeth promised to girls by the Old Man	27
Every-body-heard, a Peigan, grandson of Mountain-chief	113
Every-body-watched, a mixed-blood Peigan, son of Joseph	
Tatsey	115
Excrements of the child of the owner of a medicine-pipe are	
medicine-shells	83
Eye-juggling	sq.
Falls-inside, a Peigan	122
Far-robe, a Peigan	123
Fat-melters, a clan of the Peigans	sqq.
Father-in-law treated badly by hisson-in-law	sq.
Fine-chase-after, wife of Stretch-out (Barney Calf-ribs)	121
Fine-gun-woman, daughter of Rider-crane	116
Fine-killing, wife of Split-ears	119
Fine-leader-woman, wife of Owl-top-feather	121
Fine-massacre, a Northern Peigan woman, wife of Red-fox	126
Fine-massacre, wife of Big-wolf-medicine	122
Fine-massacre, wife of Calf-sitting	124
Fine-massacre, wife of Hold-each-other (John Kicking-woman.	120
Fine-massacre, wife of Thick-ass (Peter Cadotte)	121

Р.
First-snowstorm-woman, wife of Still-smoking
First-strike-woman, wife of Rider-crane
First-strikes, wife of Wolf-plume
Fish-eaters, a clan of the Blood Indians 127
Flat-side-head, son of Yellow-kidney, called Mike Yellow-kidney 118
Flathead Indians
Flew-down, son of Little-plume, called Louis Little-plume 116
Flight with obstacles thrown in the way of the pursuer 35 sq., 94
Flinter-smoker, a Peigan 124
Four arrows used in trying to revive a person 42
Four, by howling four times a coyote summons all the animals 14 sq.
Four men beating the drum during a grass-dance 109
Four nights dancing of buffaloes
Four people-killing beings killed by Clot-of-blood 79 sq.
Four sweat-lodges built for Round-cut-scabby-robe SS
Four sweat-lodges built for Scar-face
Four, the Old Man steals his brother-in-law's leggings four times 7 sq.
Four, the Old Man's anus makes noise four times
Four times asking for something 86 sq.
For times being forbidden to do something 87 sq.
Four times frightening buffalo-chips to transform them into buffalo 50
Four times praying to a snake 105 sq.
Four times using a pine-tree as an arrow
Four times warning a dead woman in order to revive her 42 sq.
Four wives obtained by Round-cut-scabby-robe 89 sqq.
Four-horns, a Peigan
Gambler, a Peigan
Gambling-wheel
Geese and ducks, a few of them spared by the Old Man 73
Geese and ducks fooled and eaten by the Old Man 72 sq.
Geese-necklace, a Blood Indian
Ghost
Ghost-breast, a Blood Indian
Girl killed by the Old Man, whom she had allowed to have
sexual intercourse with her as a payment for wiping her
blanket
Girl marrying a star 95 sqq.
Girl to be won by shooting a prairie-chicken and trapping a
black fox
Girls handling the Old Man's penis, taking it for a strawberry 23
Glass woman wife of Riggrams 199

ALPHABETICAL INDEX.

Good-gun, a Peigan, called Jim No-chief	P.
Good-looking-woman, wife of Horn	106
Good-looks-woman, wife of Hump-back	
	111
Good-stabs, a Blood Indian	129
	119
Gopher, pregnant, spared by the Old Man	119
Gophers burying each other in hot ashes, killed by the Old Man	10
Got-shot-in-his-head-from-afar, a Peigan	128
Grass-dance	
	sqq. 126
Greasy, wife of Lodge-pole	
Cute women wife of Followide	125
	122
Hair of a person is a means of reviving him 57	
	129
Control of the contro	119
Hairy-face, wife of Yellow-kidney	
Hairy-looks, a half-breed Peigan, called Oliver Sandoval	
Hand-it-to, wife of Spotted-eagle	
Has-killed-himself-woman, daughter of Mountain-chief	
Has-many-horses, a Blood Indian	
Has-nose-woman, wife of Red-star	123
Head-carrier, John, see Stretch-out.	~ 0
Heart of the Charmer, a monster, cut to pieces by Clot-of-blood	79
Heavy-gun, a Peigan	121
	120
	124
· · ·	125
	120
	sqq.
Holds-on-both-sides, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Strangle-	
	119
Holy Family Mission	4
Home-gun, a Peigan	123
Hoofs, necklace of,	22
Horn that may be taken off by the buffalo himself, and that	
sounds when his wife is talking with her former husband.	93
Horn, a Peigan	126
Horses given as a present	sq.
Horse-back-chase-after [-buffalo], a Blood Indian	129
	126

Р.
Howls-like-an-elk-in-the-water, a Blood Indian woman, wife of
Bear-chief
Howls-on-top, wife of Aims-back, daughter of Little-plume 116, 123
Hump-back, a Peigan
Hungry, Henry, see Root.
Hunting 27, 32, 37 sq., 40, 50, 59 sq. 69, 74, 76 sqq.
In-the-night-howls, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Big-beaver 124
In-water-hog, a Northern Peigan Indian woman, wife of
White-dog
Indian-pillow-woman, wife of Sparrow-hawk
Iron-eater, a Peigan
Iron-horn, a Sioux-Indian
Iron-necklace, a Peigan
Jim, a Peigan, son of Rider-crane
Josephine, daughter of Little-plume
Julia, wife of Make-fly
Kicking-woman, John, see Hold-each-other.
Killing a man by hammering an elk-antler into his ear while
he is sleeping
Killing enemies first started by Round-cut-scabby-robe 89 sq.
Kills-inside, wife of Iron-necklace
Kills-in-the-water, wife of Day-rider
Kit-fox accompanying the Old Man 15
Knife, a Blood Indian
Knife-case-woman, wife of Wades-in-water
Kootenai Indians
Kyaio, Tom, see Meat-eater.
Last-howlings-about, a Blood Indian
Lazy-boy, a Peigan
Leggings beaded by ants
Leggings, consisting of tough flesh
Leggings, magical, procuring deer, but, when used too often,
causing the ground to burn; stolen by the Old Man from
his brother-in-law
Legging-chiefs, Peigan name of the Gros-ventre Indians 125
Light-face, a Peigan
Little-dog, a Peigan
Little-mink, a Peigan, stepson of Rider-crane, called Sam
Scabby-robe
Little-plume, a Peigan
Little-plume James see Shot-down-both-the-horse-and-him

P.
Little-plume, Louis, see Flew-down.
Lodge-pole, a Peigan
Lodge-poles, why they are cut out of pine-trees
Lone-chased-woman, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Short-crow 127
Lone-eaters, a clan of the Peigans
Lone-fighters, a clan of the Blood Indians 127 sq.
Lone-fighters, a clan of the Peigans 121 sq.
Lone-praise, wife of Has-many-horses
Lone-woman, a Blood Indian woman, wife of To-morrow-bird 128
Lone-woman, wife of Light-face
Long-face, wife of New-breast
Long-time-calf, wife of Big-moon
Long-time-sleeping, a Peigan
Looking-for-smoke, a Peigan
Louis, a Peigan, son of Rider-crane
Louse, wife of Show-chief
Lousing
Low-horn, a Blood Indian
Magic, see Arrows, Bear, Beaver, Bird, Child, Children,
Closing the eyes, Dreams, Four, Gambling-wheel, Leggings,
Magical, Medicine-man, Old Man, Plume, Revival, Snow-
shoes, Spell, Transformation.
Magical corralling
Magpies sent out to seek the remains of a dead person by
means of which he may be revived 57 sq.
Make-fly, a Peigan
Makes-her-looks-like-woman, wife of Black-bull 119
Man dressed in fat etc
Man left on an island by his friend, who wants to have his
wives
Man using a charm that causes buffalo to fall down at each
side of him, imitated by the Old Man, who gets into
trouble
Man without legs using human bodies to eat from 39
Many-bears, a Blood Indian
Many-begs-for, a Peigan
Many-cuts-with, wife of Bull-chief
Many-fingers, a Blood Indian
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Many-guns, a Peigan, stepson of Rider-crane, called David Scabby-robe
DCaUDy-1006

	Ρ.
Many-here-woman, a Blood Indian woman	128
Many-kills, a name	
Many-massacration-man, a name	112
Many-massacration-woman, a name	112
Many-mules, a Blood Indian	
Many-pipes-woman, wife of Home-gun	123
Many-shots, see Tail-feather-coming-over-the-hill.	
Many-spots-woman, wife of Big-knife	124
Many-strikes, a name	
Marceau, Peter, see Pemmican	
Marriage, how it was instituted	
Marrow-bone, a Peigan	
Mary, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Owl-child	
Mary, daughter of Little-plume	
Mary, wife of Chew-black-bone	
Mary, wife of Gambler	
Mary, wife of No-coat	
Meat-eater, a half-breed Peigan, called Tom Kyaio	
Medicine-beaver, wife of Double-blaze	
Medicine-boss-ribs, a Peigan	
Medicine-bull, a Peigan	126
Medicine-light, wife of Two-spears	126
Medicine-man	sqq.
Medicine-pipe	83
Medicine-pipe-woman, wife of Big-teat	
Medicine-puts-feather [-on-head], wife of Black-looks	
Medicine-rattlers-running, wife of Eating-grease	
Medicine-sheep-woman, wife of Sit-up-again	
Medicine-shell, wife of Black-weasel[?]	
Medicine-sings, a Blood Indian	
Medicine-strikes, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Many-mules	
Meet-together, a Peigan, called Barney Calf-ribs	121
Men and women living in separate bands	31
Mice, dancing in an elk-head, imitated by the Old Man, who	
gets into trouble by it	6
Mice eating the elk-tongues of the Old Man	15
Mice gnawing off the hairs of the Old Man	6
Middle-rider, a Peigan	119
Milky Way	sqq.
Mink-woman, wife of Hairy-looks (Oliver Sandoval)	121
Missoula river	113

${\mathtt P}.$
Moccasins beaded by ants
Moccasins thrown away to detain pursuing buffaloes 94
Mole freeing the Sun, who has been trapped 104 sq.
Monster inhaling persons and killing them, killed by Clot-of-blood 79
Moon, wife of the Sun 80 sqq.
Morning-eagle, a Peigan
Morning-gun, Emma, wife of Shoots-ahead (John Old-chief). 120
Morning-star, son of the Sun and the Moon, befriending
Scar-face
Mother, see Youngest mother.
Mother-in-law, the Old Man's, having sexual intercourse
with him
Mountain-chief, Walter, see Black horse-rider.
Mountain-chief, see Chief-mountain.
Mud-head, see Smash-head.
Myths should be recorded in the vernacular 1 sq.
Names, English, in Peigan
Naming
Needy-woman, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Eagle-head . 125
Never-baked [-bread], a Blood Indian 129
New-breast, a Peigan
Nicknames, Peigan
Night-catches-woman, wife of Stretch-out (John Head-carrier) 121
Night-comes, a Peigan
Night-cuts-woman, wife of Black-face-man
Night-gun, John, see Takes-gun-at-night.
Night-hawks blowing a rock into pieces
Night-hawks, why they look as they do nowadays 17
Night-hawk-face, wife of Iron-eater
Night-massacre-woman, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Crazy-
crow
Night-owl-howls, a Blood Indian 129
Night-singing, a Blood Indian
No-bear, a Peigan, called Henry No-bear 122
No-bear, Henry, see No-bear.
No-chief, Jim, see Good-gun.
No-coat, a Peigan
Nose-cut-already-off, wife of After-buffalo
Not-laughers, a clan of the Peigans 124 sq.
Not-really-bear-woman, wife of Middle-rider
Nothing-buffalo-rock, wife of Heavy-runner

P.
Nothing-gun-woman, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Chief-mountain (Mountain-chief)
Old Man, the, and a woman agree that people shall die hence-
forth if a certain stone sinks in the water: the stone sinks
and the woman's child dies
Old Man, the, dives after bullberries and is nearly drowned 5 sq.
Old Man, the, finds women who play dead, examines their
vulvae, tries to take them with him, but they escape 18 sq.
Old Man, the, fools geese and ducks and kills them 72 sq.
Old Man, the, gives his robe to a rock, takes it back and
is pursued by the rock, which is blown into pieces by
night-hawks; the Old Man stretches out their young ones'
mouths and the old ones spoil his robe 15 sqq.
Old Man, the, imitates a man who makes buffaloes fall down
by magic, but uses forbidden words, is trampled and turns
into a buffalo-calf, is taken home by an old woman and
kills her grandson
Old Man, the, imitates boys who use elk-antlers as a bow
and a pine-tree as an arrow, but breaks the spell by doing
it too often
Old Man, the, imitates children who cause pieces of fat to
come out of the ice, but breaks the spell by doing it too
often
Old Man, the, imitates spring-birds that are juggling with
their eyes, loses his eyes by doing it too often, robs a coyote
of its eyes
Old Man, the, imitates wolves that cause things to come out
of the ice, does it on the wrong river, whereupon the wol-
ves go up to the sky with the other river 29 sqq.
Old Man, the, kills a girl by having sexual intercourse with
her, exchanges penes with a spring-bird but is found out,
pretends to doctor the girl and makes two old men and
two old women kill each other, is pursued, flies to old
women whom he makes believe that he is about dying, goes
out hunting and hangs his anus up on a branch after having
dragged it through the snow to make bloody tracks, orders
the old women to fetch the beef, cooks their babies, is
pursued and flies into a hole, comes out of it transformed
and pretends to have killed the Old Man in the hole,
smokes the old women to death after they have gone into
the hele

P.
Old Man, the, kills elks by making them jump down on a
hard place, is robbed of them by a coyote, with which he
runs a race
Old Man, the, orders a musk-rat to carry his penis across
the river to a sleeping beaver: the musk-rat purposely puts
it into a thorn-bush
Old Man, the, pretends to go to the war with his mother-
in-law and has sexual intercourse with her 20 sq.
Old Man, the, puts his head into an elk-skull and is robbed
of his hair by mice
Old Man, the, refuses the leader of the women, who wants
to marry him, is therefore selected by none of the other
women and turns into a pine-tree
Old man, the, roasts gophers, is robbed of them by a bob-
cat while sleeping on though his anus keeps making noise,
wipes his anus with a fire-stick, maltreats the bob-cat, is
blown away by the wind and stopped by birches, which
he punishes by cutting notches in them 10 sqq.
Old Man, the, steals his brother-in-law's leggings four times,
receives them as a present and causes the ground to burn
by neglecting his brother-in-law's advice regarding their use 7 sqq.
Old Man, the, sticks his penis out of the ground among strawberries: girls bite it and one of them sits down on it 23
0
Old Man, the, swindles a person dressed and armed with
eatables out of everything
Old Man, the, while being blind, tries to prevent a woman
from running away by tying a necklace of hoofs round
her neck
Old-man-chief, a Peigan
Old-medicine-lodge, wife of Hairy-coat
Old men, two, stabbing each other by order of the Old Man,
who pretends to be doctoring
Old woman killing children and cooking them
Old woman killing people by smoking 43 sq.
Old woman saving deserted children
Old women clubbing each other by order of the Old Man
who pretends to be doctoring
Old women having pity on the Old Man, who flies into their
lodge when pursued
Old women keeping bears by way of dogs
Old women making the Old Man's anus fart by chewing it 27 sq.
Verhand, der Kon. Akad, v. Wetensch, (Nieuwe Reeks) Dl. XIV. Nº. 4.

	Ρ.
Old women smoked to death by the Old Man	28
Old women's dresses burned	75
Old-chief, a Peigan	120
Old-chief, John, see Shoots-ahead.	
Old-coyote, a Peigan	124
Old-rock, a Peigan	123
	120
	124
	129
	121
	121
Paint, consisting of mashed meat	72
Paint thrown away to detain a pursuing woman's head	36
	122
	109
Parents, having deserted and disowned their children, are	
killed by their own boy	85
Pembrance, Louis, a half-breed Peigan	1
	121
Penis, the Old Man's, dangerously big 24	sq.
Penis, the Old Man's, exchanged for a spring-bird's	25
Penis, the Old Man's, put across the river into a thorn-bush	
by a musk-rat	sq.
Penis, the Old Man's, at a girl's request shortened by means	
of a cross-string	24
Penis, the Old Man's, stuck out of the ground by him and	
taken for a strawberry by girls	23
Penis-hairs mentioned in a song of mice, dancing in an elk-	
skull	6
Penis-hairs of a bob-cat used by the Old Man as whiskers	12
Pine-tree used as an arrow	73
Pine-trees, why they are used as lodge-poles	73
Pipe of peace smoked by the Old Man with geese and ducks	73
Pipe-plant-woman, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Straight-	
went	128
	127
Pipe-woman, wife of After-buffalo	123
	127
Plume, magical	44
Poor boy becomes a man of importance by his supernatural	
power	saa.

P.
Poor boy despised by a girl on account of his ugliness beco-
mes beautiful and scorns the girl, who now wants to be
his wife
Poor young man, pitied by beavers, becomes a chief 86 sqq.
Prairie-chicken shot by a poor boy and claimed by a cheat to
have been shot by himself
Praying to a snake in order to become a medicine-man . 105 sq.
Praying to insects
Pretty-face, a Peigan
Quills, thrown away to detain a pursuing woman's head 35
Quiver, consisting of buffalo-bowels
Rag-woman, wife of Bird-rattler
Rag-woman, wife of Bull-calf
Rattle-snake, a Peigan who got supernatural power from a
snake
Rattle-snakes bestowing supernatural power on a man who
prays to them
Recognizing one's father by tasting him 42, 46
Red-crow, a Blood Indian
Red-feet, a Peigan
Red-fox, a Peigan
Red-head, a man who killed his wives and was killed himself
by a young man, turned into a woman 97 sqq.
Red-head, a Peigan
Red-plume, a Peigan
Red-scar, a buffalo who married a woman 92 sqq.
Red-star, a Peigan
Reevis, Charles, see Rider-crane.
Revival by magic
Rider-crane, adoptive son of Three-sun, called Charles Reevis 116
River-people-woman, a Cree Indian woman, wife of Root 119
Robe, consisting of fat
Rock receives a robe as a present from the Old Man, pur-
sues him when he takes it back, but is blown into pieces
by night-hawks
Roosters dancing
Rose, Maggie, wife of Pemmican
beavers
Running-crane, Eddy, a Peigan
remaining ordino, industry in a conguint and a constant and a cons

	Ρ.
Running-fisher, a Peigan	118
Running-owl, a Peigan	117
Running-wolf, a Blood Indian	
Sacrifice to the Sun	
Sandoval, Oliver, see Hairy-looks.	
Sarsi-scabby-bank, a Blood Indian	128
Scabby-cherry-bush, a Blood Indian	
Scabby-man, a Peigan, son of Rider-crane	
Scabby-robe, David, see Many-guns.	
Scabby-robe, Joe, a Peigan, stepson of Rider-crane	116
Scabby-robe, Sam, see Little-mink.	
Scalping	100
Scar on the face a cause of being rejected by a girl 80	sqq.
Scar-face	sqq.
Scraper thrown away to detain a pursuing woman's head	35
Scraper-handles, why they are cut out of elk-antlers	74
Seven Stars	sqq.
Sewing-awl-soft-child, a Blood Indian	
Shabby-coats, a clan of the Blood Indians	
Shabby-woman, wife of Weasel-tail	
Shadow, wife of Lazy-boy	
Shady-face, wife of Hairy-looks (Oliver Sandoval)	
Shield-woman, wife of Buffalo-body (Buffalo-grown)	
Shoes, consisting of beef-steak	
Shoots-ahead, a Peigan, called John Old-chief	
Shoots-close-by, a Blood Indian	
Short-crow, a Blood Indian	
Short-Gros-ventre-woman, wife of Four-horns	
Short-woman, wife of Bad-looking-face-young-man	
Short-woman, wife of Calf-robe	
Shorty, a Blood Indian	
Shorty, a Blood Indian	129
Shot-down-both-the-horse-and-him, a Peigan, called James Little-	
plume	sqq.
Shot-from-both-sides, a Blood Indian	127
Show-chief, a Peigan	126
Side-bag, a Peigan	126
Sioux Indians	112
Sioux-Indian, a name	111
Sit-up-again, a Peigan	124
Skunks, a clan of the Peigans	123

Skunk-woman, wife of Tail-feathers
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Small-fox-howl-woman, wife of Little-mink (Sam Scabby-robe) 116
Small-robes, a clan of the Peigans
Smash-head, a Peigan, called Mud-head
Smelling the fire in a lodge causes death
Smoking
Snake bestowing supernatural power on a man 105 sqq.
Snake, female, spared by Clot-of-blood
Snake having sexual intercourse with a woman
Snakes robbing the people of their food, killed by Clot-of-
blood
Snakes, see Rattle-snakes.
Snake Indians
Snake-Indian, a name
Snake-Indian-woman, wife of Tail-feather-coming-over-the-hill
(Brockie)
Snow, wife of Pretty-face
Snow-shoes, magical
Son-in-law starves his parents-in-law and is killed by their adop-
tive son
Songs 6, 26, 71, 74, 82, 88 sqq., 101 sqq., 107, 109 sq., 114
Sore-back, wife of Medicine-bull
Sparrow-hawk, a Peigan
Spear-woman, wife of Many-begs-for
Spear-woman, wife of Running-wolf
Spell broken by looking
Spider, a Blood Indian
Split-ears, a Peigan
Spotted-bear, Margaret, wife of Yellow-owl
Spotted-eagle, a Peigan
Spotted-forehead, a Blood Indian woman, former wife of Black-
horse-rider (Walter Mountain-chief)
Spotted-kills, wife of Heel
Spotted-woman, wife of Buffalo-hide 119
Spotted-woman, wife of White-back-fat
Spring-birds juggling with their eyes, imitated by the Old
Man, who loses his eyes by it 21 sq.
Squirrel-howls, a Blood Indian
Stabbing-him-with-his-own-knife-woman, a name 111
Stabs-by-mistake, a Peigan

Р.
Star, a certain prairie-weed, the child of a woman and a star 97
Star marrying a girl
Steals-in-the-daytime-woman, wife of Stabs-by-mistake 123
Still-smoking, a Peigan
Straight-went, a Blood Indian
Strangle-wolf, a Peigan
Stretch-out, a Peigan, called John Head-carrier 121
Strikes-first-woman, wife of Calf-robe
Strikes-on-top-woman, wife of Morning-eagle
Strikes-on-top-woman, wife of Painted-wing 122
Stuck-behind-chief, afterwards called Belly-fat 40 sqq.
Sun, husband of the Moon, father of the Morning-star . 80 sqq.
Sun trapped
Swan-howls, a Blood Indian
Sweat-lodges
Swinging-woman, killing people by causing them to fall into
the water, killed by Clot-of-blood
Taboo transgressed 8 sq., 20 sqq., 30 sq., 38 sqq., 43 sqq.,
54 sqq., 71, 73 sq., 87 sq.
Tail-feather-coming-over-the-hill, a Peigan, nicknamed by the
Indians Many-shots, by the whites Brockie 120 sq.
Tail-feathers, a Peigan
Takes-a-gun, a name
Takes-big-sorrel, a Blood Indian
Takes-gun, a Peigan
Takes-gun-at-night, a Peigan
Takes-gun-woman, a name
Takes-gun-woman, wife of Three-calf
Tatsey, Joseph, a mixed-blood Peigan 4, 113
Teasing old women by burning their dresses
Thick-ass, a half-breed Peigan, called Peter Cadotte 121
Three-calf, a Peigan
Three-guns, a Peigan
Three-sun, a Peigan
Tiger-head, a Blood Indian
To-morrow-bird, a Blood Indian
To-morrow-owl, a Blood Indian
To-morrow-woman, wife of Old-chief
Tongue-eater, a Blood Indian
Transformation of a man into a buffalo, then into a sparrow-
howk and finally heak into a buffelo

	Ρ.
Transformation of a man into a rabbit, then into a grizzly-bear	
and finally into a rattle-snake	107
Transformation of a man into a stick	41
Transformation of a white stone into a white calf	50
Transformation of a wolverine into a woman 59	sq.
Transformation of a young man into a bug	34
Transformation of a young man into a woman and back into	
a young man	101
Transformation of boys into stars	38
Transformation of buffalo-chips into buffaloes	50
Transformation of snow into cherries	51
Transformation of the Old Man into a buffalo-calf	74
Transformation of the Old Man into a pine-tree	32
Transformation of the Old Man into somebody else	28
Transformation of young men into stars	
Trapping	104
Travoys	75
Two-spears, a Peigan	126
Two-strike-woman, wife of Red-head	
	125
Uhlenbeck, C. C. 1 sqq., 6 sq., 12, 15, 18, 23, 28, 31 sq.,	
37 sq., 52, 59 sq., 72 sqq., 80, 82, 85, 91, 95, 101,	20
115, 126.	
Under-beaver, wife of Flinter-smoker	124
Under-swims, a Peigan	
	121
Wakes-up-last, a Peigan	117
Walking-back-to, wife of Wolverine	
Walking-in-water, wife of Little-dog	122
War-dance	101
Was-astray, a Northern Peigan woman, wife of Double-rider	
Waylaying buffaloes	76
Weasel-fat, a Peigan	123
Weasel-tail, a Blood Indian.	129
Weasel-went-to, wife of Calf-looking	123
West-point-bank, a Peigan	125
Whistle used as a means of compelling a girl to love a per-	0.0
son whom she has scorned	82
White-back-fat, a Blood Indian	127
White-dog, a Peigan	125
White-shield, a Blood Indian woman, wife of Spider	128

Р.
Wife killed by her husband for having sexual intercourse with
a snake
Wife killed by her husband from jalousy 95
Willows, red, branches of them used to make a plate 10
Wind blowing away the Old Man
Wind ordered to blow hard by the Old Man 12
Wives obtained in exchange for scalps and weapons of the
enemies
Wolves acting like human beings
Wolves causing things to come out of the ice by dancing on it 29 sq.
Wolf-old-man, a Blood Indian
Wolf-plume, a Peigan
Wolf-road, see Milky Way.
Wolverine, a Peigan
Wolverine taking the shape of a woman 59 sq.
Wolverine woman turning her face away while eating 59
Wolverine-skin used as bracelets
Woman brought back to life by magic 42 sq.
Woman deliberating with the Old Man whether or not people
will die henceforth
Woman having sexual intercourse with a snake
Woman intending to ornament a hide with her brothers' scalps 34
Woman killed by a man without legs 40
Woman killing people by making them swing and then caus-
ing them to fall into the water, killed by Clot-of-blood 80
Woman killing people, playing at ball, killed by Clot-of-blood 79
Woman killing people, throwing them down on a knife, killed
by Clot-of-blood
Woman, see Girl(s), Wife, Wives.
Woman who could only be killed by burning 66
Women imitating their lovers in their way of dressing, while
dancing
Women playing dead to fool the Old Man 18 sq.
Women selecting husbands
Woman's head pursuing her brothers
Woman's head scraping a hide'
Woman-body, wife of Takes-gun
Wrestler, a woman who killed people, killed by Clot-of-blood 79
Yellow-kidney, Mike, see Flat-side-head.
Yellow-kidney, a Peigan, nephew of Little-plume 118
Yellow-squirrel, wife of Takes-gun-atnight (John Night-gun) 119

ALPHABETICAL INDEX.

		Ρ.
Young man living with beavers	86	sqq.
Young man paralyzed after shooting a ghost		102
Young man poisoned by eating the flesh of a mysteri-	ous	
animal		sq.
Young man stuck fast on the back of a turtle		108
Young-man-chief, a Peigan		122
Youngest daughter feeding her parents, who are starved	by	
her husband and neglected by her elder sisters		77
Youngest mother offered by a girl to the Old Man as a paym	ent	
for wiping her blanket		24

ADDENDA ET CORRIGENDA.

- The character à' has exactly the same meaning as å.
- P. 9, l. 6. A full stop should be put after nitákoχtsitoχkuixtsèemokùveaua.
- P. 31, l. 14 from beneath. Read: Then (instead of: (Then)).
- P. 35, l. 15 from beneath. Read: Stάmoχkαnauαnetâχpeeästs (instead of: Stámoχkαnauαnetaχpeeästs.
- P. 37, l. 10 from beneath. Read: etsenåyeyaua (instead of: etsenåyeyaua).
- P. 40, l. 5 from beneath. A full stop should be put after lodge.
- P. 41, l. 4. Read: stómat- (instead of: stómat).
- P. 41, l. 15. Read: Óχpsests (instead of: Oχpsests).
- P. 49, l. 6 from beneath. Read: mátapistotækeua (instead of: mátapistotækeua).
- P. 70, l. 10. Read: åχkotaitsema (instead of: åχkotaitsema).
- P. 74, l. 7. Read: with (instead of: wtih).
- P. 78, l. 12 from beneath. Read: leisure (instead of: leasure).
- P. 80, l. 6 from beneath. Read: Sun (instead of: sun).
- P. 82, 1. 8. Read: Sun (instead of: sun).
- P. 83, l. 3. Read: who (instead of: which).
- P. 84, I. 9, 11 from beneath. Read: Sun (instead of sun).
- P. 85, l. 15. Read: meantime (instead of: meantine).
- P. 89, l. 14, 4 from beneath. Read: who (instead of: which).
- P. 91, l. 17 from beneath. A colon should be put before which.
- P. 91, l. 12, 2 from beneath. Read: who (instead of: which).
- P. 93, l. 17. Read: who (instead of: which).
- P. 96, l. 17. Read: who (instead of: which).
- P. 96, l. 4 from beneath. Read: who (instead of: which).
- P. 105, l. 11 from beneath. Read: doctoring (instead of: doctoring).